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This Annual Report is our way of being accountable to you.  

It sets out what we have achieved in the last year and looks at the 

progress we have made in providing the sort of city that you have 

told us is important to you.

This Annual Report compares our achievements and progress 

to what was planned to be achieved in our Annual Plan 2008/09, 

which was part of our City Plan 2006-16. The City Plan is our 

comprehensive business plan and the council’s key strategic 

document. It outlines the council’s policies and work programmes 

and the associated financial implications. The council has recently 

adopted its new City Plan for the next 15 years. 

Under the Local Government Act all councils are required to 

produce an Annual Report and for certain information to be audited, 

such as the financial statements. The audit has been completed 

successfully by Audit New Zealand and their audit opinion can  

be found on page 54. 

Welcome to the North Shore 
City Council’s Annual Report 
for 2008/09



City Facts

·  Fourth largest city in New Zealand by 
population, making up fi ve per cent 
of the total population in the country

·  Covers an area of 13,000 hectares
·  The population numbered 

approximately 223,000 residents at 
30 June 2008, an increase of 2,800 
people since June 2007

·  There are currently approximately 
80,000 dwellings in the city

·  Annual budget is in excess of $350m 
and total assets are in excess of 
$4 billion.

Our People

Ethnicity
·  There is a mix of ethnicities, cultures 

and languages in North Shore City
·  Over 67 per cent of people belong 

to the European ethnic group, 
compared with 67.6 per cent for 
New Zealand as a whole

·  An increasing number of other 
ethnicities including Korean, South 
African and Chinese live in the city

·  About one in 15 people identify as 
being Maori (Maori is their sole ethnic 
group or Maori is one of several 
ethnic groups).

Birthplace
·  41 per cent of people were born 

overseas, compared with 23 per 
cent for New Zealand as a whole

·  For people born overseas who 
are now living in North Shore City,
the most common birthplace was 
England. 

Languages
·  Korean is the second most common 

spoken language after English, and 
is spoken by four per cent of our 
community 

·  75 per cent of people speak 
only one language, compared with 
almost 81 per cent of people for 
all of New Zealand

·  18 per cent of Maori speak the 
Maori language.

Age
·   The median age is 35.9 years

·   11 per cent of people are aged 
65 years or older

·   20 per cent of people are aged 
under 15 years. 

Our Community

Employment
·  66 per cent of residents are 

employed

·  The unemployment rate is 
consistently lower compared 
to the national average.

Household
·  One-family households make up 73 

per cent of all households, compared 
to 69 per cent of all households in 
New Zealand

·  13,530 people (19 per cent) live in 
one-person households 

·  The average household size is 2.8 
people, compared with an average 
of 2.7 people for all of New Zealand.

Home ownership
·  55 per cent of households own the 

dwelling they live in, with or without 
a mortgage, which is consistent with 
the national average.

Community and social networks
·  67 per cent of residents feel that 

it is important to feel a sense of 
community with people in the local 
neighbourhood

·  Only 51 per cent of residents feel a 
sense of community with others in 
their local neighbourhood

·  86 per cent of residents are satisfi ed 
with their life in general

·  99 per cent of residents say they 
have someone to turn to for help if 
they are faced with a serious illness 
or injury, or need emotional support 
during a diffi cult time.

Crime and safety
·  96 per cent of residents feel safe in 

their homes after dark, compared 
to 94 per cent nationally

·  70 per cent of residents feel safe 
in their neighbourhood after dark, 
compared to 62 per cent nationally.

Education
·  69 per cent of North Shore schools 

have a high decile rating (Decile 8, 
9 or 10) and about 81 per cent of 
students attend these schools

·  47 per cent of people aged 15 
years or older have a post-school 
qualifi cation, compared with 
40 per cent of people throughout 
New Zealand.

Our City Vision

Source: Statistics New Zealand, Quality of Life 2008, Ministry of Education.
Note: Percentages have been rounded.

Our city is prosperous, dynamic 
and diverse, and 
• offers a range of quality lifestyles; 
•  has an abundance of education and 

employment opportunities; 
•  has an abundance of leisure, entertainment 

and cultural opportunities; 
• is easy to move around; 
• is safe; 
• values and protects our environment.
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New Zealand
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Northcote

Takapuna
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Browns 
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Map of North Shore City

Council funded assets
6 Area offi ces
5 Arts centres
1 Bruce Mason Centre
1 Civil Defence
11 Community centres and houses
14 Community halls

5 Leisure centres
7 Libraries
1 North Harbour Stadium
2 Visitor information centres
3 Pools
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How the Annual 
Report fits into our 
planning processes

Community outcomes
What the community values now and  
wants in the future.

City Plan
A forward-thinking plan with a 15-year 
outlook that sets out the future direction 
and costs of running the kind of city the 
community wants.

Annual Plan
Sets out how much we will spend, what the 
rates will be for the year ahead and our work 
programme for the 12-month period from  
1 July to 30 June.

State of the City Report
A three-yearly monitoring report that tracks 
the progress that is being made on achieving 
the community outcomes. 

Annual Report
Sets out what we achieved in the past  
year and looks at the progress we made  
in a number of important areas.

Community Outcomes

City Plan

Annual Plan

State of the City Report

Annual Report

so
cial, e

conomic, environmental, cultural well-being of our community

Key

  Community vision 
  Agenda for change and implementation 
  Implementation plan 
  Monitoring
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Introduction  
This part is an overview of our 
year. It includes the Mayor and 
chief executive’s messages 
and is backed up by summary 
information of our achievements 
in financial management 
and service performance. 
The auditor’s report and the 
statement of compliance and 
responsibility are also included 
in this section.

Activity statements  
This part explains the activities that the 
council is engaged in and reports on 
achievements and progress in delivering 
these services to the community over the 
last year. It details the costs and resources 
applied to these activities. Comparisons to 
the Annual Plan 2008/09 are included.

Financial statements  
This module presents detailed 
financial statements and 
accounting policies for the 
council and the group. The 
financial statements provide 
information about the council’s 
assets, liabilities, income and 
expenditure. Details of capital 
investment in infrastructure is 
also included.

Appendices  
This section has some extra 
information that may be of interest to 
the reader in relation to associated 
organisations, methods of reporting 
and global reporting initiative.
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Creating 37 hectares 
of new parkland on the 
historic Chelsea Estate 
for everyone to enjoy. 



PART 1 Introduction

North Shore City boasts a lifestyle 
and environment that set it apart. 
Its warm climate, beautiful 
beaches and spectacular scenery 
contribute to its growing 
popularity as a great place in 
which to live, work, play and 
invest. A stable and educated 
workforce make it a prime 
location for commercial and 
industrial development. The city 
also has a vibrant arts and culture 
scene with a range of high quality 
venues and facilities.

Highlights

·  Successful completion of the external audit. 

·  The council’s financial position is sound with 
assets valued at $4.4 billion and liabilities of 
$0.4 billion. 

·  Over $550m in new capital investment on 
infrastructure over the last five years.

·  Acquired over 100 hectares of new parkland 
over last five years.

·  There are significant changes ahead for 
Auckland governance.

This section 

Message from the Mayor 8
Message from the Chief Executive 12
City Well-being Report 16
Financial Overview 23
Service Performance Overview 34 
Governance Report 40 
Staff Management Report  46 
Corporate Sustainability Report 50 
Statement of Compliance and Responsibility 53 
Audit Report 54
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It’s been a challenging year in which we’ve 
experienced significant progress in many areas 
while being mindful of the economic climate, 
the needs and expectations of our community, 
and changes being made to local government 
in Auckland. We’ve been actively consulting 
with the community to ensure that your views 
and requirements are put forward. This has 
been particularly evident in our submissions on 
Auckland Governance and in preparing the City 
Plan 2009-2024, which sets out the key priorities 
and costs for the city over the next 15 years.

Auckland governance changes

Significant change is afoot with the recent 
government decision to make major changes to 
the structure of local government in Auckland. 
By 1 November next year, Auckland’s seven city 
and district councils and the Auckland Regional 
Council will have been replaced by one Auckland 
Council. There will also be a second tier of local 
boards or community councils. 

We are working closely with the different parties 
involved to ensure that North Shore’s views are 
properly represented as the new structure is 
developed. 

Our main focus is on strong local political 
representation, especially at the second tier level. 
We also want all councillors on the new Auckland 
Council to be elected by wards and continued 
public ownership of public assets such as water 
supply. Among other measures, we have 
presented a submission to the Select Committee 
on Auckland Governance highlighting this 
council’s and our community’s concerns about a 
number of provisions in the Auckland Council Bill 
(which provides for the governance structure for 
the proposed new Auckland Council). 

We hope that our recommendations are 
addressed to help ensure that the new structure 
continues to provide the high quality services that 
North Shore residents and ratepayers expect.

Focusing on our communities

Looking after our communities has 
been a key focus. We are committed 
to funding community groups and 
volunteers that provide vital support 
to the community and have therefore 
significantly increased our community 
grants programme to ensure that this 
sector is well looked after. 

The long-awaited Birkenhead Library which will 
be completed later this year has been one of the 
council’s highest priorities. Bringing an essential 
community and civic focal point back to the 
area, the building will house the library along with 
other essential community services including 
the local community board, Citizens Advice 
Bureau, Plunket and community co-ordinator. 
The building will be built to Green Star NZ status, 
which is New Zealand’s first comprehensive 
environmental rating system for buildings. And 
as part of our commitment to environmentally 
sustainable design, the building will use energy 
efficient technology and use of natural lighting 
where possible.

Work to improve Albany Civic Crescent and 
the nearby lakes is complete. It offers people 
a picturesque, accessible area near the 
shopping centre in which to relax and enjoy. The 
attractive design and features should encourage 
development that is more sympathetic to the 
lakes, and it starts to give Albany a real heart. 

We are extremely proud of our city’s heritage 
and for the first time have developed a strategy 
to make it easier to identify and protect all our 
historic heritage resources for current and  
future generations.

Other community wins include the Pak‘nSave 
supermarket in Wairau Park and the new Albany 
Senior High School. After 15 years of legal 

Message from  
the Mayor

It’s been a great year for sports, 
events, art and culture. We’ve 
excelled at putting our best foot 
forward regardless of age, ethnicity 
or mobility. North Shore City is 
fortunate to have so many talented, 
inspired people in a diverse range 
of activities. 
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wrangling, the Pak‘nSave was finally given the 
go ahead. This is a major boost for the Wairau 
Valley, benefiting both residents and businesses. 
Part of a wider regeneration project, it rejuvenates 
the area and will encourage interest from other 
businesses. 

The Albany Senior High School was also given a 
green light. We worked closely with all the parties 
to resolve any issues and are delighted that the 
school will now open in 2010. It will have a hugely 
positive impact on the area and adds to the  
city’s increasing number of high quality 
educational facilities.

Promoting a healthy environment

Highly regarded for its relaxed lifestyle, attractive 
natural environment and extensive coastline, 
North Shore City continues to attract residents, 
businesses, sportsmen and visitors alike. Quality 
of life and safety rated highly for North Shore 
residents in the 2008 Quality of Life Survey, with 
over 92 per cent of residents rating their quality of 
life as good or extremely good. 

The council is proud of what the city 
offers and encourages programmes that 
promote a healthy, active lifestyle. 

We‘ve created more cycleways and walkways in 
the city to allow for alternative forms of travel to 
the car as well as for recreational activity. 

We’ve also listened to community feedback 
about cycling and walking initiatives and are 
putting a strong focus on safety. 

The opening of Chelsea Estate Heritage 
Park in Birkenhead earlier this year was 
an historical milestone.

Over 15,000 people converged on the area to 
celebrate. The acquisition of this 37 hectare park, 
and other coastal land purchases, is part of our 
ongoing commitment to recreation and protecting 
the city’s natural environment.

Making progress in key areas

Work on the Rosedale Wastewater Tunnel and 
Outfall, the single largest project ever undertaken 
on the North Shore, is going to plan. This is 
evident in terms of activity you may see out 
on the water but there’s also a large tunnelling 
machine chewing its way under the Rosedale 
and Mairangi Bay area. 

The $116m tunnel and outfall project will take 
highly treated effluent from the city’s wastewater 
treatment plant, 2.8km out to sea into the 
Rangitoto Channel. The new outfall is designed 
to cope with the future needs of our growing city 
and will be completed by the end of 2010.

Better transport links and road improvements 
to improve safety have also been high on the 
council’s list of priorities. 

We’ve seen major improvements to key roads 
including Lake Road, Glenfield Road and Forrest 
Hill Road. Work has been completed on some of 
these main roads or is well under way. 

We’ve completed the roll out of additional transit 
lanes on arterial routes, making it easier for buses 
and high occupancy vehicles to get to their 
destinations quicker. 

Walking school bus

Celebrating North Shore 
City’s 101st Walking 
School Bus route with a 
101 Dalmatians themed 
celebratory walk and prize 
draw at Birkenhead’s 
Chelsea Primary School. 
Lucky winner, Scott 
Greenough is pictured 
receiving his prize from 
Mayor Andrew Williams.

Golf tournament

Rising golf star, Jack Green, 
8, joined the Mayor, the 
Korean Society of New 
Zealand and more than 60 
participants in this year’s 
Mayoral golf tournament 
raising $19,000 for North 
Shore youth initiatives.

North Shore City Council 9



The Northern Busway is becoming more popular 
and we are continually looking at ways to make 
the busway more accessible. This includes the 
move to enable airport shuttle buses, intercity 
and other bus operators to use the route, as 
well as securing the best options possible for 
passengers.

Planning ahead

The economic situation both nationally and 
globally is still taking its toll. Costs of products 
and services are rising and consumers are 
continuing to tighten their purse strings. 

The council recognises this and the need to 
deliver best value while meeting our community’s 
needs. Over the last year we have been keeping 
a close eye on what we spend and how. 

We have carefully reviewed our operating 
expenditure to ensure we are spending money 
appropriately and on the right things. 

The council has also put a lot of effort into 
preparing a 15-year plan for the city, the only city 
in the country to do so. We consulted widely on 
the draft plan earlier this year; making a number 
of changes to address people’s views before 
the final City Plan 2009-2024 was adopted in 
June 2009. The plan focuses on progressing 
key priorities, while keeping the city’s finances 
in good shape. It is a real challenge to deliver 

services and improvements to our community 
and keep rates increases to an affordable level, 
particularly during troubled economic times 
which are impacting ratepayers and businesses 
throughout the city.

We were able to significantly reduce the rates 
increases from the previous plan prepared three 
years ago, while still maintaining substantial 
ongoing investment in the city’s infrastructure. 
The average rates rise is 5.2 per cent in  
2009/10, well below the previous forecasts of  
8 per cent. The plan also includes investment of 
$1.7 billion in new capital projects and $0.9 billion 
on renewing infrastructure over the 15-year 
period of the plan. We know that the new 
Auckland Council will need to review this plan at 
some stage but are sure that the effort put into 
consulting with our community on the City Plan 
2009-2024 will assist with future planning for  
the wider city.

Chelsea Park Open Day 
horse and carriage

Over 15,000 people joined 
in the fun to celebrate  
the opening of the 37  
hectare Chelsea Estate 
Heritage Park.

Annual Report 2008/0910
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FIFA U-17 Women’s Football 
World Cup

Korea take on and beat the 
USA at the finals of the FIFA 
U-17 Women’s Football 
World Cup 2008 held at 
North Shore City’s North 
Harbour Stadium.

Putting our best foot forward

It’s been a great year for sports, events, art and 
culture. We’ve excelled at putting our best foot 
forward regardless of age, ethnicity or mobility. 
North Shore City is fortunate to have so many 
talented, inspired people in a diverse range of 
activities. The city offers a range of high quality 
venues and facilities that cater across the board 
and people are taking advantage of this. 

The year saw the city host a number 
of international and national sporting 
events including the FIFA U-17 Women’s 
Football World Cup, as well as an array 
of cultural, arts, theatre and music 
events. 

We honoured our local Olympic heroes with a 
parade around the city, enabling school children 
and the community to welcome them back and 
celebrate their achievements. And we’re elated 
that the city has been chosen to host three Rugby 
World Cup matches in 2011 and hosted many 
of the 2009 FIBA U19 Men’s Basketball World 
Championship matches this year. 

Thanks

I would like to thank councillors, community 
board members and council staff for all their 

hard work over the year. I would also like to 
thank the North Shore community, businesses, 
organisations and volunteer groups who 
contribute to making North Shore City the diverse 
and dynamic city that it is.

A lot of time and effort has been put into 
Auckland Governance over the last year and I 
would particularly like to thank the many people, 
iwi and other groups that have contributed 
to this process by taking part in community 
meetings and putting forward submissions to 
the Royal Commission and to the Parliamentary 
Select Committee in support of this council’s 
submissions. Meeting our community’s growing 
needs and expectations is paramount. The 
Auckland region is undergoing changes to its 
governance structure but we will continue to 
deliver high quality services and facilities to the 
North Shore community for the benefit of current 
and future generations.

 
 
 
 
Andrew Williams, JP 
Mayor

North Shore City Council 11



Our priorities have remained constant despite 
the many changes and challenges we have 
encountered over the past year. I am extremely 
proud of what the organisation has achieved 
during a year in which worldwide recession; a 
fl u pandemic and the start of a major change 
to the shape of local government in Auckland 
all took centre stage. All of this could not have 
been done without the dedication and hard 
work of the amazing team of people we have 
at the council. The focus has continued to be 
on better transport, parks, and clean beaches, 
while providing the best possible service to the 
people of North Shore City. And we have had 
tremendous success in many areas.

Making travel safer and easier

Supporting more effective public 
transport and infl uencing travel 
behaviour is paying off with more people 
opting for different modes of transport.

The Northern Express, which uses the Northern 
Busway, carried about 1.5 million passengers 
over the last fi nancial year to June 2009, that’s 
55.7 per cent more passengers than the year 
before. We’ve resealed or renewed over 47km
of road surfaces, 10km of footpaths and 5km

of kerb, making it safer and easier for vehicles 
and pedestrians to get around.

Improvements along many key roads around 
the city continue, while emergency works due to 
landslips, and work to enable the opening of the 
Wairau Pak‘nSave have been completed.

North Shore City recently celebrated its 101st 
walking school bus. This initiative sees around 
500 volunteer parents safely escorting over 
1,200 children daily to and from school. It not 
only promotes a more active, healthy lifestyle 
but also helps to reduce vehicle congestion on 
roads at peak times. We also run programmes 
for safe, active and sustainable travel choices for 
schools, businesses, staff and our community. 
These include cycle safety and driver behaviour 
campaigns including a “slow down” campaign in 
conjunction with ACC (Accident Compensation 
Corporation) and the NZ Police to reduce 
speeding. Six billboards were placed in hotspots 
around the city. Speed counts taken before 
and during the two-month campaign showed 
signifi cant speed reductions at all sites with one 
recording a 42 per cent decrease in speed over 
the campaign period. What’s more North Shore 
City is the safest city in New Zealand on which 
to use roads with the lowest death and serious 
injury rate based on population.

Caring for our environment

Our continued commitment to Project CARE, 
to be completed in 2021, has kept the 
focus on improving stream and beach water 
quality through wastewater and stormwater 
programmes. Upgrades to the Rosedale 
Wastewater Treatment Plant were completed
and progress to the $116m Rosedale 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Tunnel and Outfall 
to be completed by mid 2010 is on track. We 
have been able to lift development constraints 
in the Birkdale area with completion of Stage A 
of the $17m Birkdale sewer upgrade to reduce 
wastewater overfl ows. High customer satisfaction 
rates and good response times to service 
requests show that we are delivering high levels 
of service to our residents and businesses for 
water-related services.

Participation in environmental programmes has 
increased tremendously. In the past year, 46,505 
North Shore residents took part in council-
supported environmental programmes. That’s 
one in fi ve of the city’s population and about 
double the number of participants since 2005. 
Programmes include home composting courses, 
tree-planting days, stream restoration projects 
and a range of school-based environmental 
programmes that are designed to raise 
awareness about water usage, waste reduction 
and environmental issues. 

Message from 
the Chief Executive

I am extremely proud of what the 
organisation has achieved during a 
year in which worldwide recession 
and the start of a major change to 
the shape of local government in 
Auckland took centre stage. 
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Rosedale Wastewater  
Tunnel and Outfall

Railtracks and other 
equipment in place to 
support and carry the 
tunnel boring machine that 
will burrow the route to 
take highly treated effluent 
from the city’s wastewater 
treatment plant 2.6km to the 
coast, and then 2.8km out 
into deeper water.

There are 32 Enviroschools in North Shore City 
out of a total of 72 schools. That’s 42 per cent 
of North Shore schools actively carrying out a 
range of activities to minimise their impact on 
the environment. We’re also leaders in New 
Zealand for erosion and sediment controls on 
small developments with the majority of sites 
complying to ensure a positive impact on the 
surrounding environment. Community planting 
days have also proved highly popular. Six were 
held in 2008/09, attracting over 450 participants 
and enabling 5,800 native plants to be planted. 
And our “naturally smarter” garden display, 
showcasing home-grown and native planting 
took second prize at the North Shore Home and 
Garden Show.

Our Graffiti Prevention Project has led to a 
significant reduction in graffiti across the city. 
There was a 12 per cent reduction in service 
requests in 2008 compared to 2007, and the 
figures for 2009 are even lower. 

We’re also walking the talk with many staff taking 
up on our TravelWise to Work programme and 
opting to use alternative modes of transport to 
the car to get to and from work. 

Initiatives to reduce waste and save 
energy across the council have resulted 
in substantial savings. 

As part of the world’s largest climate change 
initiative, the council was an official partner 
city in this year’s Earth Hour. By encouraging 
businesses and residents to switch off all non-
essential lighting, we helped reduce the Auckland 
region’s electricity consumption by about eight 
per cent. We’ve also created an action plan 
to further address our response to climate 

change that includes our approach to urban 
development, as well as our highly successful 
corporate and environmental sustainability plans 
and initiatives. 

Working for our community

Community facilities and services are continually 
being improved to meet the growing demands of 
the communities we serve. 

The new playground at Kennedy Park, which 
reflects the history of the site, provides a variety 
of exciting play opportunities for children. It 
includes a space net, rock climbing wall and 
spinning activities such as a super nova and 
spinning cups. The toddler’s play area has a sand 
pit in which kids can dig for buried fossils. The 
hydroslides at Glenfield Leisure Centre have been 
refurbished and the Schopolo Reserve walkway 
which runs along Te Wharau Creek was opened. 
It provides a pleasant recreational walk as well as 
a walking school bus route.

All our libraries now have WiFi so that customers 
can easily connect to the internet using their 
own laptop. This will also be available in the 
new Birkenhead Library which is due to open in 
2009/10. A joint venture with Rodney District and 
Waitakere City councils is digitising the library’s 
historic photos so about 1,000 North Shore 
photos are available online, about 20 per cent 
of the collection. In another joint venture with 
Rodney District Council, we built a $3m animal 
shelter in Silverdale to provide a secure, long-
term and cost effective animal welfare centre. 

The city has a vibrant arts, sports and culture 
scene which we support through a variety of 
cultural events and initiatives. Celebrations for 
Matariki 2009, the Maori New Year, took place 

Home and Garden Show

Kate Jackson, environmental 
education coordinator, and 
our Naturally Smarter team 
worked with local community 
gardeners on this display 
garden at the North Shore 
Home and Garden Show to 
take second prize. Pictured 
from left to right: Geoff Tisch, 
Stephen Ferguson, Kate 
Jackson, Darren Millington, 
Linda Tisch and Dee 
Pigneguy. Photo courtesy 
of Stephen Ferguson.

North Shore City Council 13



across the city in June and July. Activities included art 
and craft exhibitions by local Maori artists, a traditional 
Maori Games day, Ki-o-rahi, organised by Sport North 
Harbour, and planting and flax weaving at the Chelsea 
Estate Heritage Park. ShoreSpace (www.shorespace.
org.nz), an interactive arts portal showcasing the 
talents and services of North Shore City’s progressive 
arts and creative industries community, was launched 
late last year. It’s the first portal of its kind in New 
Zealand to unite arts organisations in the local 
community and further afield, and enables people to 
find out everything there is to know about local arts 
centres, news, reviews, events and local artists. 

Our highly popular youth programme, In2it, involves fun 
and enjoyable activities such as beach cricket, slip n 
slide, the Amazing Race and Street Jam to encourage 
physical activity and help create healthy futures for our 
youth. We were also involved in setting up the North 
Harbour Sports Council aimed at bringing together 
the city’s sport and recreation sector to work with the 
regional sport’s trust Harbour Sport and the council on 
key issues and opportunities for sport and recreation.

Planning for the future

As part of our City Plan 2009-2024, we have 
adopted a revised Development Contributions Policy 
which enables us to obtain contributions to fund 
infrastructure required as a result of growth. Following 
a judicial review, we have worked through the issues 
and reached agreement with the developers who 
sought the review. The main changes include better 
definition around the timing and payment of assessing 
development contributions, and improving the 
methodology for allocating costs of capital works to 
support our growing and existing community. 

Despite the economic downturn, North Shore’s 
economy continues to grow with $226m of commercial 
consents out of a total of $461m of building consents 
being processed over the last financial year.

Our Long Bay Structure Plan aims to develop one of 
the country’s most advanced environmentally friendly 
subdivisions. The long legal battle over the future of 
an extensive piece of land to the west of the Long 
Bay Reserve is at an end following an interim decision 
released by the Environment Court last July. The main 
issue was over the intensity of development in the 
area, and the court’s decision comes somewhere 
between the level proposed by the council and by the 
developers. We are now working with the land owners 
on the final detail of the plan. The council has also 
agreed to provide $5m to fund a campaign to buy a 
piece of land near the Long Bay Regional Park. This is 
conditional on the Long Bay-Okura Great Park Society 
forming a trust which would negotiate with the land 
owner to raise the rest of the money. 

Leading through innovation

We are committed to finding new and 
innovative ways to work more efficiently and 
improve our services to customers.

Our Eureka programme fosters a culture of innovation 
and encourages staff to be creative. By pushing the 
boundaries of what we do and how we do it, we 
have been able to build on the many ground-breaking 
programmes and systems already in place. 

Our award-winning GIS (graphical information 
system) viewer allows people to easily view property 
information, boundaries, contours, land values 
and other details. The GIS viewer now has better 
functionality, more intuitive browsing, a faster site and 
more reporting options, making it simple for people to 
use. And applying for building consents is now easier 
than ever – not only can applicants apply online but 
we’ll also process the consents electronically.

Community planting day

Over 60 volunteers joined 
council staff (pictured are 
Gerry Fitzgerald, Tracy 
Tristram and Marissa 
Oakley Browne) on the first 
community planting day of 
the year in May at Piripiri 
Park (formerly Long Bay 
Park). They planted 1,000 
New Zealand native plants 
within 1.5 hours, including 
Rewarewa, Puriri, Harakeke 
(NZ Flax) and Kowhai. The 
plants will help to protect the 
gully from erosion and also 
provide food for birds. 
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Financial results 

We have continued to carefully manage the city’s 
finances and assets. Our auditors gave us a 
clean audit opinion which was signed off at the 
end of August. The council’s financial position is 
sound with total assets valued at $4.4 billion and 
total liabilities of $0.4 billion. 

The total council debt at the end of the year 
was $327m which was $36m lower than that 
projected in the Annual Plan 2008/09. We 
invested a further $116m in new capital projects 
over the last year and $38m on renewing our 
assets which included investment in Wastewater 
of $79m, Transport $36m and Parks $16m. The 
council’s income for the year was $264m while 
operating expenditure was $278m. 

Our operating results were impacted 
unfavourably by an increase in the provision 
for weathertightness claims of $6m and a new 
requirement to refund $18m of development 
contributions following the lengthy judicial review 
process to resolve issues with our 2004 policy. 

Last year’s investments bring the total 
new capital investment in North Shore 
City’s infrastructure by the council over 
the past five years to over $550m, 
including acquisition of over 100 
hectares of new public parkland as well 
as major progress in transport and the 
three waters.

In what has been a tough year of recession, it is 
pleasing to see that we have been able to maintain 
the high quality service delivery we strive for as 
shown by the maintained satisfaction levels across 
all our activities. In particular, our environmental 
and community programmes continue to get 
strong support from the community.

Moving forward

While there is a lot of uncertainty around, change 
is on the horizon and we’re moving ahead with 
determination and energy. Our City Plan 2009-
2024 sets out the key priorities for the city over 
the next 15 years. It establishes what will be 
done, how much it will cost and how we will pay 
for everything. 

We will continue to provide the best possible 
service to our community over the coming year 
and want to ensure that the city is well positioned 
for the key role it will play from November 2010, 
when along with the seven other Auckland 
councils, it will be amalgamated into the new 
Auckland Council. We are working closely with 
all parties involved to ensure the transition is as 
smooth as possible and to make sure the best 
interests of the city, its community and our staff 
are addressed.

Thank you

I would again like to thank the dedicated, hard-
working team of staff we have at North Shore 
City Council. I would also like to thank our Mayor, 
Deputy Mayor, councillors, community board 
members, suppliers, service providers as well as 
the many volunteers and people who work so 
hard to make North Shore City a great place to 
live, work, play and invest.

Street Jam

Basketball players and fans 
turned out in force despite 
the weather for Street Jam, 
a three-on-three competition 
which coincided with the 
FIBA U19 Men’s Basketball 
World Championship. 

 
 
 
 
John Brockies 
Chief executive
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The council is committed to delivering high 
quality and efficient services to its community 
within a sustainable development framework that 
ensures the council ‘leads by example’ through 
the cooperation and delivery of its services. 
Underpinning this is good decision-making 
in consultation with the community and the 
promotion of the social, economic, environmental 
and cultural well-being of our community now 
and in the future.

North Shore City is a fast-growing, dynamic city 
and the council plays a key role in guiding the 
future direction and management of the city. 
A major influence on this and on sustainable 
outcomes is how well we plan and deliver for 
current and future generations on the following:

·  Long-term growth and development to meet 
the communities needs in areas of health, 
safety, education, training, housing, leisure 
 and community cohesion;

·  Protection and enhancement of our natural 
environment by protecting and enhancing our 
city’s ‘green and leafy’ character and natural 
beauty;

·  Preserving air, water quality and biodiversity;

·  Managing and minimising our stormwater, 
wastewater and other wastes;

·  Promotion of business development and 
economic growth to create sustainable 
employment;

·  Managing transport systems and increasing  
the use of alternative travel modes to the 
private vehicle;

·  Community capacity to plan and deliver 
services and facilities appropriate to the needs 
of those who choose to live, work and play  
in North Shore City; and

·  Investing in and promoting our city’s  
cultural diversity.

Progress to date:

The aim of the council is to work with the 
community and key organisations towards a 
‘sustainable’ North Shore and a city that is 
balanced from a social, economic, environmental 
and cultural perspective.

The city well-being table on the following page is 
a snapshot of progress at this time (it is not the 
three-yearly progress report against community 
outcomes). The community outcomes progress 
report (titled State of the City) contains more 
details on the progress and is available at North 
Shore libraries or on our website  
www.northshorecity.govt.nz.

City Well-being Report

North Shore City is a fast-growing, 
dynamic city and the council plays a 
key role in guiding the future direction 
and management of the city. 
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Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Economic well-being

Business  
and economy

·  Increase of 1,100 business geographical units since 2007, 
approximately a third of the region’s growth.

·  Retail trade is the biggest employer with over 16 per cent of 
employees in this industry. This is followed closely by property 
and business services with over 15 per cent of employees.

·  New building consents issued for residential dwellings 
declined by 52.8 per cent for the year ended May 2009. 

·  The value of new non-residential building consents for the 
year ended June 2009 was $132.2m, down 20.2 per cent 
compared to the same period last year.

·  Attracting science, 
education and technology 
industries to North Shore 
City.

·  Business-friendly 
regulatory environment.

City branding  
and identity

·  Over 500 public events held in the city this year, including 
highlights such as FIFA U-17 Women’s Football World Cup, 
FIBA U19 Men’s Basketball World Championship, Movies by 
Moonlight, North Shore City Heritage Festival and North Shore 
City Dragon Boat Festival.

·  Supporting the Youth Council, the Shore Youth website and 
youth democracy and advocacy projects.

·  Regulatory costs are 
making community event 
organisation challenging.

Employment ·  Over 88,870 jobs in 2008, an increase of 2,200 jobs 
since 2007. 

·  The region’s unemployment rate increased to 6.5 per cent in 
the March 2009 quarter compared to 4.7 per cent in the same 
quarter in 2008. Current national rate at 5.0 per cent.

·  Average weekly income has increased to $728 in 2008, up by 
$41 since 2007.

·  Approximately 82 per cent of the population feel that they 
are using their work skills, training and experience in their 
current jobs.

·  Attracting businesses that 
have job growth potential.

·  Competition from other 
business-growth areas in 
the Auckland Region.

Education  
and training

·  65.9 per cent of 0-4 year olds enrolled in licensed early 
childhood education services, the highest in the Auckland 
region.

·  75 per cent of schools have high decile rating (8,9 or 10).

·  One Kura Kaupapa Maori school in the city with 45 students.

·  56 per cent of school leavers qualified to attend university, 
the highest in the Auckland region.

·  44 per cent of residents have a degree or vocational training.

·  Low rates of stand-downs (14.8 per cent) and suspensions 
(2.6 per cent), compared to national average of 29.3 per cent 
and 6.6 per cent respectively.

·  1.6 per cent unjustified absences at North Shore schools, 
compared to 2.3 per cent nationally.

·  5.1 per cent of students leaving secondary schools with little or 
no formal attainment in 2006, a decrease of 1.1 per cent from 
2005, compared with a decrease of 1.8 per cent nationally.

·  Only 12.9 per cent of the population aged 15 years and older 
have no qualification, compared to 22.4 per cent nationally.

·  In 2008, there were 444 people who undertook modern day 
apprenticeships. This is an increase of 38 people since 2007.

·  Slowing growth in the 
international student 
market.

·  Highest number of uptake 
of continuous education.

·  Some overseas 
professionally trained 
migrants qualifications 
not recognised in New 
Zealand.

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress
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Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Economic well-being

Education  
and training

·  2,931 people undertook industry based training in 2008.  
This is an increase of 197 people since 2007.

·  123 secondary students in the city participated in the 
Gateway programme in 2008, an increase since 2007.

·  Four tertiary/vocational institutes:

  -  Massey University
  -  Auckland University of Technology (AUT)
  -  Unitec New Zealand
  -  The Southseas Film and Television School.

Social well-being

Health ·  89.2 per cent of residents rate their health positively.

·  Over one in four (26.7 per cent) residents are physically  
active every day. 

·  One in ten (10 per cent) residents are regularly experiencing 
stress that has a negative effect on them, slightly higher 
than the national average, which is one in twelve (7.7 per 
cent). However, North Shore residents feel that they are well 
supported, with 99.3 per cent saying that they have someone 
to turn to for help (the highest in the country).

·  Life expectancy for males is 81.6 per cent and females  
85.1 per cent, the highest in the Auckland region.

·  High accessibility to doctors, around 74 general practitioners 
per 100,000 people.

·  For the year ended December 2008, there were a total of  
2,965 live resident births compared with 2,885 for the previous 
year, a rise of 2.8 per cent. 

·  The city registered 4.5 per cent of all live resident births  
in New Zealand.

·  For the year ended December 2008, there were a total of  
1,187 resident deaths compared with 1,065 for the previous 
year, a fall of 11.5 per cent.

·  Catering for aging 
population/impact 
on health providers.

·  High cost of visiting GPs.

Housing ·  Total of 303 new dwelling units worth $134.4m were issued 
during the year ended June 2009. This represented a fall of  
55.2 per cent in number and a fall of 46.2 per cent in value 
from the previous year. 

·  As at May 2009, property prices as compared to previous 
year: 

  -  Coastal North Shore dropped by 7.5 per cent to $614,805 

  -  North Harbour dropped by 5.9 per cent to $606,852

  -  North Shore Onewa dropped by 8.7 per cent to $429,074.

·  54.8 per cent of households own their dwellings with or 
without a mortgage, compared with 54.5 per cent for New 
Zealand. 

·  15.5 per cent hold that dwelling in a family trust, compared  
with 12.3 per cent for New Zealand.

·  High housing costs  
and affordability.

·  Weathertightness issues.

·  Building design issues.

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress
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Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Social well-being

Housing ·  50 per cent of housing stock has a capital value between 
$300,000 and $500,000.

·  Relatively small low-cost rentable housing stock that  
is council or central government owned housing.

·  Average weekly rent paid is $312, compared to  
$278 in the Auckland region (Census 2006).

Safety ·  68.5 per cent of residents feel safe walking alone  
in their neighbourhood after dark, as compared to  
59 per cent across the region.

·  65.6 per cent of residents view dangerous driving as a 
problem within their area, as compared to approximately  
72 per cent across the region.

·  37.4 per cent of residents perceive the presence of 
unsafe people as a problem in their area, as compared to 
approximately 49 per cent across the region.

·  No drownings on North Shore beaches.

·  The summer of 2008/09 saw the successful provision of 
lifeguarding services on North Shore City beaches which 
saved two lives, treated 61 first aid injuries and intervened 
to prevent injury to over 15,000 members 
of the community.

·  Support for Police 
neighbourhood watch 
programme and other  
safety issues.

Crime ·  For year ending 2008, there were 13,670 total recorded 
offences in North Shore City, an increase of 1,130  
(9 per cent) cases since 2007. Out of these, only  
48.6 per cent of crime has been resolved.

·  Increase in recorded violence, sexual offence, drugs  
and antisocial, dishonesty and property damage. 
Decline in property abuse and administrative offence.

·  Resolved cases have dropped slightly to 48.6 per cent  
in 2008, from 49.6 per cent in 2007.

·  48 per cent of residents view vandalism as a problem  
and 43.2 per cent of residents view car theft or damage  
to cars as a problem within their area.

·  Inclusion of crime prevention 
through environmental 
design principles in the 
District Plan.

Community 
facilities

·  Over 1.5 million visits to local libraries and mobile library.

·  Six council funded leisure centres.

·  Community Facilities Fund consisting of approximately 
$895,000 to assist community groups who wish to 
develop key community facilities.

·  11.7 per cent of people are involved in voluntary work.

·  Buildings range in age and 
appropriateness. 

·  Health and safety 
regulations are increasing 
the workloads of not-for-
profits/organisations.

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress

North Shore City Council 19



Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Cultural well-being

Arts and 
culture

·  Other grants funding for arts and cultural projects or initiatives: 

  -  Creative Communities Funding which has funding rounds 
twice per annum; and

  -  Council Communities Grants which is annual. 

·  Supporting many events such as the Devonport Food and 
Wine Festival, NZ Sculpture OnShore, North Shore Body Art 
Awards, Matariki Festival, Auckland Festival of Photography 
and lots more.

·  One professional theatre (Bruce Mason Centre) and two 
community theatres (The PumpHouse Theatre and Rose 
Centre).

·  Three cinemas and seven public libraries.

·  Five community visual art centres and one sound recording, 
music and radio station.

·  Two marae.

·  Over 200 public art and cultural events held.

·  Over 60 public music events.

·  Sustainability in this 
sector is an issue 
with increased costs 
and requirements to 
meet health and safety 
legislation.

·  The changing 
demographics of North 
Shore City.

·  The changing ethnic mix 
of North Shore City.

People ·  223,000 people as at July 2008. 

·  Mix of ethnicities but predominately European (69 per cent).

·  Only 50.9 per cent of residents feel a sense of community with 
others in their local neighbourhood.

·  Only 57.3 per cent of residents feel that cultural diversity 
makes their area a better place to live.

·  12,519 Maori residents of which 17.9 per cent have Maori 
language proficiency.

·  Estimated net migration to the northern Auckland urban zone 
was 22,400 between 2001 and 2006 censuses, 27.6 per cent 
of total migration to the region.

·  Cultural and community 
celebration.

·  Collaboration and 
partnership with emerging 
cultures.

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress
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Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Cultural well-being

Heritage ·  In the District Plan there are 416 items listed as buildings, 
objects and places of heritage significance.  

·  There are 125 archaeological sites.

  -  Some of the places of significant heritage value are:
  -  Chelsea Sugar Refinery;
  -  Centennial Park;
  -  North Head;
  -  Lake Pupuke;
  -  Long Bay Regional Park; and
  -  Northcote Point.

·  The North Shore Historic Heritage Strategy, to be finalised by 
the end of 2009, establishes a platform for managing the city's 
historic heritage resources in a more effective, inclusive and 
integrated manner. 

·  A systematic approach 
to the identification and 
protection of the city's 
heritage resources.

·  Improving council and 
community access to 
high-quality information 
about the city's heritage 
resources.

·  Recognising and 
developing the role of 
heritage resources in 
enhancing community 
identity and creating 
cultural tourism 
opportunities.

Environmental well-being

Parks and 
open space

·  The council owns 1,756 ha of parkland, spread over  
517 individual parks. 

·  The open space network provides for a range of recreation 
facilities including 33 sportsfields, North Harbour Domain 
which houses the North Harbour Stadium, and 116 
playgrounds.

·  700 ha of ecologically important natural areas are protected 
within council-owned parkland, while parks also protect over 
1,000 ha of significant landscapes (i.e. volcanic cones and 
coastal areas).

·  92 per cent of residents find it easy to get to a local park  
or other green space in the city or local area.

·  The council has acquired significant reserves over the last 
few years including at Long Bay, Paremoremo, Albany and 
Chelsea.

·  Costs of acquiring new 
parkland and maintaining 
the current level of 
service.

·  Costs of developing 
facilities.

·  Weed infestation in 
natural habitats.

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress
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Community 
outcome Progress Evidence Issues / challenges

Environmental well-being

Natural 
environment

·  326 ecological sites, of these 153 are outstanding (over and 
above s6c RMA), 108 are significant (meet the requirements of 
s6c RMA) and 65 are links or wildlife corridors.

·   Public health water quality grading (water supply/drinking water) 
is ‘Aa’. This means completely satisfactory, extremely low level of 
risk and is the highest grading.

·  A number of hands-on environmental programmes available  
for residents such as Create your own Eden, HazMobile, Nature 
for Neighbourhoods, Pollution Prevention, Sustainable Living, 
TravelWise, Wai Care and WasteWise.

·  32 schools participating in Enviroschools programme, five  
more than in 2007.

·  Only 11.6 per cent of residents think that air pollution is a 
problem in the city or their local area. However, 40.2 per cent 
of residents think that water pollution is a problem, the second 
highest in the region. 

·  Preservation of natural 
environment under 
threat with urban 
development and 
intensification.

·  Air and water pollution 
increases with 
population growth.

·  Continuous effort 
from the residents on 
preservation of the 
natural environment.

Transport ·  Approximately 55 per cent of residents use public transport  
within the city, 68 per cent of users are satisfied with the overall 
public transport services.

·  89 per cent of users of the Northern Busway stations are  
satisfied with the overall busway station facilities.

·  Overall public transport patronage increased by 14.4 per cent 
to over 10 million passenger trips during 2008/09.

·  Two Park and Rides and three bus stations along the Northern 
Busway.

·  Stage 2 of the Busway is scheduled to be finished by mid 2009.

·  Ferries are also an important means of transport for thousands 
of our residents. There are five ferry wharves operating services 
across the Waitemata Harbour to the Auckland CBD.

·  North Shore City Council was the first council to pilot the 
TravelWise programme in New Zealand. 

·  Traffic congestion 
continues to be one of 
the biggest challenges 
facing the city.

·  Increasing support of 
public transport.

Built 
environment

·  42.2 per cent of residents think that rubbish or litter lying  
on the streets is a problem.

·  Only 58.7 per cent of residents think that graffiti or tagging  
is a problem in the city or local area, the lowest in the region with 
an average of 74 per cent.

·  The council has its own pollution prevention team that responds  
to pollution incidents 24-hours, seven days a week and also 
develops environmental education programmes.

·  48 per cent of rubbish diverted to landfill.

·  Collected approximately 25,000 tonnes of recyclables.

·  Pressure on clean 
environments from 
growth-related  
building activity.

Source: Census 2006, Statistics New Zealand, Quality of Life 2008, Ministry of Education, Quotable Value New Zealand May 2009

KEY: Good progress OK progress Poor progress
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This section provides an 
overview of the council and 
group’s financial results for 
the year ended 30 June 
2009. For further detailed 
information please refer to 
the following sections in 
this Annual Report: Part 2 – 
Activity Statements and Part 
3 – Financial Statements.

The group results consist of the following 
entities: North Shore City Council (the council), 
NSC Holdings Limited, Enterprise North Shore 
Trust, North Shore City Performing Arts Centre 
Management Board Trust and its subsidiary 
North Shore Promotions NZ Limited, North Shore 
Events Centre Trust Board, North Shore Domain 
and North Harbour Stadium Trust Board and 
North Shore Heritage Trust.

The financial statements are presented in New 
Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). Full details of 
the council’s accounting policies can be found 
in Part 3 - Financial Statements. These financial 
statements comply with NZ International Financial 
Reporting Standards and other applicable 
Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for 
public benefit entities. The information included in 
this report has been prepared in accordance with 
FRS43: Summary financial statements.

Financial Overview
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Council 
Actual  

2008/09 
$000

Council
Plan

2008/09
$000

Council
Actual

2007/08
$000

Group
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Group
Actual

2007/08
$000

Income

Rates revenue  197,150  196,930  185,784 197,032  185,723 

Other revenue  80,170  106,380  127,665  86,248  133,247 

Other gains/(losses)  (13,698)  788  (1,359)  (16,198)  1,641 

Total income  263,622  304,098  312,090  267,082  320,611 

Expenditure

Personnel costs  61,696  62,800  59,392  63,853  61,573 

Depreciation and amortisation expenditure  51,639  50,620  45,905  53,963  48,254 

Other expenses  127,356  118,421  121,295  128,785  122,950 

Finance costs  18,394  21,239  14,708  18,516  14,830 

Development contributions refunds  18,141  -  -  18,141  - 

Total operating expenditure  277,226  253,080  241,300  283,258  247,607 

Operating surplus before tax  (13,604)  51,018  70,790  (16,176)  73,004 

Income tax expense  -  -  -  227  306 

Surplus after tax  (13,604)  51,018  70,790  (16,403)  72,698 

Other comprehensive income

(Losses)/gains on property, plant and equipment  (71,212)  141,655  166,580  (71,212)  166,580 

Financial assets at fair value through equity  21,294  -  (1,147)  21,294  (1,147)

Total other comprehensive income for the year  (49,918)  141,655  165,433  (49,918)  165,433 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (63,522)  192,673  236,223  (66,321)  238,131 

Changes in equity at a glance

Opening balance  3,977,903  3,959,933  3,741,680  4,059,723  3,821,592 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (63,522)  192,673  236,223  (66,321)  238,131 

Closing balance  3,914,381  4,152,606  3,977,903  3,993,402  4,059,723 

Financial performance at a glance

The following section provides a summary of our 
comprehensive income for the 2008/09 and 2007/08 
financial periods. The following table details the revenue  

and expenditure of the council and the group, as well as 
other financial transactions that have impacted on the 
council and group’s net equity. The council’s financial 
performance is compared to the Annual Plan 2008/09.

The year end financial results for the council show a deficit 
of $13.6m compared to a planned surplus of $51m. The 
main items causing this are the development contributions 
refund provision of $18.1m, loss in fair value of derivatives 
$12.4m, an increase in the weathertightness provision of 
$6.4m, a decrease in income for capital projects of $17.9m 
and a decrease of $10m for vested assets.

The current economic environment has resulted in a 
decrease in property values. The loss of $71m on property, 

plant and equipment reflects the revaluation of assets at 
financial year end and relates mainly to parks reserve land 
and other land and buildings held by the council.

Income is lower than the previous financial year mainly due 
to the reduction in income for capital projects, as well as 
the items impacted by the economic recession such as 
development contributions income and vested assets.

Overall net equity at the end of the financial year is $3,914m 
which is $64m lower than the previous financial year end.

Stormwater 

Other Community Services 

Water Supply 
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The main source of income 
for the council in 2008/09 
is property and water rates 
which comprise 75 per cent 
of the total $264m income.

 Rates

 User charges

 Income for capital projects

 Water charges

 Operating grants and subsidies

 Other income

$177m

$29m

$25m

$21m

$10m

$1m

Council operating  
revenue 2008/09

This graph shows the main 
components of the council’s 
operating expenditure.

The graphs on the following page show the trends of 
income, expenditure and net surplus over the last five years. 
The major variable in income is the level of income received 
for capital projects. Each year the revenue level may vary 
depending on the type of projects that are being completed 
and the level of grants and subsidies available. In 2006/07 
and 2007/08 the Northern Busway was constructed and 
external funding was received for this. 

In 2008/09 there has been a decrease in development 
activity resulting in reduced income for development 
contributions and vested assets. Operating expenditure 
increases in 2008/09 include additional interest costs 
of $3.7m to fund rising debt from infrastructural asset 
investment, and $18.1m for development contributions 
policy refunds and an increase in the weathertightness 
provision of $6.4m.

  Libraries

  Economic Initiatives and Governance

 Transportation

  Environmental Management

  Wastewater

  Other 

Stormwater 

Other Community Services 

Water Supply 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  

$13m
$56m

$12m

$51m

$37m

$23m

Council operating  
expenditure 2008/09

$14m

$25m

$21m

$25m
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Capital expenditure

The following table shows how much was invested in 
purchasing, developing and renewing council assets. Over 
the last five years the council has invested over $550m in 
new capital projects in the city. New capital expenditure 
was lower than planned in 2008/09 mainly due to transport, 
wastewater, library and parks projects which were not 
completed in 2008/09 but are expected to be completed 
in 2009/10. Vested assets are received by the council from 
developers and are dependent on developers progressing 
work on subdivisions. There has been a sharp decline in 
activity over the last year resulting in $10m less vested 

assets received than was anticipated. The main sources 
of funding for capital expenditure are grants and subsidies 
received from agencies such as NZ Transport Agency 
and Auckland Regional Transport Authority, rates (mainly 
depreciation funding) and development contributions 
charged to developers for their share of costs associated 
with growth and borrowings. The delays in transport 
projects resulted in the capital programme being $25m 
underspent for the year compared to plan and resulted  
in $9.5m less subsidies from NZ Transport Agency for  
the year.

Council
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Council
Plan

2008/09
$000

Council
Actual

2007/08
$000

New capital expenditure  116,457  160,789  109,948 

Renewal capital expenditure  38,075  38,850  28,657 

Vested assets  4,313  14,340  21,378 

Total capital expenditure  158,845  213,979  159,983 

Funded by

Secured borrowings  93,670  117,732  36,029 

Development contributions  10,119  18,241  26,620 

Rates revenue  35,471  34,240  34,752 

Special funds  -  5,000  7,500 

Vested assets from developers  4,313  14,340  21,378 

Other (includes grants and subsidies)  15,272  24,426  33,704 

Total liabilities  158,845  213,979  159,983 
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The net surplus of the council includes income which is used 
to fund capital expenditure. In 2007/08 the total income for 
capital projects and vested assets from developers totalled 

$81m while in 2006/07 there was $85m received; in 2008/09 
the amount reduced significantly to $30.3m.
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This graph shows how much 
the council has invested in 
capital expenditure in the last 
financial year. It illustrates 
council’s continuing 
commitment to improving 
beach and stream water 
quality, and our transport 
and parks networks.

The largest project 
progressed during the 
year was the Rosedale 
Wastewater Tunnel and 
Outfall in which $59m was 
invested. This project will be 
completed during 2009/10. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

$7
9m

$1
10

m

$1
07

m

$1
38

m

$1
16

m

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

130

140

150

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

$2
8m

$2
9m

$3
1m $3

4m $3
8m

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

68
%

83
%

76
%

86
%

72
%

The following graphs show the trends over the last five 
years of new capital expenditure, renewal capital expenditure 
and the level of expenditure achieved compared to the 
plan. In 2007/08 we achieved an 86 per cent completion 
rate of planned projects and our $172m capital programme 
completed was the largest achieved by the council.

In 2008/09 we invested a further $154m in infrastructure for 
the city. Some capital works have been carried forward to 
the following year, including the Birkenhead Library, a portion 
of the Rosedale Wastewater Tunnel and Outfall expenditure 
and some transport projects.

New capital expenditure Renewal capital expenditure
New capital per cent  
completions to plan

$m $m %

 Wastewater 

 Transportation

 Stormwater

 Other

 Libraries

 Water Supply

$80m

$38m

$16m

$9m

$9m

$5m$2m

Council capital 
expenditure 2009

 Parks, Beaches and 

Sportsfields
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This graph shows the main 
components of the council’s 
assets.

 Property, plant and equipment

  Other assets

 Trade and other receivables

$4,128m

$187m

$43m

Composition of the council’s 
assets as at June 2009

Council
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Council
Plan

2008/09
$000

Council
Actual

2007/08
$000

Group
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Group
Actual

2007/08
$000

Current assets  50,106  48,829  53,917  60,630  63,857 

Non current assets  4,308,276  4,575,389  4,251,627  4,381,635  4,328,511 

Total assets  4,358,382  4,624,218  4,305,544  4,442,265  4,392,368 

Current liabilities  145,048  117,100  92,668  147,609  95,237 

Non current liabilities  298,953  354,512  234,973  301,254  237,408 

Total liabilities  444,001  471,612  327,641  448,863  332,645 

Equity  3,914,381  4,152,606  3,977,903  3,993,402  4,059,723 

Financial position at a glance

The next table shows the difference between what we own 
and what we owe to other parties. The total value of council 
assets is now $4.4 billion. The increase in net assets from the 
previous year relates mainly to new assets created during the 
year together with an adjustment for the changes due to the 
revaluation of assets. We revalued our assets at 30 June 2008 
resulting in an increase of $165m whereas the revaluation 

completed at 30 June 2009 resulted in a net decrease of 
$71m. The decrease in value was experienced for land, 
buildings and parks reserves. The reason for the decrease 
in the non current liabilities, when compared with the plan, 
is mainly due to capital expenditure carried forward into the 
2009/10 financial year, which resulted in lower borrowings at 
June 2009.
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This graph shows the main 
components of the council’s 
liabilities.

 Property, plant and equipment

  Other assets

 Trade and other receivables

  Borrowings

  Trade and other payables

  Provisions

  Other liabilities

$327m

$61m

$36m

$20m

Composition of the council’s 
liabilities as at June 2009

Council funding and borrowings at a glance

The council manages its finances prudently and in a 
manner that promotes the current and future interests of the 
community. The council prepares and consults extensively 
on a comprehensive long-term City Plan. The most recent 
City Plan approved was for the period 2009 to 2024, and 
was prepared during the 2008/09 financial year. As our city 
is a growing city there is a strong need for infrastructural 
development (roads, wastewater and stormwater systems etc) 
which are very costly to install and maintain. The development 
and renewal of assets is funded by a number of sources 

including government grants and subsidies (where available) 
from developers for their fair share of new infrastructure costs 
(known as development contributions), targeted rates, fees 
and charges (where appropriate), and borrowings.

The table below shows the council’s and group’s levels of 
secured loans. 

There were a few projects which were delayed during the 
year for a variety of reasons which resulted in borrowings not 
increasing to the level projected in the Annual Plan 2008/09.

Council
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Council
Plan

2008/09
$000

Council
Actual

2007/08
$000

Group
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Group
Actual

2007/08
$000

Borrowings

Current secured loans 40,000 9,920 9,282 40,015 9,296 

Non current secured loans 286,800 353,286 233,728 288,251 235,194 

Total secured loans  326,800  363,206  243,010  328,266  244,490 

The council’s borrowings have been growing over the years 
with the increasing investment in infrastructure. The graph 
below shows the council’s actual borrowings over the last five 
years. The total debt at 30 June 2009 was $327m which is 
$84m more than the debt a year earlier. The City Plan 2009-
2024 projects the debt to increase to around $700m 

by 2018/19. The interest costs to fund this debt for the last 
financial year were $18.4m (up from $14.7m in the previous 
year) and are projected to increase to about $24m in 2009/10. 
The following graphs show the debt servicing costs and ratio 
of debt as a percentage of total assets.
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Cash flows at a glance

This table summarises how cash was generated and used. 
The net cash inflow/(outflow) for the year indicates the net 
change in our cash and bank balances arising from various 
operating, investing and financing activities. The majority of 
our cash inflows arise from operating activities (such as rates 

and user charges) and financing activities undertaken during 
the financial period (such as increasing borrowings). We use 
most of our net cash inflows from operating and financing 
activities to purchase and develop assets around our city.

Council
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Council
Plan

2008/09
$000

Council
Actual

2007/08
$000

Group
Actual 

2008/09
$000

Group
Actual

2007/08
$000

Net cash flows from or used in operating activities 70,172 87,672 107,610 71,755 108,779 

Net cash flows from or used in investing activities (155,065) (196,122) (169,836) (156,810) (170,240)

Net cash flows from or used in financing activities 83,722 108,450 64,234 83,700 65,484 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) for the year  (1,171)  -  2,008  (1,355)  4,023 

There are no contingent assets at 30 June 2009 (2008 - nil).

There are a number of contingent liabilities which have been 
detailed in note 27 of the detailed financial statements.

The main contingent liabilities for the council can be 
summarised as follows:

Weathertightness

The council is subject to claims in respect of 
weathertightness building defects that were advised to it by 
the Weathertight Homes Resolution Service (WHRS). The 
council has also received claims directly. The total of claims 
against all parties is $59.7m (2008 - $55.9m).

In addition to the above contingent liabilities, claims have 
been lodged with the WHRS for buildings located within 

North Shore City but not yet notified to the council. The 
council has provided for the likely costs it will incur as a 
result of these claims, based on an actuarial valuation as at 
30 June 2009. The total provision for the claims notified to 
the council and the claims lodged with the WHRS is $18.3m 
(2008 - $13.2m).

The council also acknowledges that it may be liable for 
claims in future years relating to weathertightness building 
defects not yet identified. An actuarial assessment of the 
council’s exposure from claims that are yet to be made 
amounts to $20.9m. Information surrounding these potential 
claims is subject to extreme uncertainty and therefore no 
provision has been made for them.

Contingencies and events after balance date
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Watercare guarantee

As at 24 July 2008 the council joined the five other 
shareholding councils of Watercare Services Limited 
(Watercare) to provide the creditors of Watercare and 
its subsidiaries with a guarantee of Watercare’s debt. 
Auckland City Council firstly provided a guarantee for 
the debt with back to back indemnities by the other 
shareholding councils in proportion to their shareholding. 
North Shore City Council’s percentage of any liability 
called under this guarantee is therefore 11.5 per cent. If 
any council other than Auckland City (who own 41.6 per 
cent) is unable to pay their share, all the other councils are 
required to make up the defaulting amount based upon 
the shareholding formula. 

This arrangement was put in place by the shareholding 
councils in order to minimise long-term price increases  
for bulk water and wastewater services purchased  
from Watercare.

The councils’ share of the indemnity would be called upon 
if Watercare defaulted on its debt. North Shore City 
Council’s financial exposure for the year ended 30 June 
2009 was $67m.

Litigation

The council has received a claim in relation to the Northern 
Busway and the associated changes to the roading 
network. The council is working to resolve this claim with 
its solicitors. Part of this claim has been settled, no further 
liability has been recognised in relation to this claim as any 
further amount is uncertain.

The council has also received three claims in relation to 
Environmental Service’s consent processes. The council 
is working to resolve these claims. No provision has 
been made for these claims as there is a high degree of 
uncertainty as to any possible liability of the council.

Auckland Governance changes

The Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) 
Act 2009 was enacted in May 2009 and provides for the 
dissolution of the North Shore City Council and other 
local authorities in the Auckland Region on 31 October 
2010. As a consequence of the dissolution of the council, 
the structure in its current form will cease to exist. The 
functions, duties, and powers of the council will become the 
functions, duties and powers of the single unitary authority 
(the Auckland Council) that will be responsible for governing 
the entire Auckland region from 1 November 2010.

All property belonging to the council will be vested in the 
Auckland Council.

All money payable to or by the council will become payable 
to or by the Auckland Council.

All rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements, and 
engagements of the council will become the rights, 
liabilities, contracts, entitlements, and engagements of the 
Auckland Council.

There is a Transition Agency that will develop an 
organisational structure for the Auckland Council so that 
it can operate efficiently and effectively on and from 1 
November 2010 and it will develop a change management 
plan that includes protocols and processes for managing 
the transition of:

(i)  assets from existing local government organisations to 
the new council structure;

(ii)  staff from existing local government organisations to  
the new council structure having regard to the existing 
employment agreements applying to the staff.

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s 
structure and operations including how the systems, plans, 
policies, assets and liabilities of the council, including its 
subsidiaries will be vested and integrated. Nevertheless, 
the council expects the services it currently delivers to 
continue to be delivered by the organisational structure put 
in place by the Auckland Council, and therefore the assets 
and liabilities of the council will be relevant to the Auckland 
Council. For that reason, no adjustments have been made 
to the financial statements because of the dissolution basis 
of preparation.

North Shore City Council 31



Five year performance summary 
Group financial performance

Previous 
NZ GAAP

Actual
2004/05

$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2005/06
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2006/07
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2007/08
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2008/09
$000

Operating performance

Total income  245,828  292,207  321,907  320,611  267,228 

Total operating expenditure  (191,299)  (204,239)  (234,259)  (247,607)  (283,404)

Surplus before tax 54,529 87,968 87,648 73,004 (16,176)

Income tax expense  (223)  (231)  (317)  (200)  (227)

Surplus after tax 54,306 87,737 87,331 72,804 (16,403)

Funding performance

Working capital  (37,658)  (40,511)  (31,305)  (31,380)  (86,979)

Total secured debt (including current portion)  102,550  134,157  180,108  244,490  328,266 

Debt constraints to 2007/08 (council only)

Debt constraint 1 254,288 419,253 423,882 426,357 

Actual term debt and guarantees 102,618 119,476 179,413 243,660 

Interest constraint - revenue 2 21,793 27,067 28,747 30,987 

Actual interest cost  5,508 8,092 11,523 14,708 

Interest constraint - expenditure 3 20,255 21,174 23,296 24,347 

Actual interest cost  5,508 8,092 11,523 14,708 

Total liabilities to total assets 4 5.64% 6.44% 6.55% 7.61%

Total term liabilities to total equity 5 3.04% 3.54% 4.60% 5.91%

Debt constraints from 2008/09 (council only) 6

Net debt as a percentage of income < 150 per cent 124%

Net interest expense as a percentage of annual rates income < 20 per cent 9%

Net interest expense as a percentage of income < 15 per cent 7%

Net debt as a percentage of equity < 20 per cent 8%

Investing performance

Property, plant and equipment  2,868,329 3,310,374 3,851,806 4,153,946 4,190,435 

Investment property  15,602  17,910  19,940  23,533  20,625 

Other financial assets  91,914  145,897  152,236  149,040  171,667 

Created value performance

Assets created at cost 1,915,099 2,125,802 3,661,969 3,798,214 3,919,190 

Net effect of asset revaluations 1,109,008 1,407,412 427,227 594,154  523,075 

Total assets 3,024,107 3,533,214 4,089,196 4,392,368 4,442,265 

Total liabilities  (187,800) (227,264) (267,604) (332,539) (448,863)

Total equity 2,836,307 3,305,950 3,821,592 4,059,829 3,993,402 

Annual Report 2008/0932

Financial Overview
1 Introduction



Previous 
NZ GAAP

Actual
2004/05

$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2005/06
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2006/07
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2007/08
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2008/09
$000

Other financial data

Capital expenditure (council) - new works  79,129 109,948 106,692 137,977 116,457 

 - renewal works  28,068 28,657 31,137 33,876 38,075 

Vested assets  29,071 21,378 27,957 16,283 4,313 

Cash and cash equivalents  4,462 7,783 6,076 9,345 5,651 

Special funds  18,455 16,960 22,913 26,464 27,035 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  58,375 108,248 80,590 108,779 71,755 

Definitions of constraints

1. Total term debt plus guarantees to be no greater than 0.875 per cent of the capital value of the city, less the amount of 
annual interest for the year.

2.  Annual interest costs to be no greater than 20 per cent of the average of the last three years’ revenue from council rates.
3.   Annual interest costs to be no greater than 12.5 per cent of the average of the last three years’ gross operational 

expenditure, exclusive of interest costs.
4.  Total liabilities to total assets is not to exceed 25 per cent.
5.  Total term liabilities (including short-term liabilities to be refinanced) to total equity is not to exceed 20 per cent.
6.  The council approved a new Treasury Management Policy which became effective in 2008/09.

Previous 
NZ GAAP

Actual
2004/05

$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2005/06
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2006/07
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2007/08
$000

NZ IFRS
Actual

2008/09
$000

Operating performance

Total income  245,828  292,207  321,907  320,611  267,228 

Total operating expenditure  (191,299)  (204,239)  (234,259)  (247,607)  (283,404)

Surplus before tax 54,529 87,968 87,648 73,004 (16,176)

Income tax expense  (223)  (231)  (317)  (200)  (227)

Surplus after tax 54,306 87,737 87,331 72,804 (16,403)

Funding performance

Working capital  (37,658)  (40,511)  (31,305)  (31,380)  (86,979)

Total secured debt (including current portion)  102,550  134,157  180,108  244,490  328,266 

Debt constraints to 2007/08 (council only)

Debt constraint 1 254,288 419,253 423,882 426,357 

Actual term debt and guarantees 102,618 119,476 179,413 243,660 

Interest constraint - revenue 2 21,793 27,067 28,747 30,987 

Actual interest cost  5,508 8,092 11,523 14,708 

Interest constraint - expenditure 3 20,255 21,174 23,296 24,347 

Actual interest cost  5,508 8,092 11,523 14,708 

Total liabilities to total assets 4 5.64% 6.44% 6.55% 7.61%

Total term liabilities to total equity 5 3.04% 3.54% 4.60% 5.91%

Debt constraints from 2008/09 (council only) 6

Net debt as a percentage of income < 150 per cent 124%

Net interest expense as a percentage of annual rates income < 20 per cent 9%

Net interest expense as a percentage of income < 15 per cent 7%

Net debt as a percentage of equity < 20 per cent 8%

Investing performance

Property, plant and equipment  2,868,329 3,310,374 3,851,806 4,153,946 4,190,435 

Investment property  15,602  17,910  19,940  23,533  20,625 

Other financial assets  91,914  145,897  152,236  149,040  171,667 

Created value performance

Assets created at cost 1,915,099 2,125,802 3,661,969 3,798,214 3,919,190 

Net effect of asset revaluations 1,109,008 1,407,412 427,227 594,154  523,075 

Total assets 3,024,107 3,533,214 4,089,196 4,392,368 4,442,265 

Total liabilities  (187,800) (227,264) (267,604) (332,539) (448,863)

Total equity 2,836,307 3,305,950 3,821,592 4,059,829 3,993,402 
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There were 113 service 
performance measures 
in the Annual Plan 
2008/09 on which the 
council intended to 
report. Of these, 75 
per cent were achieved 
which is in line with last 
year’s results. The table 
below summarises our 
performance. More 
detailed information can 
be found later in the 
report under Part 2 – 
Activity Statements.

Service performance overview

Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Wastewater   

Wastewater is collected from over 223,000 people through 
private drains leading from bathrooms, kitchens, laundries 
and toilets, and also trade waste from commercial premises. 
This is then piped and pumped through our public drain 
network to our Rosedale Wastewater Treatment Plant. After 
treatment the solid wastes are discharged to landfill and the 
treated effluent (liquid) is discharged, through our outfall tunnel 
600 metres out to sea off Kennedy Park. A few residents have 
septic tanks which are not connected to our network.

12 of 12 A solid year of performance saw all 
service levels met, and satisfaction  
ratings remained above 90 per cent.  
The treatment plant upgrades  
continued successfully and the main 
project, the tunnel and outfall, has 
progressed on target.

Summary Achieved Not achieved Total

Annual Report 2008/09 85 28 113 75% achieved

Annual Report 2007/08 82 31 113 73% achieved

Annual Report 2006/07 82 31 113 73% achieved
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Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Stormwater

Stormwater is rain that does not soak into the ground and 
runs off surfaces on our properties such as roofs, gardens and 
concrete driveways and from the roads into our city. It ends up in 
our streams and flows onto our beaches and into our harbour.

8 of 9 Generally another year of strong 
performance. There has also been a 
significant improvement in the percentage of 
urgent works responded to within one hour.

Transportation   

North Shore City is growing rapidly and with it comes more 
traffic putting pressure on the transport network, road safety 
and ease of movement around the city. We recognise the need 
to provide and promote alternatives to car travel to reduce the 
effects of congestion and car usage. Continuing to provide for 
road traffic in newly developing areas, as well as maintaining 
and improving the existing road network is also important. 

5 of 8 The Northern Busway operated 
efficiently and within budget. The overall 
satisfaction rating for the condition 
of roads and footpaths has improved 
compared to last year but is still 
just below target. Traffic congestion 
continues to be an ongoing issue.

Water Supply   

We purchase potable (fit to drink) water from Watercare 
Services Limited, which sources and treats water for the 
Auckland region. We then store and deliver this water through 
our pipe network to every property connected to the city’s 
pipe system.

8 of 9 Generally a strong year, meeting most of 
the expectations on service level delivery.

Environmental Policy and Planning
  

Planning and managing the city's environment through 
planning for growth and change, developing policies and 
guidelines for development, developing the District Plan and 
coordinating asset management planning.

3 of 7 Due to the transition to the new Auckland 
Council, we decided not to continue 
to seek formal partnerships and not to 
progress some urban design initiatives as 
the outcomes sought are likely to change 
under the new Auckland Council.

We processed three plan changes during 
the year; two of which were processed 
within nine months. The third one 
concerning utilities proved more difficult as 
the technical nature and industry objections 
to the changes were negotiated.

An increase in net operating cost was 
due to the development contributions 
judicial review and the City Plan project.

Environmental Consents and Compliance   

Control the type of development in the city by implementing 
the provisions of the District Plan, Resource Management 
Act and the Building Act. We check compliance with health 
and safety standards and assist people with information 
on development issues. We also offer an advisory service 
on building code and planning advice, along with property 
information.

6 of 9 An improvement this year compared to 
previous years. Processing targets for 
building and land use consents improved 
but were still just below target.

Weathertightness continues to be 
an issue and a significant amount of 
time and new resources are being put 
into this. As a result the net operating 
expenditure per rateable property for this 
activity exceeded its target.
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Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Environmental Protection

Environmental protection services for noise, air and water 
quality, food and liquor licensing, dog control, dangerous 
goods, bylaw enforcement, pollution and public health 
investigations, and environmental and public health education.

7 of 7 A good year as all service levels were 
met in what can be a difficult area. 
Educational programmes continue to be 
a big success.

Waste Minimisation

Waste and recycling services for households, commercial and 
industrial areas, and public education.

5 of 5 Another year of solid progress in the 
waste minimisation area saw service 
levels maintained. Continued progress is 
being made in diverting waste from landfill 
with less waste being sent to landfill than 
last year.

Libraries   

Access to a wide range of printed and digital resources to 
help increase community knowledge and improve individual 
skills and literacy. We have seven separate libraries, which 
operate seven days per week, and a mobile library service 
which operates five days per week.

5 of 7 The high level of service from libraries has 
continued this year. Satisfaction levels 
remain high. Hits to the library website 
keep increasing. Completion of the 
Birkenhead Library will result in targets 
on bookstock and floor space being met.
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Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields   

Managing and maintaining around 500 parks, scenic bush 
reserves and beaches in the city. These parks include 86 
sportsfields, 112 playgrounds, 10km of sea walls and a range 
of other assets allowing for a variety of activity. Grants are also 
made towards maintaining non council-owned sportsfields 
that are available for public use.

8 of 9 Parks, beaches and sportsfields continue 
to be well regarded and deliver high 
levels of service to the community. The 
exception continues to be public toilets.

Leisure Services   

Facilities include five centres (at Beach Haven, Birkenhead, 
Browns Bay, Glenfield and Takapuna), three of which have 
swimming pools. They offer a variety of recreational and 
well-being programmes and provide space for organised and 
casual activities in leisure centres.

3 of 9 Beach Haven, Takapuna, Birkenhead and 
Glenfield facilities had lower than target 
utilisation rates. This is due to a number 
of factors, including the fact that school 
groups have had funding sources for 
facility use declined or reduced; therefore 
their use of facilities has decreased. Net 
cost and recovery through user charges 
were also under target due to the 
reduced patronage.
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Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil defence   

Working in partnership with many community organisations, 
we are able to sponsor key community groups using grants, 
subsidies and by providing facilities and opportunities for 
collaboration. This helps provide affordable facilities and 
services to local communities. Some of the many groups 
and organisations we work with to promote community 
development and well-being include Age Concern, Shore 
Arts forum, Disability Information North Shore, Sport North 
Harbour, Citizens Advice Bureau, community houses and 
centres, arts facilities and community coordinators.

5 of 7 Community Liaison continued to provide 
a high quality interface with the 
community. While community halls 
fell short of their targets, a number of 
individual facilities were operating at close 
to 100 per cent capacity with high levels 
of satisfaction. A number of community 
groups also reached a stage in their facility 
projects where they were able to uplift their 
Community Facilities Fund grant.

Housing for Older People   

We own and manage 22 complexes and 458 units. We also 
provide affordable own-your-own housing for a further 37 
owner occupiers.

2 of 3 This year’s waiting list has increased 
significantly and is above the targets set. 

Cemeteries   

The Burial and Cremation Act requires the council to ensure 
that adequate burial and cremation facilities exist in the city. 
To fulfil this obligation we own and manage the North Shore 
Memorial Park Cemetery and Crematorium.

3 of 3 High satisfaction from clients, funeral 
directors and Monumental Masons.

Annual Report 2008/0938

Service performance overview
1 Introduction



Output area Service levels 
achieved

How we did

Economic Initiatives   

We play a key role in planning and promoting economic 
development, visitor information and events management.

2 of 5 A difficult year as the economy slowed 
placing pressure on most of our key 
sectors, and resulting in our targets 
having been set too high in this 
environment. Pleasingly satisfaction 
levels with Enterprise North Shore 
have increased. A number of events 
contributed to making North Shore a 
vibrant place.

Governance and Leadership

Developing policy and long-term direction for the city and 
using committees to lead debate on policy issues. We make 
decisions on competing priorities in the best interests of 
the community. Six community boards provide a direct link 
between the community and the council. They monitor works 
and services in the local communities.

3 of 4 Service levels were largely met this year. 
While submission levels to the City Plan 
were less than target, the process was 
very successful resulting in a clear audit 
opinion.

Where actual results are within the margin of error of the sample they are listed as achieved.
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Role of the council 

The council, comprising the Mayor and 15 
councillors (including the Deputy Mayor), is 
accountable to the ratepayers of North Shore 
City for the direction and control of the city’s 
activities. It fulfils this responsibility by establishing 
the strategic direction as detailed in the Strategic 
Plan, by approving the Annual Plan, Long Term 
Council Community Plan (City Plan) and various 
policies developed by the management, and by 
monitoring performance against these plans and 
policies.

The council is required to undertake the 
regulatory and operational functions set out in the 
Local Government Act and has a wide range of 
mandatory and discretionary functions set out in 
that and various other statutes.

Role of community boards

North Shore City Council contains three wards 
for electoral purposes. Within each ward 
there are two community boards. Effective 
communication between the six community 
boards and the council is achieved via the six 
area offices serving the community boards and 
the councillors who are also community board 
members. The council has delegated significant 
functions to community boards in addition to 

their statutory responsibilities. In carrying out 
these responsibilities, community boards act 
as advocates for the interests of residents and 
businesses within their respective communities. 
Key areas of statutory and delegated responsibility 
for community boards include the following. 

Statutory responsibilities

·  Representing, and acting as an advocate for, 
the interests of the community.

·  Considering and reporting on all matters 
referred to the community board by the council, 
or of interest or concern to the community 
board.

·  Overviewing the delivery of infrastructure, parks 
and recreational facilities, community activities 
and traffic movement.

·  Providing local input into the Annual Plan or 
Long Term Council Community Plan (City Plan) 
for the level of expenditure in the community.

·  Communication with community organisations 
and special interest groups.

·  Performing such functions as delegated under 
the authority of the Local Government Act.

Governance Report

Citywide Civic Awards

Mayor Andrew Williams 
presents Jim Holdaway the 
Citywide Civic Award for his 
outstanding contribution on 
many conservation groups.
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Delegated responsibilities

·  Consult with, advocate and promote the community’s 
interests and provide local input into: 

 -  Policy making, monitoring and effectiveness

 -  Disposal or acquisition of property assets

 -  The District Plan.

·  Promote and monitor the effectiveness of bylaws and 
recommend prosecution for breaches of selected bylaws.

·  Monitor the effectiveness of council services and contracts 
within community board boundaries.

·  Exercise certain duties and powers contained in the 
Reserves Act 1977.

·  Monitor effectiveness, implications and appropriateness  
of local fees and charges.

Spending powers

Community board responsibilities include discretionary 
funding for local projects. The council allocated a total 
of $1.2m to the boards for local priorities in the 2008/09 
Annual Plan. A further $62,000 was allocated for the waiving 
of consent fees to community groups. The discretionary 
funds were allocated to community boards on the basis  
of population.

To provide a link between the wider city needs and local 
needs and priorities, the money was allocated between the 
output areas of Transportation and Parks, Beaches and 
Sportsfields. Grants were based on citywide priorities. 

Allocation of community  
board funds

Plan 2008/09 
$000

Transportation 
Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields 
Local community grants 
Waiving of consent fees

602 
487 
123 
62

Structure of the council

The council has appointed Mr John Brockies as chief 
executive to be in charge of council operations.  
Mr Brockies commenced his role on 7 July 2003.

The chief executive is responsible for the appointment  
of all other council employees and has delegated authority 
to manage each of the council’s activities.

Council committees

The council has appointed all councillors as members  
of the following standing committees:

·  Community Services and Parks Committee

·  Infrastructure and Environment Committee

·  Regulatory Committee

·  Strategy and Finance Committee.

The role and responsibilities of these committees  
are as follows:

Community Services and Parks Committee

·  Policy recommendation and monitoring of service delivery 
for operational activity relating to community activities. 
These include community liaison, community facilities, 
community services, libraries, beaches, parks and 
reserves, leisure services, sportsfields, events promotions, 
arts and culture, housing for older people, cemeteries and 
crematorium, civil defence and grants.

Infrastructure and Environment Committee

·  Policy recommendation and monitoring of the delivery 
of services for all areas of core operational activity and 
infrastructure management. This includes roading, 
footpaths, bridges and ancillary services/facilities, 
traffic management, parking, water supply, wastewater, 
stormwater, civic areas, refuse collection, recycling and 
disposal, commercial area development and planning 
services.

Regulatory Committee

·  All matters relating to the determination and hearing of 
applications for resource consent under the Resource 
Management Act 1991.

·  Determining the council’s position on appeals on resource 
consent decisions and, in the majority of instances, 
negotiating settlements.

·  Determining decisions on regulatory, prosecution and legal 
proceedings to enforce, relating to air pollution, Building 
Act 1991 compliance, hazardous substances, District 
Plan compliance, dog control, fencing of swimming 
pools, health liquor regulation, litter, Machinery Act 1950 
compliance, noise abatement and control, prostitution, 
resource consent, compliance, traffic, parking and water 
quality.

·  District Plan hearings, drainage notices and hearings, 
hearing and determination of submissions to Variation  
and Plan Changes.

Strategy and Finance Committee

·  Coordinates and prepares the council’s financial policies 
and plans including the Long Term Council Community 
Plan, the Annual Plan and Annual Report.

·  Reviews and makes recommendations on the council’s 
financial management including borrowings, investment, 
risk management, property and external audit liaison.

·  Reports to the council with recommendations for dealing 
with consultation, representation and protocol in the light 
of the council’s policy in respect of the Treaty of Waitangi.

·  Policies and planning matters in the District Plan.

·  Coordinates transport planning, the urban growth strategy 
and planning matters at the regional and local levels.
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In addition, the council has established the following special 
committees:

Contract Management Committee

Chief executive’s

·  Employment contract

·  Annual objectives and performance

·  Professional development.

Annual/City Plan Hearings Committee

·  Hearing submissions and subsequently making 
recommendations to the council on the draft Annual/City 
Plan.

·  Recommending the general form of the consultation 
programme and direction on that consultation to ensure 
compliance with relevant legislation and the council’s 
Consultation Policy. 

Governance system

Triennial General Elections

The election of the Mayor, councillors and community board 
members by the city’s electors occurs every three years. 
The last election was held in October 2007.

Communication and reporting

The standing committees meet on a monthly basis, with 
the exception of January, to undertake their responsibilities. 
General managers and required staff also attend these 
meetings in an advisory role. Additional meetings are 
arranged from time to time as required. The formal reporting 
of financial and service performance occurs as at October, 
January, April and June. Additional council meetings are 
called from time to time to deal with any other business. 

Division of responsibility between the council  
and management

It is important that there is a clear division between the role 
of the council and that of management. The council has 
responsibility for the setting of policy and strategies and 
then to review progress. The management is responsible 
for implementation of council policy and strategies and for 
providing advice to councillors. 

Overall responsibility for achieving the visions and goals 
of the city rests with the council. In order to carry out its 
responsibilities, the council maintains an effective system 
of internal controls which includes policies, systems and 
procedures. The review process of monitoring performance 
against the Annual Plan and Long Term Council Community 
Plan (City Plan) provides the council with the assurance that 
it has carried out its responsibilities.

Risk management

The council has a corporate-wide risk management 
programme. The establishment of operational risk registers, 
which are regularly reviewed and updated, provides 
the council with the assurance that the risks have been 
identified and appropriate measures taken to minimise their 
effects. The programme is based on the local government 
risk management standards. 

Internal audit and assurance

The council has developed an internal audit and assurance 
function within the Risk and Assurance Services 
Department. The audits form part of the council’s risk 
management programme. The audit service assists the 
council to achieve its objectives through a systematic 
programme of project completion, value for money, 
operational performance and legal compliance audits.

Partnerships

 Tangata Whenua

An important relationship exists with local iwi to ensure that 
the business of the council incorporates and considers 
the special relationship between Maori, their culture and 
traditions with their ancestral lands, water, sites, wahi tapu 
and other taonga.

Community Partnerships

The council continues to maintain and develop partnerships 
with many community organisations that contribute to and 
complement the council’s development and vision for the 
city. 

Opportunities for Maori to contribute  
to the decision-making process

Over the past year we have continued to work with Maori in 
a number of very important areas. We have continued our 
consultation with Maori in the Network consents project, 
welcoming their input and influence in the process. We 
have also used the same protocols to develop a group to 
involve themselves in the community outcomes process. 
We continue to support Maori in planning and consenting 
matters. 
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From left to right: Tony Rogers, Alison Geddes, Geoff Mason, John Brockies, Ann Prendergast, Dale Lott, Lorretta Burnett
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Staff Management Report

Introduction

Skills shortages in certain areas and strong 
competition for talent provided challenges for 
recruitment and retention in the first six months 
of the year. Pressure in this area has significantly 
reduced in the last six months as the effects of 
the economic downturn released more skilled 
people into the labour market. Strategic initiatives 
such as a referral rewards scheme, a strong 
training and development focus, succession 
planning, and developing our own skilled 
talent through successful graduate recruitment 
programmes are proving effective ways to 
continue being a favoured and marketable 
employer.

An organisational vision

Our people management vision remains 
“Excellent Service, Quality People”. Our internal 
communications strategy continues to include 
chief executive ‘roadshows’ and twice-weekly 
email newsletters. In addition, our Council Info 
intranet site keeps staff updated and informed. 
Managers continue to hold semi-formal, 
bi-monthly ‘on-track chat’ meetings with their 
staff, and regular team meetings take place.

Our revamped performance management 
system is now four years old and well embedded 

throughout the organisation. In response to staff 
feedback, minor improvements have been made. 
The emphasis continues to be on performance 
objectives, improved accountability and 
responsibility for delivery of quality service. Staff 
focus groups have confirmed the one-on-one 
performance review ‘on track chat’ meetings as 
highly valued by staff.

Organisational profile

Our 1,289 employees work in six divisions and in 
the office of the chief executive, in 25 locations 
around the city. Approximately 59 per cent are 
full-time employees, with the balance of part-time 
staff employed mainly in our libraries and leisure 
centres. 

Over the last five years, our staff numbers 
(expressed as full-time equivalents or FTE) have 
shown the following pattern:

30 June 2005 777
30 June 2006 796
30 June 2007 850
30 June 2008 901
30 June 2009 863

The number of FTE positions in the organisation 
remained stable over the last twelve months. The 
lower actual FTE staff number at 30 June 2009 is 

Eureka programme
Geoff Mason, general 
manager infrastructure 
services presents Andrew 
Swain, asset management 
systems officer with a prize 
for being the first person to 
submit an idea to the Eureka 
team. Andrew suggested 
changing building ‘footprints’ 
to outlines on Eview so the 
printouts wouldn’t use so 
much ink.
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a result of carrying more vacancies over the last 
year, in particular over the last six months since 
the announcements in relation to changes in 
Auckland Governance were made. 

Annualised staff turnover was 9.96 per cent. 
A significant decrease was noted over the last 
six months attributed to wider economic factors 
and the Auckland governance changes. This 
percentage is well below the national average 
for all businesses which is 23 per cent.

Health and Safety

At North Shore City Council we continue to be 
committed to excellence in health and safety by 
implementing a best practice Health and Safety 
Programme to reduce or eliminate risk to our 
organisation. The council meets its obligations 
under the Health and Safety in Employment 
Act 1992 and Health and Safety Management 
Systems (AS/NZS 4801:2001).

All staff are responsible for actively contributing 
to hazard management, participating in health 
and safety training sessions, reporting hazards 
and injuries, and participating in any resultant 
investigation for preventative purposes. Managers 
ensure that staff are aware of, and are informed 
about, significant hazards and the part that each 
individual can play in preventing and minimising 

risk. All managers and team leaders demonstrate 
their commitment to health and safety as it relates 
to their roles, both verbally and through role 
modelling. All staff are responsible for taking all 
practicable steps to ensure their own health and 
safety, and that of others who may be affected 
by their actions or omissions in the course of 
their work. The council fosters a work climate 
that supports early reporting and the recording 
of all accidents and incidents accurately and 
promptly. Specific occupational health initiatives 
include hearing conservation, immunisation and 
ergonomic awareness training and assessments. 
Relevant occupational medical information is also 
disseminated to employees by our registered 
health professionals as required.

The commitment from all is shown through high 
participation levels in our successfully established 
group of trained safety representatives, first-
aiders and building wardens. Their roles are 
imperative in identifying and managing hazards, 
inducting and training others in safe work 
practices, and providing care for the injured and 
conducting drills for emergency preparedness.

Participation in the ACC Workplace Safety 
Management Practices Programme enables the 
council to place a sound structure around our 
health and safety and rehabilitation systems, 

Firstline managers  
presentation

Our latest First Line 
Management graduates at 
their graduation in March.  
To date, we have had 52 staff 
graduate with the National 
Certificate in First Line 
Management (Level 4), the 
first step in our leadership 
development programme.
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providing tangible benefits for both the employer 
and employee. In November this year we 
completed internal audits in which we attained 
tertiary level. We no longer regard health and 
safety separately – it is now ingrained in our 
working philosophy.

Wellness programme

A vital part of the overall Health and Safety 
Programme is our Wellness Programme. Leaders 
are encouraged to be role models and to actively 
support staff to engage with health and wellness 
programmes. In addition to the popular 10,000 
Steps and Challenge Me programmes a series 
of wellness seminars were made available.

New initiatives include complete health checks, 
voluntary smoking cessation and weight loss 
programmes. 

Employment relations

We have successfully renegotiated collective 
agreements covering the leisure centres, North 
Shore Memorial Park and salaried officers. 
All collective agreements are voluntary. All 
employment agreements provide for flexible work 
arrangements and recognise contemporary social 
and family needs. This policy is consistent with a 
family-friendly workplace and provides flexibility to 
meet cultural requirements.

Employee relations are regularly monitored 
through staff climate surveys which provide data 
on staff satisfaction and morale.

The council also has an active social club which 
offers a wide variety of activities to members and 
non members.

Remuneration

This year a decision was made to move the date 
for salary reviews to August annually, effective 
from 1 September 2009. This will align salary 
reviews more closely with the performance 
management cycle. Our remuneration model is 
based on Local Government NZ market data and 
takes into account the needs of the organisation 
to attract and retain staff. 

Training and development

Our training and development policy defines 
priorities and provides a matrix to assist 
managers and staff. Training continues to include 
core professional and technical skills, leadership, 
innovation, management, customer skills 
development and computer literacy. The council 
is an accredited test centre for the International 
Computing Driving Licence (ICDL) qualification.

Leadership development includes the 
competency-based NZQA National Certificate 
in First Line Management (level 4), higher 
management and transformational leadership 
programmes, and an in-house programme 
designed to build managers’ coaching skills. 

Staff continue to be trained in the International 
Association for Public Participation (IAP2) 
framework, a best practice model for community 
engagement that results in the award of the 

TravelWise

The first Walk2Work Day, 
held in March 2009, was well 
supported by council staff 
and other people working 
across the city.
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internationally recognised IAP2 Certificate in Public 
Participation. Project Management training and study 
groups to prepare candidates for project management 
certification are also under way. 

The council was recently recognised for its professional 
development of engineers when it achieved Professional 
Development Partner status with the NZ Institution for 
Professional Engineers (IPENZ). A group of engineers are 
currently working towards certification that recognises them 
as chartered professional engineers.

Organisational development

Given our emphasis on communication and performance 
accountability, the Corporate Business Plan, together with 
the City Plan and related documents are now entrenched  
in employee performance criteria and business processes. 
Our induction programme quickly familiarises new 
employees with the organisation, while providing them with 
a sense of self-worth in terms of their capability to perform 
well in their new roles. We continue to receive excellent 
feedback from employees about this and other capability 
building programmes.

Equal employment opportunity

The council is becoming more diverse in terms of its 
employees, reflecting the growth in diversity within our 
community. As part of our standard induction programme, 
we educate our employees about the law as it relates to 
harassment and human rights at work. We also provide 
English language coaching in oral, written and presentation 
skills to employees for whom English is a second language.

A policy supporting working from home is one of many 
family-friendly initiatives that we offer. Other initiatives 
include flexible working hours and job sharing to make 
entering the workforce, or returning to work, easier for those 
who have child or elder care responsibilities. For those who 
want to partake in extensive travel, or devote themselves 
entirely to study, a leave banking policy allows staff to take 
time out to pursue either, while having their jobs kept open 
for them.

In summary

North Shore City Council is committed to creating an 
environment that enables staff to realise their full potential. 
This includes actively fostering safety, health and well-being 
and adopting strategies to attract, develop and retain a 
talented workforce.

Go By Bike Day

About 500 cyclists took part in this year’s Go By Bike Day event. There 
were four guided routes leading cyclists to this year’s event with the 
Devonport route led by Olympic Gold Medallist, North Shore Windsurfer, 
Tom Ashley. Cyclists pictured from front to back are Simon Lusby, transport 
planner/modeller; Megan Stoneham, accounts administrator; Debbie Lang, 
sustainable transport coordinator and Monique Zwaan, enviroschools 
facilitator.
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Introduction

North Shore City Council aims to lead by example 
in its application of sustainable work practices 
and its performance. We are continuing to make 
headway in many areas of our operations and 
have begun to see our practices having a tangible 
effect on local businesses that are following our 
lead. Sustainability is about taking positive steps 
that benefit the environment, the community 
and their quality of life, now and in the future. 
By making sustainable choices, we have been 
able to make smart financial and operational 
decisions that minimise the negative impact on 
the environment and deliver social and cultural 
benefits to the community. 

This year, we have continued to use the 
Corporate Sustainability Management Plan, 
adopted in 2007, to help us deliver on our 
corporate sustainability goals. The plan identifies 
areas of our business that could be improved 
and looks at ways in which we can maximise 
our positive impact by using the right resources, 
management structures and leadership to deliver 
sustainable outcomes. In line with the plan, 
procurement is also managed under Corporate 
Sustainability, allowing us to place more 
emphasis on products and services that deliver 

the best environmental and social outcomes, as 
well as the best value for money.

The council is fast becoming recognised in the 
wider community as a leader in sustainability. 
Our achievements have gained both local and 
national press coverage on several occasions this 
year. An article in The Independent newspaper in 
March, titled ‘When ‘sustainable’ means saving 
the bottom line’, showcased several of our 
key achievements in energy management and 
waste minimisation. It highlighted the financial 
rewards, as opposed to purely environmental, 
made attainable through adopting sustainable 
practices. 

Corporate sustainability management  
and reporting

This is our fourth year of formally reporting on 
our corporate sustainability performance and the 
second year that we have used the international 
sustainability reporting framework, developed by 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Our aim is to 
continuously improve the content, transparency 
and comparability of our sustainability reporting. 
Measuring, monitoring and reporting on our 
sustainability performance enables us to assess 
our progress and identify areas for improvement. 

Corporate Sustainability Report

Worm digester

Joanne Tunna, sustainability 
coordinator and Michael 
Field, sustainability and 
procurement manager, 
by the worm digester in 
Devonport. The worm 
digester can consume 
250kg of organic waste per 
week, and has reduced the 
council’s volume of waste 
going to landfill by over 30 
per cent. Photo courtesy of 
Ben Watson, North Shore 
Times.
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Energy efficiency 

Energy use is something that everyone can influence, 
simply by the actions and choices they make. This year 
we implemented an energy management software tool 
called Foundation Footprint, developed in collaboration 
with Revolution ID Limited. This software has enabled us 
to capture, manage and report on our carbon emissions 
to an ISO:14064 standard, and significantly increase the 
level of visibility across our electricity accounts. Having 
enhanced visibility has allowed us to identify various 
discrepancies across our thousands of sites and meters, 
not only delivering significant refunds but resulting in 
future savings as well. The software has fully automated 
our bill management, allowing for a vastly more efficient 
process. We are now using the software to manage our 
gas accounts, as well as fuel and mobile phone invoices, 
producing considerable time and cost savings.

To support our energy efficiency goals, we continue to 
promote energy conservation by encouraging staff to:

·  turn off their computer monitors when they leave their 
desks, and to help colleagues to remember as well. 
Assisting this is a new council-wide screensaver that 
automatically appears and reminds staff to ‘turn me off’  
if the computer has been inactive for 20 minutes; 

· turn off their computers every night;

·  use the energy saving features on all large photocopiers/
printers;

·  switch off lights when leaving the room; and

· take the stairs, instead of the lift, if able. 

Energy audits are regularly undertaken at the council’s 
administration buildings to create more accountability and 
help achieve a 100 per cent adoption of ‘switching off’. 
To raise awareness, we have posters throughout council 
buildings and regularly publish internal memos about energy 
performance. These initiatives are important on an ongoing 
basis, but we have already experienced significant uptake 
from staff in adopting new procedures and a greater level of 
resource efficiency awareness across the organisation. 

Where behaviour change cannot reduce energy 
consumption, we are looking at new energy efficient 
technologies. We currently have trials under way for both 
street and office lighting using new highly efficient Light 
Emitted Diode (LED) lights that are up to 60 per cent more 
efficient than the bulbs currently being used. 

We are also committed to energy efficiency and low impact 
design in all newly owned or tenanted buildings. A minimum 

‘four star’ rating under the New Zealand Green Building 
Council’s Green Star assessment framework is now required 
for any new building that the council buys or leases. 

Waste minimisation 

Waste generation and management is a significant issue 
for North Shore City. Disposing of waste has many 
environmental and financial costs associated with it, 
including landfill fees and emissions from transportation 
and decomposition. This year, through our WasteWise 
Workplace programme, we continued to focus on changing 
the way council staff think about and respond to waste 
generated at work. 

Organic waste, including paper towels and some 
biodegradable packaging, is collected from the council’s 
three largest office buildings and delivered twice a week 
to an industrial-sized worm digester, based at Framework 
Trust’s organic farm in Devonport. When operating at full 
capacity, the worm digester can consume 250kg of organic 
waste per week, and has reduced our volume of waste 
going to landfill by over 30 per cent. The worm digester 
produces compost and fertiliser which is used by the 
Framework Trust in their organic gardens. 

On average, the council removes about 800 tonnes of 
seaweed that washes up on its beaches during storm 
events each year. The seaweed is diverted from landfill 
and is composted by Envirofert, an industrial green waste 
management company. This allows us to keep the beaches 
clear for residents and visitors to enjoy, while reducing the 
amount spent on seaweed disposal and the associated 
environmental impact. 

Purchase of goods and services 

The majority of our overall ecological footprint is associated 
with the goods and services we purchase, which we can 
influence through vendor and product selection. This year 
we have continued to ‘green’ our supply chain, in other 
words buying goods and services from companies that 
promote sustainable outcomes. Our procurement manual, 
adopted in June 2008, requires us to consider sustainability 
criteria when selecting a preferred supplier or awarding 
a contract in a tender process. Having these policies in 
place allows us to deliver the best environmental and 
social outcomes, as well as the best value for money. Our 
commitment to using FSC or PEFC (sustainably managed 
forestry) certified paper stocks is a great example of this. By 
specifying this as a prerequisite in our tender documents, 
we not only apply best practice but also use our buying 
power to positively influence and educate the marketplace. 

 ISO:14064   International Organisation for Standardisation standards for assessing and supporting greenhouse gas 
reduction and emissions trading.

Internationally recognised certifications for sustainably managed forestry 

FSC Forest Stewardship Council

PEFC Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes Chain of Custody
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Earth Hour 

The council was an official ‘partner city’ in 
this year’s Earth Hour. Along with several of 
the city’s high profile buildings, including the 
Sentinel, Chelsea Sugar Refinery and Auckland 
University of Technology’s Akoranga Campus, 
we supported the world’s largest climate change 
initiative and switched off all non-essential lighting 
during the event. The Auckland region reduced 
its electricity consumption during the hour by 
approximately eight per cent, compared with 
a national average of about five per cent. This 
action sent a strong message to policy makers 
that New Zealanders, and North Shore residents, 
care about climate change.

Chemical usage

Chemicals are used in many of our activities 
and we aim to reduce the negative impacts they 
have on the environment and on human health. 
Harsh chemicals in the work place can lead to 
respiratory aggravation, as well as skin and eye 
irritation. We endeavour to use chemicals that 
have the least impact on the environment and on 
human health, and now ensure that our cleaning 
contractors use the most benign products 
possible. 

Sustainable transport

The council continues to develop and promote 
the Staff Travel Plan, which promotes sustainable 
transport solutions for staff, to reduce our reliance 
on single occupant car travel and use of fossil 
fuels. Subsidised bus passes are offered to 
staff, shower and storage facilities are available 
for cyclists and runners, and parking discounts 

are given to those who carpool. Staff can save 
money on petrol and parking by choosing to 
leave their cars at home. Reducing the number 
of single occupancy vehicles in North Shore 
City also helps to reduce traffic congestion and 
improve air quality. 

Community engagement and education

Raising community awareness about 
sustainability and how people can help is 
important. This year, we have presented at a 
number of events on topics such as effectively 
communicating sustainability; sustainability in 
the public sector and sustainable procurement. 
These events included The Natural Step 
(TNS) training workshops; The PRiNZ national 
conference, hosted by the Public Relations 
Institute of New Zealand; the annual Towards 
a Sustainable Public Sector Conference; 
sustainability-related events hosted by AISEC, 
an International leadership programme for young 
people and Auckland University’s sustainability 
group, NEXUS and Albany Business School 
lectures at Massey University. 

Conclusion

We are well on the way to making corporate 
sustainability and environmental best practice 
‘business as usual’ within the council. The goals 
associated with corporate sustainability are of 
great interest to the wider community, both locally 
and globally. We are working to create a culture 
of sustainability throughout the organisation, while 
encouraging and educating local businesses, 
our suppliers and other external stakeholders to 
follow our lead. 

Green waste

Sue Garters, Pine Ridge 
maintenance manager, 
getting council assistance 
to recycle the apartment’s 
green waste. The body 
corporate now manages  
this itself.
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Statement of Compliance  
and Responsibility

Compliance

The council and management of North Shore City Council 
confirm that all the statutory requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2002 have been complied with.

Responsibility

The council and management of North Shore City Council 
accept responsibility for the preparation of the Annual 
Financial Statements and the judgements used in them.

The council and management of North Shore City Council 
accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining a 
system of internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial 
reporting.

In the opinion of the council and management of North 
Shore City Council, the Annual Financial Statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2009 fairly reflect the financial position 
and operations of North Shore City Council. 

Mayor
A Williams
26 August 2009

Chief executive
J C Brockies
26 August 2009

Chief financial officer
D A Lott
26 August 2009 
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Audit report

Audit Report to the readers of North Shore City Council and group’s financial statements 
 and Performance Information for the year ended 30 June 2009

The Auditor General is the auditor of North Shore City Council (the City Council) and group. The Auditor General has 
appointed me, John Scott, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit. The audit covers the 
City Council’s compliance with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply to the annual 
report of the City Council and group for the year ended 30 June 2009, including the financial statements.

Unqualified Opinion 

In our opinion: 

·  The financial statements of the City Council and group on pages 146 to 199 that are prepared on a 
dissolution basis:

 ·  comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and

 ·  fairly reflect :

  ·  the City Council and group’s financial position as at 30 June 2009; and

  ·  the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

·  the service provision information of the City Council and group on pages 59 to 143 fairly reflects the levels of service 
provision as measured against the intended levels of service provision adopted, as well as the reasons for any significant 
variances, for the year ended on that date; and

·  the Council has complied with the other requirements of Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002 that apply to the 
annual report (the “other requirements”).

The audit was completed on 26 August 2009, and is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below and refers to the financial statements being appropriately prepared on a 
dissolution basis and the transition to a new local government structure for the Auckland region on 1 November 2010. In 
addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor, and explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion

We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand 
Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements did not have material 
misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 
understanding of the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial statements, performance 
information and the other requirements. We assessed the results of those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

·  determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be relied on to produce complete 
and accurate data;

·  verifying samples of transactions and account balances;

·  performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data;

·  reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Council;

·  confirming year-end balances; 

·  determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and

· determining whether all required disclosures are adequate.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements, performance 
information and the other requirements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements, performance information 
and the other requirements. We obtained all the information and explanations we required to support our opinion above. 

The financial statements are appropriately prepared on a dissolution basis and refer to the new local government 
structure for the Auckland region

In forming our opinion, we considered:

·  the accounting policy on page 153 about the financial statements being prepared on a dissolution basis; and

·  the disclosures in note 32 on page 190 about the Government’s decision to dissolve the City Council and, as a 
consequence, the group, and establish a new local government structure for the Auckland region.
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The Government’s decision includes the dissolution of the City Council and other existing local authorities in the Auckland 
region after 31 October 2010. As a consequence of the dissolution of the City Council the group structure in its current 
form will also cease to exist. In accordance with the Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009, the 
functions, duties and powers of the City Council will become the functions, duties and powers of a single unitary authority 
(the Auckland Council) that will be responsible for governing the entire Auckland region from 1 November 2010.

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s structure and operations including how the systems, plans, 
policies, assets and liabilities of the City Council, including its subsidiaries and the other existing local authorities will be 
vested and integrated. Nevertheless, the City Council and group expects the services currently delivered to continue to be 
delivered by the organisational structure put in place by the Auckland Council, and therefore the assets and liabilities of the 
City Council and group will be relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, no adjustments have been made to the 
financial statements because of the dissolution basis of preparation. We consider the basis of preparation of the financial 
statements and the related disclosures to be appropriate to the City Council and group’s circumstances.

Responsibilities of the Council and the Auditor

The Council is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New 
Zealand. The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the City Council and group as at 30 June 2009. They 
must also fairly reflect the results of operations and cash flows and the levels of service provision for the year ended on that date. 
The Council is also responsible for meeting the other requirements of Schedule 10 and including that information in the annual 
report. The Council’s responsibilities arise from Section 98 and Schedule 10 of the Local Government Act 2002.

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements, performance information and the 
other requirements and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 
and section 99 of the Local Government Act 2002.

Independence

When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. 

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of assurance over the City Council’s selection of the 
site for the Northern Aquatic Centre and a review of the preferred supplier for managed services for business application, 
which are compatible with those independence requirements.

Other than the audit and in conducting the audit of the Long Term Council Community Plan and the assurance related 
assignments, we have no relationship with or interests in the City Council or any of its subsidiaries.

John Scott

Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Auckland, New Zealand
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Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements, Performance Information 
and the Other Requirements

This audit report relates to the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements of North 
Shore City Council and group for the year ended 30 June 2009 included on North Shore City Council and group’s 
website. The North Shore City Council and group’s Council is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of North 
Shore City Council and group’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of North Shore City 
Council and group’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements, performance information and the other requirements since they were initially presented on the website. 

The audit report refers only to the financial statements, performance information and the other requirements named 
above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the 
financial statements, performance information and the other requirements. If readers of this report are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the 
audited financial statements, performance information and the other requirements as well as the related audit report 
dated 26 August 2009 to confirm the information included in the audited summary annual presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.



Promoting 
alternative travel 
options to support 
healthy lifestyles. 



The council is responsible 
for providing a wide range of 
services to the North Shore 
community. These include 
infrastructure, environmental 
management, community 
services, economic 
development, and governance 
and leadership. In this section, 
we look at what we’ve achieved 
over the past financial year and 
the progress we’ve made in a 
number of important areas. We 
also compare this to what was 
planned to be achieved in  
our Annual Plan 2008/09.

Highlights

· Rosedale Wastewater Tunnel and Outfall 
project is progressing well.

·  About 46,505 residents participated in 
environmental programmes.

· 87 per cent of residents are satisfied with the 
city’s beaches and 99 per cent are satisfied 
with its parks.

· 48 per cent of household waste collected is 
diverted from landfill and put to good use.

· 281,763 visits to the library website.

· Hosted over 500 events during the  
2008/09 year.

·  Extensive consultation on the City Plan  
2009-2024.

PART 2 Activity Statements
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Amelia Rose
The $10m tunnel boring machine, Amelia Rose, 
was lowered into a 45-metre deep shaft to start 
burrowing the longest tunnel ever to be dug in 
North Shore City and never to appear again. 

Community outcome
Output area / activity

Wastewater Stormwater Transportation Water Supply

Parks and open spaces

Natural environment

Transport

Built environment

Housing

Personal safety and crime

Community services and facilities

Education and training

Physical activity, sport and personal health

Business and economy

City identity and branding

Employment

Arts and culture

Our people

Heritage

KEY:  Direct contribution  Indirect contribution

Infrastructure

The city’s infrastructure is its 
lifeblood. It enables people 
to have a high quality of life, 
for our environment to be 
protected and businesses to 
operate more effectively. 

Our infrastructure constantly requires renewing 
as it ages, and expanding as the city grows. 
More recently the council has been upgrading the 
infrastructure to improve the city’s environmental 
performance and to protect the environment for 
current and future generations. It is the significant 
activity that uses the most resources and is one 
of our highest priorities. 

Four output areas make up the infrastructure 
significant activity:

Wastewater page 60 
Stormwater page 64 
Transportation page 68 
Water Supply page 76

These output areas contribute to the council’s key outcomes in the following way:

Northern Busway
More and more people are taking advantage of the Northern 
Busway, with about 1.5 million passengers using the Northern 
Express service. Thanks to a bylaw change, the busway can now 
also be used by authorised airport shuttles.
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Overview

Wastewater is collected from about 223,000 
people through private drains leading from 
bathrooms, kitchens, laundries and toilets, and 
also as trade waste from commercial premises. 
This is then piped and pumped through our 
public drain network to our Rosedale Wastewater 
Treatment Plant. After treatment the solid 
wastes are discharged to landfill and the treated 
effluent (liquid) is discharged, through our outfall 
600 metres out to sea off Kennedy Park. A 
few residents have septic tanks which are not 
connected to our network. 

Wastewater

Rosedale tunnel

The tunnel boring machine, Amelia Rose, 
is 9 metres long and is dragging 64 metres 
of back-up equipment behind it, which 
together weigh approximately 150 tonnes.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Neutral Positive

Relatively high economic 
cost to local community

Allows for development  
of land

Relatively high economic 
cost to local community

Extending wastewater 
outfall tunnel

Constantly improving service Increases ability for business 
activity to take place

High quality discharge 
into culturally sensitive 
environments

Low frequency of wet or dry 
weather overflow events

Protects public health

Infrastructure
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Complete detailed designs and initiate the consenting 
process for upgrading works at Birkdale West, Wairau/
Forrest Hill, Northcote/Chatswood and Glenfield/Sunnynook.

These four catchments are still in the investigation and 
concept design phase and have not proceeded to consent 
initiation yet. 

Maintain and upgrade the Rosedale Wastewater Treatment 
Plant. This includes biosolids re-use and the new tunnel and 
outfall to be constructed and operational by 2010.

Utilisation and operations of the Stage 4 upgrade such as 
the UV plant continue. Work progress is on target for the 
new tunnel and outfall, with the outfall now built and tunnel 
construction progressing. The Stage 5 upgrade including 
inlet works and primary sedimentation tanks was completed.

Maintain and upgrade the wastewater network.  
This includes work to reduce inflow and infiltration and 
increase capacity of the network to contain wastewater 
overflows during wet weather.

Maintenance and upgrading activities and efforts to remedy 
defective drainage in public and private systems continue. 
The Birkdale sewer amplification project is progressing 
in stages. Birkdale A was completed, enabling the 
development moratorium in that area to be lifted. Service 
improvement opportunities have been put in place via the 
contract improvement plan.

Manage dry weather performance of the wastewater network 
through sewer pipe renewals, cleaning programmes, trade  
waste control and general operations and maintenance 
activities.

Renewal of pipe assets and pump stations continue, as 
well as implementation of controls and trade waste bylaw 
inspections. 

Continue with Environment Court Appeal against Auckland 
Regional Council (ARC) for conditions imposed on 
Wastewater Network Consents.

The appeals process continues on the ten consents. 
Agreement is imminent on three, and negotiations are close 
to agreement with ARC on another four.

Seek and take continuous improvement and innovation 
opportunities, including those arising from participation 
in benchmarking performance via the Water Services 
Association of Australia and the Auckland Water Industry 
Operator’s annual performance reviews.

An Auckland Water Industry Operator report was completed 
for the 2007/08 year showing that North Shore City offers 
above average service for below average price. A Water 
Services Association of Australia asset management 
benchmarking exercise showed that the city is performing 
well and outstanding in several aspects.

Complete a review of Project CARE, the 20-year programme 
to reduce wet weather overflow events from an average of 
12 per year to two per year by 2021, to enable optimisation 
of the future programme.

An optimisation review of Project CARE was carried out for 
consideration in the City Plan 2009-2024. The results of the 
review were reported to the council at the end of 2008 which 
resulted in the council increasing the budget to complete the 
programme by 2021.

Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Network Consents 
Network consents are being sought from the Auckland 
Regional Council (ARC) for the city’s wastewater network. 
Extensive research is being carried out to help us set higher 
and more sustainable standards that will reduce the impact 
of these systems on our streams, lakes and beaches. The 
resource consent process could affect the levels of service 
and the cost of providing wastewater services but this will not 
be known until completion of the resource consent process. 

 
First stage Integrated Catchment Management Plans  
have been completed and are gradually becoming more 
detailed with greater depth being added to the various 
catchment plans. ARC network consent decisions were 
made in October 2007 and the council has appealed  
some of the decisions. The appeals process is still ongoing. 
It is uncertain how Auckland Governance changes may  
affect this.

Project CARE
Project CARE is our 20-year project to establish and meet 
the community’s beach water quality expectations. Some 
of the city’s sewer network is old and leaky, and is a risk 
to public health. To improve beach water quality we must 
reduce the number of wet weather overflows. Project 
CARE is aiming for a 65 per cent improvement in beach 
water quality by decreasing wet weather overflow events in 
North Shore City from an average of 12 per year to two per 
year. This 20-year design target was adopted in 2001 after 
extensive public consultation.

 
Project CARE work continues towards the target of reducing 
wet weather overflows. Good progress is being made on 
capital, renewal and operational work, including construction 
of large sewers and storage tanks and private sewer 
remediation works in several parts of the city. To date, one 
third of the programme has been completed. An optimisation 
review of Project CARE was carried out for consideration 
and adoption in the City Plan 2009-2024.
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Environmental impact

No abatement notices or prosecutions received. 
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Trade Waste

Compliance of trade waste discharges with consent conditions 
for type A and B customers are inspected annually.
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Wastewater financial information

 
 

Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement

Income 

Targeted rates – sewerage 36,215 35,957 33,932 

User charges 1,085 1,101 1,005 

Operating grants and subsidies 71 78 71 

Development or financial contributions 1,705 4,656 2,469 

Vested assets 756 1,658 1,253 

 39,832 43,450 38,730

Expenditure 

Expenditure 16,499 16,843 16,607 

Finance costs 7,188 8,224 4,315 

Depreciation of infrastructure 13,130 12,864 11,512 

Amortisation of intangibles 451 - - 

 37,268 37,931 32,434

Operating surplus 2,564 5,519 6,296 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement 

Capital and reserves funding requirements: 

Capital expenditure 

New assets 67,986 73,315 42,577 

Renewal of assets 11,530 12,022 10,693 

Vested assets 756 1,658 1,253 

1 80,272 86,995 54,523

Loans repaid 3,387 3,254 1,679 

Total funding required 83,659 90,249 56,202 

Funded by 

Operating surplus 2,564 5,519 6,296 

Funding from non-cash expenses 13,130 12,864 11,512 

Loans raised 67,965 71,866 38,394 

Total funding of capital 83,659 90,249 56,202 
 
(1)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 

Capital Projects.
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Stormwater
Overview

Stormwater is rain that does not soak into the 
ground and runs off surfaces on our properties 
such as roofs, gardens and concrete driveways 
and from the roads in our city. It ends up in our 
streams and flows onto our beaches and into 
our harbour. The Local Government Act 2002 
requires councils to maintain the capacity of the 
existing stormwater services, as a minimum, 
while promoting sustainable development overall.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Neutral Neutral Neutral Neutral

Relatively high economic 
cost to local community

Allows for greater density of 
development

Relatively high economic 
cost to local community

Low flooding events

Constantly improving service Increase in development Constantly improving service Loss of traditional 
waterways

Infrastructure

Repairing stormwater pipe

Paul Jones, stormwater operations 
engineer, with contractors digging to repair 
a collapsed stormwater pipe found by 
CCTV inspection.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Network Consents 

Network consents are being sought from the Auckland 
Regional Council (ARC) for the city’s wastewater network. 
Extensive research is being carried out to help us set higher 
and more sustainable standards that will reduce the impact 
of these systems on our streams, lakes and beaches.  
The resource consent process could affect the levels of 
service and the cost of providing wastewater services but 
this will not be known until completion of the resource 
consent process. 

 

First stage Integrated Catchment Management Plans  
have been completed and are gradually becoming more 
detailed with greater depth being added to the various 
catchment plans. ARC network consent decisions were 
made in October 2007 and the council has appealed some 
of the decisions. The appeals process continues on the  
ten consents, although agreement is imminent on three,  
and negotiations are close to agreement with ARC on 
another four.

Review of Stormwater Strategy

Reviewing our Stormwater Strategy will guide our ongoing 
programme to upgrade the stormwater network. Significant 
investment is planned to tackle flooding and erosion, 
and to fix stormwater quality problems and to establish 
the willingness to pay for these outcomes compared to 
competing priorities.

 

Ongoing capital works and operations activities are being 
conducted. Several notified District Plan changes have 
progressed but the commissioners have sought an extension 
of time for a final decision to be made in the next few 
months. Infrastructure Design Standards have been refined. 
Some community-based stream restoration pilot projects are 
being implemented.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Maintain and upgrade the existing stormwater system to 
reduce the effects of flooding and erosion, and to ensure that 
stream and beach water quality meet agreed standards.

Ongoing maintenance and operations continue to 
reduce actual and potential flooding and erosion. Service 
improvements are being made through a contract 
improvement plan.

Continue with Environment Court appeal against Auckland 
Regional Council (ARC) for conditions imposed on 
Stormwater Network Consents.

The appeals process continues on the ten consents. 
Agreement is imminent on three and negotiations are close 
to agreement with ARC on another four.

Further develop the Integrated Catchment Management 
Plans to incorporate final resource consent requirements, 
including updated climate change projections and a 
reflection of the stormwater strategy as it evolves.

Integrated catchment management plans continue to be 
developed in anticipation of settling final resource consent 
requirements.

Develop systems to deliver the stormwater strategy 
objectives, such as the protection and enhancement of the 
environment, and to comply with the final resource consent 
requirements.

Refinement of the stormwater programme was carried out 
for the City Plan 2009-2024. A review of the stormwater 
bylaw was consulted on. A report on the on-site treatment 
device options was presented to the Infrastructure and 
Environment Committee.

Seek and take continuous improvement and innovation 
opportunities, including those arising from participation in 
benchmarking performance via the Auckland Water Industry 
Operator’s annual performance review.

An Auckland Water Industry Operator report was completed 
for the 2007/08 year showing North Shore City offers above 
average service for below average price. A Water Services 
Association of Australia asset management benchmarking 
exercise showed that the city is performing well and 
outstanding in several aspects.

Stream management reporting. Two pilot public/private stream restoration projects were 
conducted during the year, and were reported on to the 
Infrastructure and Environment Committee. Some additional 
‘streamwalk’ stream condition surveys were conducted 
to supplement the extensive stream surveys previously 
undertaken.

Stormwater monitoring. The programme of monitoring stormwater treatment and 
improving the management of treatment ponds continued to 
develop further in scale and scope.
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Level of service provision

Residents and businesses are satisfied with the council’s 
handling of requests for service

A contractor was issued a fine for inappropriate handling of concrete 
cutting. All council stormwater contractors have been notified to ensure 
that it will not happen again.

Environmental impact

Target: No abatement notices or prosecutions received. 
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There was a change in contractor in the middle of 2007/08 and due to an 
error in recording, the percentage of this measure dropped significantly. In 
2008/09, the recording of work done returned to normal.
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note:  Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Stormwater financial information
 
 

Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating performance

Income   

General rates and other revenue 10,970 11,337 9,864 

User charges 27 35 48 

Operating grants and subsidies 227 283 227 

Capital grants and subsidies - 250 94 

Development or financial contributions 505 1,113 944 

Vested assets 809 2,210 2,669 

12,538 15,228 13,846

Expenditure   

Expenditure 6,151 6,518 6,144 

Finance costs 1,887 2,260 1,688 

Depreciation of infrastructure 5,813 5,517 5,060 

13,851 14,295 12,892

Operating (deficit)/surplus (1,313) 933 954 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement 

Capital and reserves funding requirements:   

Capital expenditure   

New assets 6,008 6,199 7,062 

Renewal of assets 2,078 1,757 1,511 

Vested assets 809 2,210 2,669 

1 8,895 10,166 11,242 

Loans repaid 1,093 1,120 796 

Operating deficit 1,313 - - 

Total funding required 11,301 11,286 12,038 

Funded by   

Operating surplus - 933 954 

Funding from non-cash expenses 5,813 5,517 5,060 

Loans raised 5,488 4,836 6,024 

Total funding of capital 11,301 11,286 12,038 

(1)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 
Capital Projects.
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Transportation
Overview

The council manages and maintains the  
city’s transport network in terms of the Local 
Government Act 2002. Planning and 
administration of the transport system, including 
integration with the national road network,  
is carried out in-house. Implementation of 
physical works is primarily contracted out.

North Shore City is growing rapidly and, with 
it, transport demands that put pressure on 
the transport network, the city’s environment, 
its safety and convenience. Pressure on the 
transport network is clearly evident in increased 
traffic congestion and public transport demand. 
The council recognises the need for a multi- 
modal approach to provide for and promote 
alternatives to car travel to reduce the effects  
of congestion and car usage. At the same  
time it also recognises the need to continue 
providing for road traffic in newly developing 
areas, and for maintaining and improving the 
existing road network.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Neutral Positive Neutral Neutral

Ease of use of transport 
networks 

High rates of personal and 
business mobility

Ease of use on transport 
networks 

Commitment to alternatives 
to car travel

High rate of private car 
ownership

High rate of private car 
ownership

Increased air and water 
pollution

Infrastructure

Road safety

Angie Cheong, road safety coordinator and Jamie Adkins, 
sustainable transport coordinator, promote road safety 
in Northcote. North Shore City is the safest city in New 
Zealand on which to use roads with the lowest death and 
serious injury rate based on population.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09  
(as per City Blueprint Action Plan) Actions / achievements

Transport safety

The council is committed to improving transport safety, 
and will continue to work closely with the Police, the Land 
Transport Safety Authority and other agencies to strive for 
the best possible safety outcomes for North Shore City.

Principal features of the council’s draft Road Safety  
Strategy are:

· Crash reduction and prevention strategy;

· Asset Management Plan;

· Education;

· Enforcement; and

· Risk identification, evaluation and management.

The council will update its Road Safety Strategy annually, in 
consultation with the Land Transport Safety Authority, Police 
and other safety agencies and stakeholders.

To implement the strategy, the council is establishing and will 
operate a Safety Management System (SMS).

 

The council commissioned audits of crash cluster sites and 
bends that were identified as high risk. These audits will 
identify the work that is needed to reduce accidents. A trial 
is under way to test vehicle activated signs on two sites as a 
means of reducing accidents.

A safety implementation plan was developed with partner 
agencies and is being delivered.

The Safety Management System is in place and is published 
on the council intranet.

Bus travel

Many council staff take part in 
TravelWise and use alternative 
forms of transport to get to 
and from work. Pictured are 
Antony Andradi, asset systems 
engineer and Stuart Trounson, 
asset systems analyst, 
catching the bus home from 
Smales Farm bus station.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09  
(as per City Blueprint Action Plan) Actions / achievements

Northern Busway and other public transport measures

The Northern Busway is a joint project with Transit  
New Zealand, Auckland Regional Council and Auckland City 
Council.

Investigation, planning and implementation for bus priority 
measures (such as dedicated bus lanes, joint bus/high 
occupancy vehicle lanes, priority signalling at traffic lights) will 
occur over the next three years.

 

Bus priority measures were completed in East Coast Road, 
from Sunnyside Road to Forrest Hill Road, and in Forrest Hill 
Road, from Quebec Road to Nile Road.

Planning is completed and a contract in place for a further 
60 bus shelters to be installed across the city during 2009 to 
2011.

Priority signalling and real-time passenger information 
systems at some bus stops have already been installed.

Walking and cycling

After widespread public consultation, a citywide Cycle Plan 
was approved by the council in 2003. The plan identified 
areas where cycle lanes and cycle paths could be built. It 
also set out actions to promote and support cycling and 
cycle safety. 

Investigation and planning of new cycle facilities is now 
under way. Following a similar format to the Cycle Plan, a 
North Shore Walking Strategy will be developed by the end 
of 2008. 

Over the next three years, $1.6m has been directly allocated 
for expenditure on cycle and pedestrian facilities.

 

A comprehensive review of the Cycling Strategy was 
completed and this included some changes to the Strategic 
Cycle network. Planning and design continued for off-road 
cycle paths in Albany and on East Coast Road.

Support programmes promoting cycling and education 
training programmes included:

· Bikewise Week;

· Kids Bike Day; and

· Bike to School programme.

The Walking Strategy was completed and adopted by 
the council.

Travel demand initiatives

The aim of these initiatives is to decrease the relative use 
of private motor vehicles in North Shore City. In addition to 
supporting walking, cycling and public transport strategies, 
initiatives to decrease travel demand include:

· Reducing the demand for travel;

· Spreading the demand for travel; and

· Encouraging flexible and staggered working hours.

Implementing the School TravelWise programme and 
encouraging business travel plans are key travel demand 
initiatives.

 

Travel demand and travel behaviour change initiatives are 
integrated into the planning for corridor upgrades, and are 
also considered as non-asset options to resolve known 
issues.

The 101st Walking School Bus route in North Shore City was 
celebrated during the year and work continues on school 
travel planning.

The North Harbour industrial area and Waitemata District 
Health Board are two areas well advanced on business  
travel plans.

Managing existing transport assets

The management of existing transport assets focuses on 
providing a level of service acceptable to the users while 
preserving the assets to ensure long-term sustainability. 
Management activities include operation, maintenance, 
renewal, and upgrading and improvement of the network.

The city’s transport Asset Management Plan (AMP) provides 
the basis for managing the network. Current operation, 
maintenance and renewal activities of the transport asset 
network cost around $20m per year. Reseal and pavement 
rehabilitation costs account for about 35 per cent of this total.

 

Asset renewal activities, including streetlights, road surface 
reseals, footpath and kerb and channel work are progressing 
well with very good response performance achieved from our 
call centre, staff and contractors for service requests.

Pilot studies of different road seals, reuse of roading material 
waste and new energy efficient LED street lighting were also 
carried out this year. 
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09  
(as per City Blueprint Action Plan) Actions / achievements

Bus priority works

These measures aim to provide better bus shelters, Park 
and Ride bus stations, and information about bus services, 
plus an ongoing programme of bus priority measures around 
the city to reduce travel times for public transport which will 
complement our Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project.

Bus priority measures were completed in East Coast Road, 
from Sunnyside Road to Forrest Hill Road, and in Forrest Hill 
Road, from Quebec Road to Nile Road.

Planning is completed and a contract in place for a further 
60 bus shelters to be installed across the city from 2009 
to 2011.

Road improvements programme

The following major council transport projects have already 
been approved by the council for investigation and/or 
construction:

· Taharoto Road/Wairau Road/Shakespeare Road 
upgrading;

· Glendhu Road widening;

· Glenfield Road widening;

· Onewa Road (Lake Road to Sylvan Avenue) upgrading;

· Esmonde Road widening and Fred Thomas Drive 
extension; and

·  A new road from the junction of Coliseum Drive and 
SH17 to the Albany Highway developed jointly with 
Massey University.

The council may purchase extra land for future roading 
projects if necessary and if it becomes available.

 

Work on these projects continues and they are included 
in the City Plan 2009-2024. The Esmonde Road project 
is complete, as is the Shakespeare Road/Taharoto Road 
intersection. Work commenced on upgrading the section 
of Taharoto Road between Shakespeare Road and Shea 
Terrace. On Glenfield Road, work was completed around the 
Manuka Road intersection.

Parking strategies

Developing parking strategies for key commercial centres to 
ensure adequate parking is available to support their vitality 
and viability. We are currently preparing a parking strategy for 
Takapuna.

 

The final parking strategy for Takapuna was adopted by the 
council in early 2008 and changes to Pay and Display and 
on-street time restrictions implemented by late 2008.

The final parking plan for Devonport was adopted in 
2008 following extensive consultation. Changes to the 
management of public parking were implemented in 2008.

A parking plan for Highbury town centre was adopted in 
2009. Actions to be implemented include investigating 
improvements to loading zones, and improving signage and 
upgrading lighting for the Rawene Road council car park.

Development of a parking plan for the Albany Centre is  
under way.

Retaining wall

Sunil Kariyawasam, asset management 
engineer and Hemant Maharaj, network 
team leader, check the new retaining wall on 
Huka Rd, Birkenhead that was constructed 
to secure the road after a landslip following 
extreme weather.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Improve transport safety. Ongoing work continues across a range of areas in the Road 
Safety Action Plan to develop solutions to local safety issues. 
This includes blackspot accident site investigations and road 
engineering improvements, and education campaigns with ACC, 
international students, cyclists and others.

Safety is integrated into the design of all transport projects, and 
safety audits of designs are completed.

Implement approved transport corridor investigations  
and projects.

Various corridor investigations, modelling and construction works 
are being progressed including the Taharoto Road/Wairau Road 
corridor upgrade, Albany Highway, East Coast Road and the 
section of Glenfield Road between James Street (south) and 
Sunset Road. 

Operate the Northern Busway and implement supporting 
services/facilities.

The Northern Busway operated efficiently and within budget, 
with a large increase in passengers, about 1.5 million passengers 
on the Northern Express service alone. Operations, cleaning and 
customer service at the stations are working well. The Busway 
Bylaw was amended to allow use of the busway by authorised 
airport shuttles.

The busway and all Park and Ride, and Kiss and Ride stations 
are operating well. Bus priority roadworks continue across the 
network, along with advocacy on appropriate bus routes to 
integrate the best transport connections with the busway.

Increase and expand initiatives to manage traffic demand. Surveys and improved traffic models have been developed to 
support initiatives to manage traffic flows by road design, traffic 
signals and prioritisation, and travel planning with schools and 
businesses. One area progressing with businesses is the North 
Harbour Industrial area, with Devonport planning under way.

A corridor management approach is being taken on corridor 
upgrade projects to assist in managing travel demand.

Manage existing transport assets. The level of service (LOS) statements have specific links to 
the community outcomes and they are presented in the Asset 
Management Plan (AMP). 

2008/09 operation, maintenance and renewals activities of the 
transport asset network cost around $36m, from which the 
reseal and rehabilitation component was $11.3m, about 32 per 
cent. Operational and maintenance works were completed as 
per the agreed programmes. The significant programmes carried 
out in 2008/09 were:

· Reseal programme – 44km (368,551sqm);

· Rehabilitation programme – 3.4km (39,895sqm);

· Footpath maintenance and renewals – 8.25km concrete and 
2.3km asphalt concrete; and

· Kerb and channel maintenance and renewals – 5km.

Emergency works included significant embankment and retaining 
wall works at Huka Road, Mulberry Place and Okura River Road. 
All these were completed in May 2009.

Implement the city’s Cycle Plan and develop the city’s 
Walking Strategy.

The council adopted the new North Shore City Cycling Strategy 
2009, and this will allow stand alone projects to proceed 
according to its guidelines. A Walking Strategy was  
also completed.

Provide complementary infrastructure for ferry terminals. A process is under way to purchase land next to Stanley Bay 
Wharf to allow upgrading of access to the wharf. Upgrades to 
the Bayswater and Beach Haven Ferry facilities, which are the 
responsibility of Auckland Regional Transport Authority, remain 
on hold.
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Level of service provision

The council continued to work on known issues such as uneven surfaces, 
potholes and rough road chips. While the desired target was not reached, 
the improvement in satisfaction levels reflects the work that was put in over 
the past year. The council constantly looks at ways to improve the condition 
of roads.
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Residents and businesses are satisfied 
with the condition of roads

The council continued to work on known issues such as uneven surfaces 
and enforcement of the Encroachment Policy. While the desired target was 
not reached, the improvement in satisfaction levels reflects the work that 
was put in over the past year. 
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The council continued to work on improving safety in the city by focusing 
on crash black spots with road safety campaigns (local billboards, targeted 
police enforcement, and publicity) and conducting crash reduction studies 
to find cost-effective engineering countermeasures. We are also targeting 
our identified road safety issues through a Road Safety Action Plan.

Safety

North Shore City accident record ranking against the other nine 
metropolitan councils, measured on the basis of the number of 
crashes per 10,000 residents (based on Land Transport New 
Zealand annual statistics).

2007/08 2008/09

Target Ranking    Best    Best

Actual Ranking   Fourth   Third
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are actioned within set timeframes
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note:  Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Transportation financial information

 
 

Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement    

Income    

General rates and other revenue 39,485 38,579 34,895 

User charges 4,535 4,000 3,267 

Property income 222 265 235 

Operating grants and subsidies 1,514 1,539 1,563 

Operating subsidy – Land Transport New Zealand 7,789 8,337 7,003 

Capital grants and subsidies 401 - 21,900 

Capital subsidy – Land Transport New Zealand 13,447 22,988 15,273 

Development or financial contributions 2,660 3,356 3,711 

Vested assets 2,481 8,842 5,625 

72,534 87,906 93,472 

Expenditure

 

Expenditure 33,618 32,629 28,812 

Finance costs 5,816 6,481 5,660 

Depreciation of infrastructure 16,132 16,120 14,553 

Depreciation of fixed assets 148 372 282 

55,714 55,602 49,307 

Operating surplus 16,820 32,304 44,165 

  

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement  

Capital and reserves funding requirements:  

Capital expenditure  

New assets 1 19,745 44,023 48,719 

Renewal of assets 16,260 17,164 14,360 

Vested assets 2,481 8,842 5,625 

2 38,486 70,029 68,704

Loans repaid 3,502 2,906 2,768 

Total funding required 41,988 72,935 71,472 

Funded by

 

Operating surplus 16,820 32,304 44,165 

Funding from non-cash expenses 16,280 16,492 14,835 

Loans raised 8,888 24,139 12,472 

Total funding of capital 41,988 72,935 71,472 

(1)  The reduction in capital expenditure on new assets in 2008/09 compared to the plan is mainly due to the completion  
of some projects being carried forward to 2009/10.

   
(2)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 

Capital Projects.
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Water Supply
Overview

The council purchases potable (fit to drink) water 
from Watercare Services Limited, which sources 
and treats it for the Auckland region. We then 
store and deliver potable water through our pipe 
network to meters on every property connected 
to the city’s pipe system. These then connect 
through private pipes to the tap for use by over 
223,000 people. A few people use rain tanks and 
are not connected to our network.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Neutral Positive

Grade ‘a’ drinking water Healthy population Iwi involved in issues 
surrounding water supply

Commitment to water 
conservation initiatives

Continuous supply Committed investment  
in network

Commitment to reduce 
water losses

Infrastructure

Fire hydrant flushing

She-See Tan, water supply operations manager with Joe Neho from 
North Shore Services operating a fire hydrant. Hydrant flushing is 
essential to the safe and efficient operation of the water supply 
network. The water is carefully discharged to the road channel and 
is almost a daily event to fix water quality problems following a 
complaint of bad taste or dirty water, or following a main break to 
remove air and ensure the main is clean.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Water supply strategy

A water supply strategy will be developed from an 
assessment of the options that are available to meet current 
and future demand for water. It will ensure the network 
is managed efficiently and effectively and will promote 
sustainable supply and use of water.

 

A more integrated approach to investigating three waters 
security of supply and water demand management continue, 
both at the local level and at the regional level. Implementation 
of opportunities identified in regional water attitudes and 
behaviour surveys, and the Regional Three Waters Strategy 
project is under way.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Maintain and upgrade the existing water supply system  
to ensure a continued high quality of water.

Ongoing operations, maintenance and upgrades are on track 
and service improvements are being investigated.

Develop systems to deliver water supply strategy objectives 
such as conserving water and reducing system losses while 
maintaining the required quantity and availability of water.

Work was undertaken to further our understanding of water 
use including new water bills and regional water demand 
forecasting within homes and businesses.

Implement initiatives under the Water Supply Demand 
Management Action Plan.

Several initiatives were undertaken including a joint water 
savings tips communication poster and newspaper campaign 
with Metrowater, Manukau Water and Waitakere City Council.

Seek and take continuous improvement and innovation 
opportunities including those arising from participation 
in benchmarking performance with the Waste Services 
Association of Australia and the Auckland Water Industry 
Operator’s annual performance review.

An Auckland Water Industry Operator report was completed 
for the 2007/08 year showing North Shore City offered above 
average service for below average price. A Water Services 
Association of Australia asset management benchmarking 
exercise showed the city as performing well and outstanding 
in several aspects.

Level of service provision

Water supply quality

2007/08 2008/09

Network      a      a

Where - Grade Description

a Completely satisfactory
Negligible level of risk
Demonstrably high quality
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Residents and businesses are satisfied with the council’s 
handling of requests for service
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Residents and businesses are satisfied with 
the overall water supply service
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Water supply is restored within two hours 
of reported loss of supply
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Water Supply financial information

Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income   

Targeted rates – water supply 20,527 21,347 21,320 

User charges 213 190 6 

Development or financial contributions 212 547 307 

Vested assets 232 1,077 399 

Water connection fees 278 797 534 

21,462 23,958 22,566 

Expenditure

  

Expenditure 16,619 17,572 15,566 

Finance costs 134 173 133 

Depreciation of infrastructure 4,212 3,743 3,543 

20,965 21,488 19,242 

Operating surplus 497 2,470 3,324 

  

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement   

Capital and reserves funding requirements:   

Capital expenditure   

New assets 2,199 2,678 3,241 

Renewal of assets 2,767 2,756 2,589 

Vested assets 232 1,077 399 

1 5,198 6,511 6,229 

Loans repaid 75 85 69 

Transfers to general and special reserves - - 569 

Total funding required 5,273 6,596 6,867 

Funded by

  

Operating surplus 497 2,470 3,324 

Funding from non-cash expenses 4,212 3,743 3,543 

Loans raised 564 383 - 

Total funding of capital 5,273 6,596 6,867 
  

(1)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 
Capital Projects.
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Environmental Management

Many people come to live and 
work on the North Shore because 
of the lifestyle and environment 
the city offers. We need to make 
sure the qualities that make our 
city special are protected and 
enhanced – now and for the future.

By identifying the type of city we want, the council can plan 
the future of our city, enhancing its environmental features 
and heritage. Controls for development and bylaws make 
sure the special qualities of our city are preserved while 
monitoring the health of our environment.

As our population increases and urban development 
intensifies, further pressures are placed on our environment. 
Because of these pressures the council’s environmental 
management activity has become more important. Four 
output areas make up the environmental management 
significant activity:

Environmental Policy and Planning page 82 
Environmental Consents and Compliance page 89 
Environmental Protection page 93 
Waste Minimisation page 98

Enviroschool
Bayview Primary School wins a silver Enviroschools award for its environmentally friendly 
initiatives including a newly planted orchard, veggie garden, rainwater tank and compost 
system. Pictured is Glenda Unga, 9, one of the environmental leaders at the Glenfield 
school. Photo courtesy: Ben Watson, North Shore Times.

Drain painting 
Drain painting projects help to convey important 
environmental messages.

Community outcome

Output area / activity

Environmental 
Policy and 
Planning

Environmental 
Consents and 
Compliance

Environmental 
Protection

Waste  
Minimisation

Parks and open spaces

Natural environment

Transport

Built environment

Housing

Personal safety and crime

Community services and facilities

Education and training

Physical activity, sport and personal health

Business and economy

City identity and branding

Employment

Arts and culture

Our people

Heritage

KEY:  Direct contribution  Indirect contribution

These output areas contribute to the council’s key outcomes in the following way:
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Overview

This output area is concerned with planning and 
managing the city’s environment. This is done 
through planning for change and growth, regional 
and city growth management, city development 
and urban design. It also includes engaging with 
the community about economic, environmental, 
cultural and social issues, developing policies  
and guidelines for development, developing  
the District Plan and coordinating asset 
management planning.

The Resource Management Act requires 
the council to manage the environment in a 
sustainable manner to protect and enhance it. 
North Shore City, in line with the rest of Auckland, 
has experienced rapid population growth over the 
past ten years and this is expected to continue. 
The council manages relationships, develops 
and maintains partnerships and priorities, and 
balances competing needs so that we are well 
informed on matters that affect the city in a local, 
regional and national context.

In planning for the city’s future growth, it 
is necessary to manage the demands for 
infrastructure and facilities. We need to identify 
what sort of city we want in the future and the 
kind of housing that should be provided. We need 
to protect and enhance the city’s environmental 
features and ensure land use zoning, transport 
and infrastructure capacities support one 
another. Better planning for intensive housing 
environments and funding for infrastructure are 
used to help us create attractive, high quality 
places to live, work and play.

Environmental Policy 
and Planning

Environmental Management

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Positive Positive

Town centre planning Sustainable transport 
options

Annual Heritage Week District Plan and urban 
design protocols

Protection of heritage Sustainable infrastructure 
policies

Commitment to cultural 
awareness

Commitment to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions

Community planning

Community planning workshops are a great 
way to involve the local community and get 
their input into the development of local 
town centres. Pictured are Julie Francombe, 
Catherine Edmeades and Roger Eccles.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Apartments development review and good solutions guide. The Good Solutions Guide for Apartments was published 
and completed in 2008.

Bayswater Marina land structure plan. Environment court decision in favour of the council. This 
decision was appealed to the High Court by Bayswater 
Marina Holdings Limited and the hearing will be in August 
2009.

Bus Rapid Transport (BRT) station integration. Project advanced to opportunities assessment and is a 
priority for future work.

Centre Plans review and implementation. Northcote Centre Plan project scope endorsed, research 
base developed and development opportunity assessment 
prepared for joint central/local government initiatives.

Sunnynook Centre Plan research and project  
scope prepared.

Albany Village, Browns Bay, Devonport and Highbury centre 
plans are being implemented with a range of District Plan 
changes, strategic site acquisitions, development projects 
and strategic infrastructure capital works programme.

Centres review. Centres review progressed with preparation of a template 
report as a guide to future plans. Stocktake of centres under 
way, and centres strategy scoping completed.

City Blueprint plan change. On hold pending the outcome of the Local Government 
Auckland Amendment Act 2002 (LGAAA) appeals to the 
Auckland Regional Policy Statement (ARPS).

Devonport Peninsula land use and transport study. Technical study nearing completion.

Heritage programme. Decision released on Plan Change 21 strengthening heritage 
controls. Heritage Strategy proposed with implementation 
plan for launch from July 2009.

Highbury commercial centre project. Plan change in preparation for redevelopment; strategic 
open space investigations under way, concept design  
for main street about to begin and service lane contract  
in preparation.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Long Bay Structure Plan. Favourable Environment Court decision in July 2008. Land 
use strategy endorsed leading to drafting of final District  
Plan provisions.

Open space in and around centres study. Preliminary research completed. Parks department to 
start work to identify criteria and types of open space in 
and around centres, and acquisition and development 
programme and funding.

Protected natural areas study. Re-survey of sites of ecological significance commenced. 
Fieldwork due for completion by June 2010.

Review of infill development – stormwater and stream 
protection.

Hearings completed. Drafting of decision notices  
almost complete.

Review of infill development – suburban character areas. Nine appeals received, eight of which have been resolved. 
Negotiations continuing with final appellant.

Review residential development in Greenfield areas. Plan Change 32 notified to re-zone sites in the vicinity of Gills 
Road, Albany.

Rural character and greenbelt study. Project in research phase, monitoring changes to landscape 
and character in peri-urban areas.

Sustainable cities action plan. Sustainable cities programme completed in 2007.

Takapuna Strategic Study.** Strategic framework being drafted for public and sector 
group consultation in 2009/10. Components and precinct 
work completed including a retail strategy, town centre 
monitoring, streetscape assessment, strategic site 
development briefs and preliminary precinct planning for 
Hurstmere Road to The Strand and Takapuna north. Anzac 
Street West precinct plan nearing completion, leading to a 
District Plan change to significantly increase development 
potential in this area.

Three waters development and good solutions guide. Three waters development advanced but overtaken by 
transition to Watercare Services Limited, a council controlled 
organisation (CCO).

Transport pollution study. This project is on hold as we are waiting for further progress 
on the Corridors Strategy before dealing with the pollution 
component. Auckland Regional Council took over the main 
function of managing air pollution from the council in 2007. 
Various studies are being done regionally that will feed into 
the next Regional Land Transport Strategy.

Urban Design protocol action plan. Urban design code and plan change prepared for centre 
business zones; urban design clinic and panel investigated 
but on hold; urban design briefing and review of key 
capital projects under way; street design plans for centres 
under way; urban design training continuing for staff and 
councillors; and urban design web page developed  
and maintained. 

**This strategic priority has been renamed; it was previously identified as the Takapuna Fringe Project.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Community outcomes monitoring and triennial reporting. Community outcomes monitoring report called State of 
the City was completed in October 2008. Report available 
publicly in all city libraries and on the council website.

A series of workshops were held with external agency 
representatives to determine strategic priorities for the  
City Plan 2009-2024 in relation to the delivery of  
community outcomes.

Monitor and report on the state of the environment. Input of District Plan indicators into the State of the 
Environment/City Report. Review undertaken of coastal 
oblique photographs for changes to coastline since 1993.

Plan for protection of significant natural areas. Re-survey of sites of ecological significance commenced. 
Information gained will determine the appropriate planning 
response.

Implement education and awareness of environmental 
issues.

Produced District Plan rates inserts (overview, environmental 
issues and urban design) to increase awareness.

Develop and implement centre plans and structure plans. The rolling review of centres continued over the year. 
Favourable Environment Court decision on Long Bay 
Structure Plan. Progression of mixed-use plan change for 
Albany Village and Browns Bay.

Takapuna Strategic Study. Takapuna Strategic Framework is in the final stages of being 
drafted. It sets out an over-arching direction for growth in 
Takapuna for the next 30 years. Broad public consultation 
will begin in September 2009.

Collaborate with national and regional authorities on 
transport land use integration.

Work continuing with Auckland Regional Council (ARC) 
and other councils in Auckland on an integrated future land 
use and transport scenario for the region. Includes Ministry 
for the Environment and Land Transport New Zealand 
involvement. Region-wide mediation with appellants to 
Auckland Regional Policy Statement LGAAA appeals. 

Continue to develop social policy around land use planning. As part of our ongoing social policy development, the social 
implications were considered as part of the review of the City 
Blueprint and incorporated into the City Plan 2009-2024, 
City Direction Module 2.

Develop policies for social issues such as gambling venues. Revised Gambling Venue Policy adopted December 2008.

Alcohol Plan scoped and councillor workshop held in  
March 2009.

Review of implementation of the Prostitution Bylaw 
completed in May 2009.

Collaborate with council divisions in city development. Urban design briefing and review for key capital projects. 
Centre plans in preparation are cross-divisional projects. 
Strategic corridors project integrates transport and land use 
planning.

Collaborate with other government agencies on community 
safety initiatives.

Shore Safe Steering Group facilitation with Accident 
Compensation Corporation (ACC) and the Ministry of Health. 
World Health Organisation Accreditation maintained.

Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with New Zealand 
Police maintained with regular officer liaison meetings.

Ministry of Justice discretionary funding of $30,000 obtained 
for graffiti prevention project.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Promote an urban design action plan and urban design 
panel.

Urban design action plan continues to be rolled out. Urban 
design panel investigated but on hold.

Review trends of land use and development to test policy 
effectiveness.

State of the City Report released which included a 
comparison of results and indicators against District Plan 
expected environmental outcomes. 
See www.northshorecity.govt.nz (keywords: state of the city) 
for the full report.

Participate with iwi in environmental policy and planning. Consulted with iwi on District Plan changes and strategies 
through hui and transitional iwi liaison panel.

Implement Settlement Support and the Auckland Regional 
Settlement Strategy (ARSS).

Representation on Regional Strategy Governance Group and 
local government work strand. 

ARSS annual action plan renewed. 

Successful delivery of the Settlement Support New Zealand 
contract with the Department.

Migrant services hub established in Northcote.

Continue implementation of Northcote Central project. Planning, design, consenting and construction started 
on first new Housing New Zealand housing in Tonar 
Street, Northcote. Process for developing a master plan 
framework for the large ‘eastern area’ under way, including 
an implementation plan. Partnership and steering group 
meetings continuing. Town centre (business area) plan  
under way.

Review City Blueprint. City Blueprint review undertaken with stakeholder 
consultation. Outcomes included as Module 2 of the City 
Plan 2009-2024.

Develop a built heritage strategy. Proposed North Shore Heritage Strategy completed. 
Implementation plan ready to begin July 2009.

Continue to develop a strategic approach to partnering with 
external agencies.

Coordinated delivery of Memorandum of Understandings 
(MoUs) with government agencies:

· New Zealand Police

· Fire Service

· Royal New Zealand Navy

· Accident Compensation Corporation

· Auckland University of Technology

· Massey University

· Millennium Institute of Sport and Health

· North Shore Pasifika Forum (new).
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Level of service provision

Two new agreements signed by the council with New Zealand Fire Service 
in June 2008 and North Shore Pasifika Forum in October 2008. Four 
partnership agreements were allowed to lapse, including Land Transport 
New Zealand, New Zealand Police, Waitemata District Health Board and the 
Ministry of Social Development, following the publication of the 2008 State 
of the City Report. It became apparent that a formal partnership agreement 
was no longer required for the council to obtain public information in order 
to monitor the community outcomes.

Improved performance in 2008/09 was a result of two of the three plan 
changes progressing in a straight-forward manner. In the previous two 
years, plan changes were placed on hold for some time during their 
progress, awaiting further information or other processes to catch up, and 
therefore did not get completed within the target of nine months.

Residents have a sense of pride in the look and feel of their city
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The council has decided not to pursue some of these projects as they 
will not meet the needs of the city, and due to the impending transition to 
Auckland Council.   
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Percentage of agreed urban design protocol action plan 
projects implemented

Residents and businesses are satisfied 
with the natural environment
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Number of formal partners engaged in progressing the 
community outcomes
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Number of originally excluded District Plan items made 
operative (total 19 items)
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Percentage of small and medium plan changes determined 
within nine months of original notification
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Total operating expenditure per rateable property
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income   

General rates and other revenue 8,008 7,593 7,377 

User charges 104 237 99 

Operating grants and subsidies 100 100 148 

 8,212 7,930 7,624 

Expenditure

 

Expenditure 8,212 7,930 7,624

 8,212 7,930 7,624 

Operating surplus - - - 

There is no capital expenditure for this activity.
 

Environmental Policy and Planning financial information
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Environmental Consents 
and Compliance

Overview

The city’s beaches, native bush areas and open 
spaces create an attractive environment for 
people to live, work and play. All development in 
the city needs to be sensitive to the city’s natural 
and built environment, and the city’s heritage 
features. Attractive and innovative development 
can create appealing places for living, working 
and shopping, enhancing the character and 
environment of the city.

Environmental consents control the type of 
development in the city by implementing 
the provisions of the District Plan, Resource 
Management Act and the Building Act. They 
ensure development complies with health 
and safety standards and seek to achieve 
the outcomes sought in the District Plan. The 
council assesses consents against the District 
Plan’s desired outcomes and monitors approved 
development. Where necessary, enforcement 
powers are used to ensure compliance.

To assist people with information on the District 
Plan, property information and the consenting 
process, a comprehensive information service 
is provided both on the web and in person. 
The council has chosen to provide this service 
through in-house expertise.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Neutral Neutral Neutral Positive

Promote responsible 
development

Promote responsible 
development

Protection of heritage and 
indigenous sites

Regulates and offsets 
adverse effects on the 
environment

Regulate and monitor 
development outcomes

Regulate and monitor 
development outcomes

Promotes environmental 
sustainability

Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Building Consent Authority accreditation

Obtain accreditation through the Department of Building and 
Housing.

 

The building department maintained its Building Consent 
Authority (BCA) accreditation. There were further legislative 
changes that were incorporated into the quality assurance 
framework. 

Best Practice

Strive for best practice throughout the consents and 
compliance activities.

 

There was continuous development of the business 
excellence framework in the consents and compliance area. 

Environmental Management

Building compliance

Kareema Fuard, compliance and monitoring 
officer, checking to ensure that building 
regulations are being met at the new 
Birkenhead Library.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Provide an information service for development issues. The business provided an information service through 
the website, face to face (front of house) and help desk. 
The service provides planning, building and engineering 
information to customers. Electronic FAQs were developed 
to enable Actionline to manage non-technical calls where 
applicable.

Provide service delivery to achieve best practice in 
environmental consents and inspections.

Best practice processes are continually reviewed and 
enhanced. This year the building, resource management 
and development contributions areas were independently 
audited with recommendations implemented. The balanced 
scorecard for the division was further developed to improve 
business plan actions, measures and reporting. 

Regulate consent processes as per District Plan, the 
Resource Management Act and the Building Act.

All District Plan changes and legislative changes were 
incorporated into the consent processes during the  
2008/09 year.

Regulate and monitor development activity. The compliance and monitoring team was active in 
responding to community complaints and also reviewing 
approved consent conditions. There were a number  
of prosecutions during the year.

Monitor construction quality and weathertightness  
of buildings.

The weathertightness team had an increase in staffing 
during the year to manage the volume of weathertightness 
processing and claims workload. The lower volume of 
general inspections enabled additional resource to be 
seconded to the weathertightness inspection team.

Provide standards and practices for inspecting and 
improving cladding systems.

In 2008, additional building inspections and standards for 
cladding were introduced. 

Provide the service of accepting building applications 
electronically.

The initiative was piloted and developed during the year. 
The new service went live 1 July 2009 and enables 
applicants to lodge building applications through the 
council website. The service proved very popular with 
key customers, and will be expanded to include building 
inspections during the forthcoming year. 

Maintain Building Consent Authority accreditation. The scheduled Building Accreditation review has been 
delayed for one year while the Auckland Council is 
established.

Monitor customer service delivery through targeted focus 
group workshops and regular use of surveys.

Focus group meetings were held with the resource 
management land use consent customers to capture 
their key requirements and priorities. These findings 
were managed by a steering group and implemented 
across the business with specific changes to processes, 
documentation and communication material. Additional 
ongoing customer survey feedback and feedback from 
complaints was incorporated into enhancing processes 
and systems.
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Level of service provision

Customers are satisfied with the council’s 
service for building consents 
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Subdivision consents processed within statutory timeframes
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Customers are satisfied with the advisory services
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Land use consents processed within statutory timeframes
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The council is constantly looking for ways to improve the service for  
building consents.

The council still receives a lot of complex consent applications. However, 
the results have improved due to efficiencies with the process and 
improved resource levels.

Customers are satisfied with the council’s service 
for land use consents
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The council is constantly looking for ways to improve the service for land 
use consents.

Customers are satisfied with the council’s 
service for subdivision consents
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The council received fewer subdivision consents in 2008/09 and was 
therefore able to provide very good service.

Building consents processed within statutory timeframes
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The council still receives a lot of complex consent applications. However, 
the results have improved due to efficiencies with the process and improved 
resource levels.
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Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 18,566 10,043 17,315 

User charges 11,841 12,475 13,792 

30,407 22,518 31,107 

Expenditure

Expenditure 1 30,407 22,518 31,074 

Depreciation of fixed assets - 3 - 

30,407 22,521 31,074

Operating surplus/(deficit) - (3) 33 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets - - 33 

- - 33 

Operating deficit - 3 - 

Total funding required - 3 33 

Funded by

Operating surplus - - 33 

Funding from non-cash expenses - 3 - 

Total funding of capital - 3 33 

(1) The increase in costs in 2008/09 compared to the plan is mainly due to increased provision for weathertightness claims.
                     
                    

Environmental Consents and Compliance financial information

Net operating expenditure per rateable property
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Customers are satisfied with the building inspection service
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Target increase is provision for weathertightness claims and reduced user 
charges due to the recession.
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Overview

The council provides a wide range of environmental 
protection services in relation to noise, water quality, 
food and liquor licensing, dog control, bylaw enforcement, 
graffiti prevention, pollution prevention and public health 
investigations. The council is legally required to provide 
most of these services and provides supporting 
programmes to ensure the health, safety and well-being 
of the city’s people and visitors.

Monitoring and action programmes with the community 
and schools help to restore, enhance and protect the city’s 
environment. Education can also help limit detrimental 
environmental effects caused by pollution and graffiti 
vandalism.

Over the past year, 46,505 North Shore City residents 
participated in council-supported environmental 
programmes – that’s one in five of the city’s population,  
 

 

and double the number of participants since 2005. Council 
programmes include home composting courses, tree-
planting days, stream restoration projects and a range of 
school-based environmental programmes.

The high levels of participation in environmental 
programmes confirm that North Shore City residents are 
highly interested in environmental issues and want to work 
in partnership with the council to protect North Shore’s 
environment. Interest in environmental actions around the 
home is especially strong as there appears to be a growing 
belief that each and every one of us can make a difference, 
and that each person’s small action contributes to a much 
larger whole.

Our Wai Care, Safe Summer and graffiti prevention 
programmes are well aligned with local, regional and 
national initiatives to help achieve proactive behavioural 
change.

Environmental Protection

Animal control

When three little piglets lost their 
way and turned up on a doorstep 
in Torbay, Lee Exler, animal control 
coordinator, picked them up and 
took them to the animal welfare 
home in Henderson. Now North 
Shore City has a joint animal welfare 
centre with Rodney District in 
Silverdale so stray animals don’t 
have so far to go. Photo courtesy of 
Ben Watson, North Shore Times.

Environmental Management
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Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Neutral Positive

Encourages sustainable 
behaviour change

Encourages sustainable 
business practices

Educates community in 
environmental awareness

Protects impacts from 
existing and future 
development

Promotes positive 
community interaction with 
the environment

Promotes positive business 
interaction with the 
environment

Regulates community from 
harming the environment

Enables environmental 
sustainability for the future

Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Network consents

Review the water quality monitoring programmes as part of 
the network consents application process.

 

All programmes reviewed. Network consents work was 
completed in 2008.

Integrated catchment management plans (ICMPs)

Contribute to the development and review of ICMPs and 
stream management plans.

 

Contributions for the ICMPs are continuously being provided 
to the stormwater planning team. The Eskdale Integrated 
Catchment Management Plan was completed this year.

Pine Ridge stream restoration

Glenda Bostwick, stream 
restoration project leader and 
an owner’s committee member, 
clear weeds at Pine Ridge. 
The Pine Ridge Project is a 
partnership between the council 
and the community at the Pine 
Ridge apartment complex in 
Birkenhead, with the aim of 
restoring their section of the 
Eskdale stream.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Develop a package of education, social 
marketing, action and communication tools 
aimed at changing individual and community 
behaviour towards more sustainable practices.

Naturally Smarter Programme developed and piloted.

Two private property stream restoration pilot projects developed and 
implemented.

Sustainable Paremoremo project developed and implemented.

Implement progressively the following 
programmes and projects:

· Safe Summer programme in partnership with 
other agencies;

· Enviroschools programmes;

· Sustainable Living programmes;

· Pollutions response and education 
programmes;

· Water Quality public health education 
campaign; and

· Wai Care programme.

The Safe Summer programme effectively coordinated education 
messages and safety prevention through our six safe summer partners.

Thirty-two North Shore City schools are involved in the Enviroschools 
Programme – achievements include Northcote College’s Solar Wall 
project and three schools (Takapuna Intermediate, Bayview Primary and 
St Marys Primary) received Silver Enviroschool Awards.

Sustainable Living programmes have been rebranded Naturally 
Smarter and include numerous community events including the 
Home and Garden Show, Wine and Food Festival and Earth Hour; 
the establishment of a new electronic newsletter and local support 
programmes.

Establishment of a pollution prevention partnership programme with the 
Motor Trade Association (MTA).

Eighteen Wai Care groups continue to monitor and look after local 
streams.

2,500 native plants were planted as part of the Schools Planting 
Programme. 

Integrate all safety programmes (dog control, 
pool safety service etc) into the Safer 
Communities programme.

Bylaws, dog control, pool safety and graffiti prevention/crime prevention 
through environmental design (CPTED) are all enforcement roles that 
have been integrated into Safe Communities accreditation. The team 
worked to achieve compliance and preventative actions through 
education and creating greater awareness of the issues. The Safe 
Summer Programme drew our external partners together to achieve 
a common result, for example, a safe graffiti free community, safety 
around dogs, safe beaches and water activities.

There was a significant downward trend in graffiti throughout the city. 
This was achieved through strategic partnerships with New Zealand 
Police and other councils in the region, and included the development 
of a regional graffiti database, improved enforcement, faster removal, 
and public awareness and education programmes. Reduction in 
tagging, on both public and private property, results not only in a 
reduction in removal costs but also improves our environment and the 
perception of safety in the community.

Establish an animal shelter facility. The Northern Animal Shelter (NAS) project was a successful joint 
venture between North Shore City Council and Rodney District Council 
and began operations mid-July 2009, slightly ahead of schedule. 
Both councils did not have their own animal shelter facility before 
and therefore they were reliant on contractors to provide impounding 
services, the provision of which is a statutory requirement. 

A suitable site was located in an industrial area of Silverdale that was 
originally an ex-Rodney District Council works site. Building construction 
started in February 2009, and completed slightly ahead of time in June 
2009. The project, which was several years in the planning/approval 
process, was completed within the original budget estimate and will 
provide a modern and cost effective animal shelter facility for the 
northern region of the new Auckland Council. 
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Level of service provision

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Customers are satisfied with the service for liquor licensees
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Percentage of noise complaints attended within 35 minutes
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Customers are satisfied with the service for food licensees
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Customers are satisfied with the service 
for dog control enforcement
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Number of recreational water areas monitored during summer
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 3,256 3,076 3,269 

Targeted rates – pool safety 147 143 137 

User charges 1,894 1,753 1,815 

Operating grants and subsidies - - 19 

5,297 4,972 5,240

Expenditure

Expenditure 5,239 4,923 5,205 

Finance costs 44 49 - 

Depreciation of fixed assets 7 10 5 

5,290 4,982 5,210

Operating surplus/(deficit) 7 (10) 30 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 1,659 1,700 35 

1,659 1,700 35

Operating deficit - 10 - 

Total funding required 1,659 1,710 35 

Funded by

Operating surplus 7 - 30 

Funding from non-cash expenses 7 10 5 

Loans raised 1,645 1,700 - 

Total funding of capital 1,659 1,710 35 

Environmental Protection financial information

Safe Summer parade

Riana McGrath, pool safety 
officer and Marius Nortje, 
environmental protection 
coordinator, keep the ball rolling 
at the Browns Bay Parade to 
promote the Make it a Safe 
Summer message about 
swimming, driving, dogs  
and alcohol safety.

North Shore City Council 97



Overview

This area covers the waste and recycling services 
for households, commercial and industrial 
areas, as well as public education. The Health 
Act requires councils to ensure solid waste 
is collected and the Local Government Act 
2002 requires the council to prepare a waste 
management plan. As our population continues 
to grow, we are producing more and more waste. 
With the Rosedale landfill now closed, we must 
set a more responsible course for the future. This 
includes reducing waste at the source and finding 
better ways to recycle and recover materials that 
are being thrown out. The user pays waste policy 
provides an incentive for people to maximise their 
use of the recycling collection. 

In 2008/09, the council collected 23,381 tonnes 
of recyclables from its kerbside collection (24,548 
tonnes in 2007/08) and 25,608 tonnes of 
household and inorganic refuse (25,615 tonnes 
in 2007/08). This means that 48 per cent of 
the household materials we collect are being 
diverted from landfill. The council has chosen to 
provide these services through in-house planning 
and administration, with collection and disposal 
services contractors.

Waste Minimisation

Worm farming

The Create Your Own Eden programme to reduce the amount of 
garden rubbish and food scraps going to landfill by encouraging 
home composting continues to be popular with 438 people 
attending 20 courses over the year. Melanie Buchanan, waste 
prevention officer, demonstrates that compost can also be 
produced by using worms, known as worm farming, at the Kaipatiki 
Project and Environment Centre in Birkdale which offers free 
composting and worm farming courses.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Neutral Neutral Positive

Waste minimisation and 
recycling initiatives promote 
social sustainability

Higher costs in adopting 
waste minimisation 
programmes

Protection of culturally 
sensitive land and water from 
contamination

Less waste to landfill

Promotes greater social 
responsibility and interaction

Increased savings from 
recycling

Cleaner environment

Environmental Management
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Waste Minimisation

Reducing the quality of waste disposal to landfill by five 
per cent (of 2001 levels) per annum (irrespective of growth) 
towards the goal of zero waste is the main aim of our Waste 
Minimisation Plan, which was published in 2005 and is 
currently being implemented.

 

Kerbside collection services are continuing to be effective in 
diverting material from landfill. This year’s result saw targets 
as indicated in the Waste Management Plan 2005 almost 
met. The reduction of waste going to landfill is encouraging 
and indicates that residents are grasping the principles of 
minimising waste within households.

This year there was a reduction of waste to landfill by 2.5 
per cent (659 tonnes) from last year’s total. A total of 25,608 
tonnes of solid waste was collected and disposed of to 
landfill. This year recycling volumes decreased by 3.8 per 
cent (933 tonnes) compared with last year. A total of 23,381 
tonnes was collected and sent to recycling markets this year. 
Lower paper volumes were a main contributor to reduced 
recycling tonnages.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Continued provision of direct waste services, i.e. user pays 
rubbish collection and recycling services.

Prepaid rubbish bags have been implemented. Bag sales 
have remained steady, with the number of sales similar to 
those in previous years. Forty litre bags continued to be 
popular with residents and retailers. 

Increase organic waste recovery. The ‘Create Your Own Eden’ programme continued to be 
popular. Twenty courses were held over the year with 438 
people attending (an increase of 31 attendees this year 
compared with 2007/08). A national schools’ resource 
was developed for schools around the country to use. 
This programme had a presence at the North Shore Home 
and Garden Show, and over 100 people signed up for 
composting courses (from August 2008 onwards) and 
additional composting information.

This year, all Auckland councils commissioned a 
comprehensive report on the feasibility of collecting and 
processing organic waste. The objective is to determine 
what technology would be most suited to process large 
quantities of organic waste. This is a key action and priority 
as set out in the Waste Management Plan 2005.

Promote cleaner production in business. The WasteWise business surveys have been progressing. 
The majority of businesses in Birkenhead and Birkdale 
were surveyed about their waste practices and 90 per 
cent of Mairangi Bay businesses were also surveyed. 
161 businesses were surveyed and in many cases advice 
provided on waste disposal options and practical solutions 
to recycling. The last business involved in the EnviroSmart 
programme will complete its accreditation in July. 

Remove household hazardous waste from the  
waste stream.

Four hazardous waste collections were carried out in the 
2008/09 year. These occurred in September and December 
2008, and March and June 2009. A total of 48 tonnes 
of material was collected from the 1,876 cars visiting the 
service. There was a reduction in the volume of hazardous 
materials collected compared with previous years. This is 
mainly due to the withdrawal of the collection of paint. Paint 
is now excluded from the HazMobile service as some paint 
suppliers are now part of a product stewardship scheme in 
which retailers accept returned unused paint. 
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Continue to implement a schools zero-waste programme. School programmes have continued to grow. Five North 
Shore City schools are part of the 2009 Regional WasteWise 
schools programme. Facilitation includes staff meetings, 
planning sessions and waste audits. The Kids4Drama 
show was extended to six extra performances due to 
the popularity of the show among school children. The 
Envirostate’s Enviro-Challenge went ahead and is now 
complete with ongoing support continuing for schools until 
contract completion in November. 

North Shore City WasteWise schools’ resources are 
continuing to be developed to support waste reduction 
education in schools. Waste audits, planning sessions and 
action plan development are just a few of the varied tasks 
that the school’s officer carried out. School group visits to 
the Waitakere transfer station were incorporated this year to 
show children where their household recycling ends up and 
how it is processed. These visits received extremely positive 
feedback from school children and teachers. 

Another positive development this year was the Waitemata 
Harbour boat trips. The Waitemata Harbour Clean Up Trust 
took students from Murrays Bay Intermediate out on the ‘Phil 
Warren’ to raise awareness and educate students about 
littering issues. We will be extending the student base for 
these trips after June. 

Community initiative WasteWise Fund. Due to unsuccessful application funding rounds in the 
2007/08 year, no further application rounds were completed 
this year. This was because previous applications were either 
not suitable for the purpose intended or struggled to meet 
any acceptable standard within the application criteria. To 
this end only schools received funding this year. Five schools 
applied (and were approved) for the WasteWise schools 
fund to help reduce organic waste and waste to landfill by 
composting, worm farming, bokashi, creating sustainable 
gardens and reducing packaging waste brought into 
school (litter free lunches). This complements educational 
programmes by providing assistance in implementing waste 
reduction systems in schools and giving children practical 
experience of managing them.

Local implementation of the New Zealand Waste Strategy, 
adopted in principle by the council in June 2002.

New Zealand waste strategy principles are incorporated 
into North Shore City’s Waste Management Plan 2005. 
All relevant actions contained in the plan link to national 
objectives. The objective to introduce public place recycling 
bins at key locations in North Shore City, such as beaches 
and shopping districts, was successful this year. 

Eight purpose-built recycling bins will be placed at 
designated locations in Devonport and Takapuna in a trial 
which starts in early July. Funded by the Ministry for the 
Environment, the trial is part of the ‘Love NZ’ recycling 
in public places initiative which is a partnership between 
central and local government to establish a network of 
easily recognisable recycling bins in high foot-traffic and key 
tourist locations across New Zealand. The specially-marked 
recycling bins will collect commingled recyclable materials, 
including glass, bottles, plastic containers, steel, tin and 
aluminium cans. 
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Continue to advocate for the creation of a National Waste 
Levy and waste legislation to assist with the Waste 
Minimisation Plan 2005 goals.

Following enactment of the Waste Minimisation Act 2008, 
every tonne of waste sent to landfill will attract a $10 charge 
from 2010. Revenue generated from this levy will go into 
a central government funding pool. Funds will then be 
distributed back to councils and industry for new recycling 
initiatives. Funding is based on a contestable application 
basis to criteria as set by the Ministry for the Environment. 

Implement a waste levy following commencement of the 
waste operator licensing system.

Implementing a waste levy via licensing operators under 
local government bylaws is not possible. This is due to the 
outcome of a High Court ruling. The council has licensed 
most commercial operators and we are provided with waste 
data that assists with planning for future waste demands.

Continue to implement an in-house waste minimisation 
system for all council buildings and activities.

In-house recycling systems have been implemented  
within the council in Environmental Services and the 
head office building. The Corporate Sustainability team is 
responsible for the ongoing maintenance and development 
of these systems.

Rubbish collection

The council offers a range of waste 
minimisation services including a 
weekly rubbish collection, fortnightly 
recycling collection and a yearly 
inorganic collection.
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Residents and businesses are satisfied with the 
reliability of rubbish collection
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Residents and businesses are satisfied with the 
cleanliness of the street after collection
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Residents and businesses are satisfied with the 
reliability of the recycling collection
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Percentage of total household waste collected 
that is diverted from landfill to beneficial use
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Level of service provision

Net operational expenditure per rateable property

The reduction in expenditure is mostly due to reduced tonnages that are 
being collected from the kerbside. The main economic contributor has 
been in the area of recyclables collected. This indicates that people are 
grasping reduce and reuse philosophies and smart purchasing.

20
02

/0
3

60 

50 

40 

30 

20 

10 

0

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

$2
9

$2
9

$3
7 $3

6

$4
7

$3
6

$3
1

Annual Report 2008/09102

Environmental Management
2 Activity Statements 



 
 
 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 596 1,364 1,076 

Targeted rates – waste management 2,062 2,037 2,031 

User charges 4,794 4,695 4,255 

7,452 8,096 7,362 

Expenditure

Expenditure 7,452 8,096 7,362 

7,452 8,096 7,362 

Operating surplus - - - 

There is no capital expenditure for this activity. 

Waste Minimisation financial information

Nilson Bayside restoration 
project

Nilson Geiger and members 
of his youth group planting 
along the stream behind 
the Baha’i spiritual centre in 
Browns Bay. This initiative is 
part of the Bayside Stream 
Restoration Project, one 
of our Naturally Smarter 
programmes.
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Frank Sargeson evening
Geoff Chamberlain, library services manager, addresses 
the audience at an evening to remember Frank Sargeson. 
The event was held by The Friends of the Sargeson 
House, The Frank Sargeson Trust and the North Shore 
Libraries Foundation with readings by local writers Chris 
Cole Catley, Kevin Ireland and Graeme Lay.

Community outcome

Output area / activity

Libraries  Parks, Beaches 
and  

Sportsfields 

Leisure  
Services 

Community 
Liaison, Grants, 
Arts and Civil 

Defence 

Housing for 
Older People Cemeteries

Parks and open spaces

Natural environment

Transport

Built environment  

Housing

Personal safety and crime

Community services  
and facilities

Education and training

Physical activity, sport and 
personal health

Business and economy

City identity and branding

Employment

Arts and culture

Our people

Heritage

Swimming lessons
Swimming lessons are available for babies (six months and older), pre-schoolers, school 
age children, adults, squads and school groups at North Shore Leisure swimming pools.

KEY:  Direct contribution  Indirect contribution

These output areas contribute to the council’s 
key outcomes in the following way:

Community Services

Encouraging people to take 
part in community activities 
creates a positive spirit 
in the city and enhances 
community and personal 
development.

It adds to the health and vitality of the city 
and its people. The council provides a range 
of opportunities for community groups and 
individuals to get involved in recreation, leisure, 
arts, culture and educational activities. It also 
supports community volunteers and groups by 
using grants, subsidies and providing facilities. 
As the city’s population has increased, its people 
have become more diverse. This has increased 
the demands and the range of the council’s 
community services.

Six output areas make up the community 
services significant activity: 

Libraries page 106 
Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields page 111 
Leisure Services page 116 
Community Liaison, Grants, 
 Arts and Civil Defence page 121 
Housing for Older People page 127 
Cemeteries page 131
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Overview

The council’s library services provide access to 
a wide range of printed and digital resources 
for leisure activities, to help increase community 
knowledge and to improve skills and literacy. In 
order to emphasise the library’s role in supporting 
reading, as identified in the 2008 Strategic Plan, 
all staff are under going specialised training. This 
reading experience will, over the next two years, 
strengthen North Shore Libraries’ commitment to 
enhanced customer service focused on reading 
in all its formats. North Shore City has seven 
separate libraries which operate seven days per 
week, and a mobile library service which operates 
five days per week. 

Information sources include books, magazines, 
CDs, DVDs, electronic databases and the internet 
which is provided as a free service. During 
the year, free Wi-Fi access to the Internet was 
provided in six libraries. The seventh, Birkenhead 
Library, will be Wi-Fi enabled when the new 
building opens. The needs of different groups 
in our community are met through specific 
services. Libraries provide an important focus 
for local communities, opportunities to access 
public documents and council services, and 
targeted services for the housebound and sight 
impaired. Preparations are under way to make 
downloadable audio books available through the 
library catalogue. This project is being done in 
conjunction with Auckland Libraries. 

The libraries have a strong collection relating 
to North Shore City’s heritage, much of which 
is available online. Since February it has been 
possible to access North Shore Libraries’  
digital photographic archives via the website  
www.localhistoryonline.org.nz. This site was  
compiled in a joint venture with Rodney  
and Waitakere Libraries.

There is no legal requirement for the council to 
provide libraries, however it does so because 
of the importance council places on residents 
having access to information in the 21st century.

Libraries

Children’s library event

Children’s activities continue at the temporary Birkenhead Library. 
The new Birkenhead Library is due to be completed later this year 
and will house the library along with other essential community 
services including the local community board, Citizens Advice 
Bureau, Plunket and community coordinator. 

Community Services

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Positive Neutral

Provides community space Enables self-improvement Collections support 
languages other than English 
(LOTE) 

Provides educational 
opportunities

Assists community cohesion Supports a knowledge 
economy

Acknowledges growing 
ethnic diversity
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

eLGAR Library Management System

Investigate the means and benefits of creating a legal entity 
to manage software-related aspects of the joint Auckland 
region aspects of the eLGAR Library Management System.

 

The means and benefits of creating eLGAR as a legal identity 
were fully researched and reported on to the Auckland CEO 
Forum. The decision was that the complexity of creating 
a legal entity far outweighed the benefits, so eLGAR has 
remained as a consortium covered by a Memorandum of 
Understanding between the councils involved.

+ New leisure and community facilities planning is a joint project reported under the Leisure Services activity.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Provide library services to meet specific needs in areas such 
as literacy, education and culture, and for those who are 
housebound.

2008/09 stock budgets were fully spent. A range of 
online databases were provided. The Reading Experience 
programme to enhance the importance of reading was 
started. Interactive teaching of computer and other skills was 
provided through learning centres in some libraries.

Increase the capability of the library to provide remote 
access to services.

A new website was designed and built. New software for 
providing online downloadable audio books was purchased, 
and free Wi-Fi access is now available in six of the seven 
libraries. 

Collaborate with the Albany campus of Massey University  
to establish joint initiatives.

Joint management meetings on closer cooperation are held 
twice a year. Staff visits are arranged to discuss specific 
topics.

Provide and develop a community web page. A community web page was designed and incorporated into 
the new website.

Provide community language collections. Significant additional funding was provided for community 
language collections, with particular emphasis on increasing 
Japanese material. A start-up collection of Hindi material 
was purchased.

Provide Chinese/Korean collections. Collections have increased significantly in size and use over 
the past year.

Rhymetime

Kids get into the festive spirit at Christmas 
Rhymetime in the temporary Birkenhead 
Library with Margot Collins, children’s and 
teen services librarian. 
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Promote artwork through exhibitions and displays. All libraries have regular displays and exhibitions of artwork. 
North Shore Libraries’ annual Secondary School Art Awards, 
run in conjunction with Datacom and the Mairangi Arts 
Centre, was held in September 2008.

Provide, extend and enhance access to a heritage collection. A heritage website has been available since February 
2009. There has been ongoing digitisation of photographs, 
supported by a $50,000 donation from the North Shore 
Libraries Foundation.

Provide unique local history resources within North Shore 
Libraries.

As well as digitisation of local history photographs, there is 
ongoing indexing of local newspapers. There is also active 
work around increasing the local history archive through the 
collection of material and the recording of oral histories.

Provide citywide information through a high quality, seven 
day a week library service.

Ongoing through the seven libraries and the mobile library.

Collaborate with community groups to enhance the sharing 
of information.

Collection work done with the Wilson Home, Michael King 
Writers Centre, Frank Sargeson Trust and the Awataha 
Marae. Friends of the Library actively work with the libraries, 
and provide support as in the case of the new Birkenhead 
Library project. North Shore Libraries foundation provides 
financial support; $50,000 for digitisation and $40,000 for 
the new Birkenhead Library.

Promote environmental issues through community web 
pages and display stands.

Ongoing.

Plan for a new library at Birkenhead to be completed  
in 2009.

Construction started January 2009, with a completion 
date scheduled for late 2009. Fit out and occupation are 
scheduled for late 2009 or early 2010.

Plan for refurbishment and extension of the Devonport 
Library.

Designation planning for the current site is due to be 
completed by 2011, with refurbishment to be undertaken 
in 2013/14.

Work with libraries in the Auckland region to maximise the 
benefits of working in a consortium and of sharing a library 
management system.

Reciprocal borrowing was set up between North Shore 
City and Rodney District libraries. There is continuing 
collaborative work with the other libraries in the eLGAR 
consortium involving collections, website development 
and shared software. 

Plan for a library service to the northern part of the city - 
estimated cost $20m - due to be completed 2011/12.

During the City Plan 2009-2024 deliberations, the council 
resolved to reduce the base amount for the library services 
in the Albany Community Board area of the city to $15m. 
Residents were also asked whether they would prefer a  
pool or a library to be built first. The public response has 
resulted in the building of new library facilities being pushed 
out to 2018. 
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Level of service provision

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Percentage of residents who have used library 
services during the year
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This year’s result could have been affected by the delay in opening the new 
Birkenhead Library. The council is constantly looking for ways to improve 
library services.

Percentage of population holding a current library card
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Available bookstock per capita
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The difference between the target and actual 2008/09 is due to the delay in 
completing the new Birkenhead Library.

Net operating expenditure per rateable property
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In 2007/08, total expenditure was used for both plan and actual. The graph 
has been updated to reflect net operational expenditure.
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Residents and businesses are satisfied with the library service

Library floor space per 1,000 members (sqm)
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Libraries financial information

 
 

 Note

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 12,534 12,272 10,914 

User charges 584 635 623 

Development or financial contributions 290 491 870 

13,408 13,398 12,407 

Expenditure

Expenditure 11,098 11,221 10,123 

Finance costs 80 108 - 

Depreciation and amortisation 1,640 1,661 1,635 

12,818 12,990 11,758 

Operating surplus 590 408 649 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 1 5,376 7,919 1,985 

2 5,376 7,919 1,985 

Loans repaid - (29) 422 

Total funding required 5,376 7,890 2,407 

Funded by

Operating surplus 590 408 649 

Funding from non-cash expenses 1,640 1,661 1,635 

Loans raised 3,018 5,693 - 

Transfers from capital funding account 128 128 123 

Total funding of capital 5,376 7,890 2,407 
 

(1) The reduction in costs in 2008/09 compared to plan is mainly due to the deferral of the Birkenhead Library project.
                     
(2) For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 

Capital Projects.              
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Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields

Overview

The Local Government Act 2002 requires 
the council to provide for recreation and the 
Reserves Act sets the process for classifying and 
protecting reserves. The city’s extensive range of 
parks, beaches and coastal walkways is enjoyed 
for a variety of reasons. North Shore City has 
an extensive coastline that is highly valued by 
residents and visitors. There are long stretches of 
white sand to relax on, safe locations for picnics 
and vantage points to the sea.

Many people use these spaces for playing, 
exercise and other forms of recreation. Other 
people value these spaces for the solitude 
or views they provide. There are large parks 
in all regions of the city, many of which have 
sportsfields, playgrounds, bush walks, streams 
and other recreational amenities.

As the city’s population and residential density 
increase, availability and affordability of additional 
parkland reduce. Changes in society and lifestyle 
are changing people’s recreation patterns. The 
focus will gradually shift towards appropriate, 
sustainable improvement of existing parks 
to meet the city’s open space and activity 
requirements. It is important we provide for future 
generations by protecting natural areas and 
ecosystems. The council has chosen to provide 
this service through in-house planning and 
administration, with contracted physical works for 
all operational, maintenance and capital works.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Positive Positive

Assists community cohesion Provides tourist attraction 
opportunities

Assists community health Parks and beaches well 
cared for

Caters for all age groups Provides attractive and 
appropriate areas for all 
types of economic activity

Assists community cohesion Promotes healthy natural 
environment

Community Services

Piripiri planting day

Community planting days have taken place at 
parks and reserves across North Shore City.
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Review of the Open Space Strategy

The Open Space Strategy 2000 has been reviewed to 
ensure that the open space planning objectives are aligned 
with the latest community outcomes.

The updated Parks Strategy was adopted in 2007.

Parks Acquisition Programme

The Parks Acquisition Plan is updated on an ongoing basis 
to reflect the strategic objectives of the council. The council 
may consider the purchase of additional parkland not 
formally included in the City Plan, if opportunities arise.

The Parks Acquisition Plan is updated on an ongoing basis.

The council has acquired additional coastal parkland to meet 
the needs of a growing population.

Network plans

A range of network plans will be prepared including:

· Recreational Cycling Plan;

· Playground Plan;

· Coastal Structure Plan;

· Bush Tracks Plan; and 

· Public Convenience Plan.

Playground Plan completed.

Draft Recreational Walking Plan completed.

Parks Ecological Enhancement Plan completed.

Omnibus reserve management plan

Omnibus reserve management plans will be prepared for 
parks that fulfil the same purpose, e.g. neighbourhood 
parks and natural environment parks. This is a more 
effective approach to ensure that all the reserves are 
covered by a management plan and that the council meets 
its statutory obligation under the Reserves Act.

 

The Centennial Park Management Plan was prepared and is 
currently being considered by the local community board.

Management plan processes for Chelsea Estate Heritage 
Park and Fort Takapuna Historic Reserve are under way.

Chelsea Park Open Day

The new 37 hectare 
Chelsea Estate Heritage 
Park is an area of natural 
and historical value that 
protects a significant part 
of Auckland’s coastline 
from further urban 
development.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements in 2008/09

Albany Lakes development. Physical works completed. The Albany Lakes civic park 
will form the focal point of the Albany Centre and includes 
walkways, an art bridge, seating, stormwater ponds and 
large grassed areas. There will be a settling in period for the 
planted areas before the reserve is accessible to the public.

Sanders Reserve recreation facilities development planning. Development plan completed. Construction of the bike 
trails has started and will be completed later this year. The 
construction of the car park and visitor centre will start 
during 2009/10.

Milford Reserve bridge. Feasibility and concept designs complete. The resource 
consent phase will begin during 2009/10.

Takapuna/Devonport coastal walkways. Design of the Northboro section is complete and the 
resource consent process is under way. Feasibility work on 
the pipe bridge section will be undertaken during 2009/10.

Schopolo Reserve walkway. Completed. This walkway is highly successful and forms 
part of the local walking school bus route. It also provides a 
beautiful scenic walk along the creek.

Campbells Bay walkway. Resource consent was granted. However, it was appealed  
to the Environment Court. 

Ashley Reserve public convenience. This project has been moved back to 2012 due to future 
works on Ashley Avenue, which will result in a significant 
drop in road levels. 

Three Streams Reserve. This valuable reserve has been added to the council’s 
Ecological Enhancement programme. Different phases of 
noxious weed control are undertaken to reinstate the  
bush areas.

Kennedy Park Playground. Construction of the playground is complete. Associated 
landscaping will be undertaken during 2009/10. The 
playground should be open to the public during spring 2009. 
The Potter’s Trust has kindly contributed funding towards the 
construction of this playground.
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Level of service provision

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Residents are satisfied with the beaches
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The council is aware that public toilet users’ dissatisfaction is normally due to 
the cleanliness and poor maintenance of the facilities. We are continuously 
looking at ways to improve resident’s perception of public toilets.

Residents are satisfied with public toilets
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Number of playground units per 1,000 population
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Residents are satisfied with sportsfields
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Note 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 24,422 24,993 22,488 

User charges 130 140 125 

Property income 509 352 320 

Capital grants and subsidies 941 758 10,874 

Development or financial contributions 4,747 8,078 6,617 

Vested assets 35 553 6,337 

30,784 34,874 46,761

Expenditure

Expenditure 17,728 17,511 17,232 

Finance costs 1,706 2,346 1,118 

Depreciation of restricted assets 5,204 4,948 4,780 

Depreciation of fixed assets 120 130 130 

24,758 24,935 23,260

Operating surplus 6,026 9,939 23,501 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 11,727 21,115 31,900 

Renewal assets 4,239 4,251 3,884 

Vested assets 35 553 6,337 

1 16,001 25,919 42,121 

Loans repaid 977 1,133 375 

Total funding required 16,978 27,052 42,496 

Funded by

Operating surplus 6,026 9,939 23,501 

Funding from non-cash expenses 5,324 5,078 4,910 

Loans raised 5,628 7,035 14,085 

Transfers from special reserves - 5,000 - 

Total funding of capital 16,978 27,052 42,496 

 
 (1)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 

Capital Projects.             

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields financial information
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Leisure Services
Overview

The Local Government Act 2002 requires council 
to provide leisure services and facilities. Because 
of the importance of recreation opportunities to 
the health and enjoyment of its residents, the 
council’s leisure services unit plans, promotes 
and provides for participation in leisure activities 
in two ways.

It provides programmes directly and also 
provides space for organised and casual activities 
at the leisure facilities, and works in partnership 
with community groups to add to and enhance 
these services. During 2008/09, over 840,000 
people visited the council’s leisure facilities.

The council’s facilities include five centres (at 
Beach Haven, Birkenhead, Browns Bay, Glenfield 
and Takapuna), three of which have swimming 
pools.

The council has chosen to provide this service 
through in-house planning, administration and 
operation.

North Shore Leisure is committed to improving 
the health and well-being of the North Shore 
City community by providing access to a diverse 
range of quality programmes and leisure activities 
in a fun and friendly environment.

North Shore Leisure 

New gym equipment was installed at North Shore 
Leisure facilities to meet community needs. 
Robbie Turner, Birkenhead Leisure duty manager, 
training a valued North Shore Leisure member.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Positive Neutral

Promotes healthy  
work/life balance

Promotes healthy  
work/life balance

Promotes healthy  
work/life balance

Assists community  
cohesion

Assists in maintaining 
and attracting a healthy 
workforce

Assists community  
cohesion

Community Services
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

North Harbour Physical Activity Strategy *

In association with Harbour Sport and the Rodney  
District Council, and with strategic support from Sport  
and Recreation New Zealand (SPARC), this work will  
develop a physical activity strategy for the city. It will look  
at recreation and sports trends and community needs,  
and identify our role and that of community organisations  
in meeting these needs.

The North Harbour Physical Activity Strategy (NHPASS)  
was completed and was adopted by the council.  
The implementation plan is being rolled out with the council 
acting as lead agency on two of the goals. Progress is 
reported through the partners group.

New leisure and community facilities planning

This project will focus on providing new facilities to  
growth areas, particularly in the northern area of the city.

The council resolved to provide a wide range of recreational 
and sporting opportunities within a precinct in the northern 
sector of North Shore City.

A master plan for the Albany Sports and Recreation precinct 
was prepared in 2006 defining the proposed layout of 
the facilities that will include an indoor community aquatic 
centre. The Aquatic facility was confirmed in the City Plan 
2009-2024, starting in year 2013. The new facility will serve 
the growing population and be consistent with the ARPASS 
Regional Facility Review Project.

Active, friendly environments study

In association with Auckland University of Technology, 
Harbour Sport and with strategic support from Sport and 
Recreation New Zealand (SPARC), this work will look at 
recreation and sports facilities, and opportunities within the 
city and obstacles to them.

Research was completed and reported to council officers. 
The research won the Outstanding Research Policy and 
Planning Award at the NZRA. It is being used in the following 
strategies: Transport Walking Strategy, NHPASS, Sport and 
Recreation Strategy, Arts Strategy and the Crime Prevention 
Network Plan.

*This strategic priority has been renamed; it was previously identified as the Physical Activity Strategy.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements in 2008/09

Upgrade existing North Shore Leisure (NSL) facilities and 
equipment to maintain and improve services:

· NSL Glenfield Hydroslide renewal;

· NSL Birkenhead security upgrade;

· NSL East Coast Bays security upgrade; and

· NSL ActivZone security upgrade.

Rebranding of the five NSL facilities.

North Shore Leisure is the successful provider of Green 
Prescription and Active Families programmes for the 
Glenfield and East Coast Bays areas on behalf of Harbour 
Sport.

NSL provides Gravity training to the New Zealand swimming 
team.

The NSL Hydroslide Renewal Project was completed in 
December 2008.

NSL Birkenhead, East Coast Bays and ActivZone security 
upgrades were completed.

Rebranding was completed in June 2009. The project 
was initiated to provide consistency across all sites and 
improve customer service delivery by providing standardised 
programmes across all sites.

NSL developed a high rope course. This has been used 
by New Zealand Navy and Army personnel as part of their 
training programme and by corporate organisations for team 
building exercises.

ActivZone continues to develop its youth programmes.  
A community skate night was introduced and is held  
every Friday with participation ranging from 80-120 people.

The Hype dance party event is held at the end of each 
school term and is gaining popularity. Last year the event 
attracted about 120 people, this year this increased to about 
800 people.

Plan, promote and provide recreational opportunities  
that meet the needs of the local community.

Ongoing and continuous project. During 2008/09, 840,853 
people visited the city’s leisure centres. 

Maintain and, where capacity allows, increase usage  
of all North Shore Leisure facilities.

CCTV cameras and PA systems were installed at North 
Shore Leisure (NSL) facilities in Birkenhead, East Coast Bays 
and ActivZone.

The tender process for a fitness equipment procurement 
and maintenance contract was completed for NSL with the 
contract being awarded in 2007/08. The equipment roll out 
started in 2008/09. As a result NSL was able to meet the 
community’s needs and provide exceptional service delivery 
across the three facilities with gyms.

NSL maintained its Accident Compensation Corporation 
(ACC) PoolSafe and ISO 2001 Quality Management Systems 
accreditation. 

NSL completed the ACC Workplace Safety Management 
Practices certification at Tertiary Level.

Progress towards a Northern Aquatic and  
Recreation Facility.

In December 2008 the council completed an evaluation 
process to identify a preferred location for the Northern 
Aquatic Centre.

During the City Plan deliberations, the council resolved to 
reduce the base amount for leisure facilities in the Albany 
Community Board area of the city to $10m. Residents were 
also asked whether they would prefer a pool or a library to 
be built first. The public response has resulted in the building 
of a new aquatic and recreation facility being planned  
for 2013.

Annual Report 2008/09118

Community Services
2 Activity Statements 



Level of service provision

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Customers are satisfied with the leisure centres
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Total visits to Birkenhead Leisure Centre *
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*  The reduction in the number of total visits are due to the fact that school 
groups have had funding sources for facility use declined or reduced, 
therefore their activity use of these facilities has decreased. However, 
East Coast Bays and ActivZone still exceeded their respective targets. 

 Drop in the percentage of cost recovery due to reduction in patrons.

Total visits to ActivZone Sports Arena*
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Total visits to Beach Haven Sports Centre*
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Total visits to East Coast Bays Leisure Centre*
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Total visits to Glenfield Leisure Centre*

20
02

/0
3

80 

 

60 

 

40 

 

20 

 

0

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

69
3,

48
9

63
3,

17
7

56
3,

13
3

62
8,

29
3

68
9,

24
2

61
4,

62
3

46
3,

58
8

Percentage cost recovery through user charges
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Note 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 6,203 4,963 4,942

User charges 4,343 4,838 4,492

Property income 2 - 8

Operating grants and subsidies 123 185 177

10,671 9,986 9,619

Expenditure

Expenditure 9,973 9,362 9,187

Finance costs 79 98 70

Depreciation of fixed assets 249 395 249

10,301 9,855 9,506

Operating surplus 370 131 113

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 461 909 914

Renewal assets 580 - -

1 1,041 909 914

Loans repaid 46 49 33

Total funding required 1,087 958 947

Funded by

Operating surplus 370 131 113

Funding from non-cash expenses 249 395 249

Loans raised 236 200 251

Transfers from capital funding account 232 232 334

Total funding of capital 1,087 958 947

(1) For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 
Capital Projects.    

Leisure Services financial information
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Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence

Overview

Strong communities are the building blocks 
for dynamic cities. The Local Government Act 
requires the council to promote the social, 
environmental, economic and cultural well-
being of the community. The council works in 
partnership with many community organisations. 
It is able to sponsor key community groups using 
grants and subsidies, and by providing facilities 
and opportunities for collaboration. This helps 
them provide affordable facilities and services to 
local communities. Some of the many groups 
and organisations the council works with to 
promote community development and well-
being include Age Concern, Shore Arts Forum, 
Disability Information North Shore, Sport North 
Harbour, Citizens Advice Bureau, community 
houses and centres, arts facilities and community 
coordinators.

The Civil Defence Act requires the council to 
prepare a local civil defence plan and maintain 
and operate a civil defence organisation. The 
council’s civil defence organisation makes sure 
the community knows what precautions it should 
take and ensures volunteers have the right 
training to protect lives and property  
in an emergency.

Body Arts

The North Shore City Supreme Award went to Kelly 
Zhong-ni Ren for her special effects fantasy creation 
at this year’s New Zealand Body Arts Awards with a 
Fantasia Asia theme.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Neutral Positive Neutral

Promotes community 
cohesion

Cost to community is 
balanced by high level  
of volunteerism

Promotes community 
cohesion

Support for community civic 
improvement

Provides community space Improved access to  
facilities 

Lack of take up of public art 
provision

Community Services
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Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Community Grants Programme

This is an ongoing fund administered by us to support 
community groups and organisations that deliver community 
outcomes in line with the council’s policies.

Nine grants were administered for community facility 
development, arts promotion and crime prevention, totalling 
about $4m for programmes and services that support 
the delivery of community outcomes and/or key council-
community strategies. Accountability for these grants is 
maintained via reports to the council’s Grants Assessment 
Subcommittee and Community Services and Parks 
Committee.

Creative environments policy and programme

Develop a public art creative environments policy and 
programme for the city.

The North Shore Arts Strategy was endorsed by the 
community and the council in 2008. The creative 
environments policy has been deferred as a result of 
changes to Auckland Governance, as several sound policies 
exist elsewhere in the region.

+ New leisure and community facilities planning is a joint project reported under the Leisure Services activity.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Sponsor key community groups through community grants 
programme.

Over $3m was allocated to the Strengthening Communities 
Grant, Community Facility Development Fund, Auckland 
Regional Services Trust (ARST) and other smaller grants. 
Funding is administered according to specific requirements. 
31 frontline service groups are supported via contract grants. 

Provide affordable services and facilities to community 
services.

Community coordinators continued to deliver community 
development services in their local areas. This included 
projects involving multi-agency steering groups and resulted 
in over 150 Summer Fun events, crime prevention initiatives 
and community development support. Community houses 
also delivered across a range of community outcome areas. 
All contract groups are required to identify and deliver 
against a range of community outcomes and key city 
strategies. Implementation of the Positive Aging Strategy 
progressed, and reported against the NZ Positive Aging 
Strategy. The Youth Council Converse – Youth Voices forum 
was completed for 2008 and 2009.

Support strong performing, visual and literary networks and 
encourage cultural and community cohesion.

Key arts organisations were supported, including the 
Bruce Mason Centre and community-based arts services 
such as Mairangi Arts, The Pumphouse, Lake House, The 
Rose Centre, Michael King Writer’s Centre, the Depot and 
NorthArt. The Matariki and heritage festivals were actively 
supported by the arts sector.

Continue collaboration on regional arts initiatives. The Toi Whenua Regional Arts Group presented the 
sixth annual regional Matariki Festival programme with 
approximately eight local events and 45 events held 
regionally. There were an average of 1,000 hits on the festival 
website per day.

The ARST Grants Programme for regional art initiatives was 
implemented and funding disbursed, with accountability 
reports being received.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Provide new facilities to growth areas. $1m was set aside for a community facility in the Albany 
Community Board area in 2013/14. North Harbour Stadium 
extended its community support with a new community 
pricing policy and community access spaces. Funding was 
provided to Albany Coco Inc for the development of Albany 
House.

Implementation of the Auckland Regional Physical Activity 
and Sports Strategy.

Annual reports were received and endorsed by the council. 
Key strategies were developed and signed off, including the 
Paddling Strategy, the Aquatic Strategy and the Regional 
Facilities Project Stage 1 report.

Implementation of the Active Friendly Environments (AFE) 
Project.

Research from this project supported various council 
strategy and policy work, including the Walking Strategy, 
Parks Strategy, Youth Destinations Plan, and the draft Sport 
and Recreation Strategy. The NZ Recreation Association 
(NZRA) awarded the AFE Project on Outstanding Research 
Policy and Planning award in 2007/08. AUT took the 
research further and gained $1.1m from the NZ Health 
Research Centre for a national programme. The Get Active 
web application was developed and launched in 2008/09.

Implementation of the North Harbour Physical Activity 
Strategy (NHPAS).

The council continues to lead Goal Four to meet the  
current and future needs of physical activity environment  
and facilities. 2008/09 objectives were met within this 
goal area. Work was initiated to position this strategy 
appropriately for transition to the new Auckland Council.

Implementation of Youth Destinations Plan Project. The revised Youth Destinations Plan was completed. The 
In2It Youth Destinations project exceeded its target goals 
in line with the contract. The In2It website was launched 
to raise awareness of the Youth Destinations Project and 
physical activity opportunities available to young people.

Investigation of collaborative projects to increase the 
availability of community information provided electronically.

The Get Active web application, ShoreSpace Arts Portal 
and In2It Youth Destinations website were all launched. 
Collaboration on the regional Matariki Festival website 
continued with over 1,000 hits per day during the  
2009 festival.

Development of a Youth Council Plan. The Youth Council was successful in developing a plan 
for each year of operation. The awards won by the Youth 
Council since 2006 were:

· Youth in Local Government Youth Council Award for the 
Y-Bus Research (2006); 

· Community Award for the Shore Youth Bank, youth for 
youth funding initiative (2006); and

· The Youth in Local Government Small Projects Award for 
their arts exhibition (2009). 

The Youth Council and YouthWorx completed two Converse 
Youth Voice Forums with projects developed during the 
forum initiated with the community and the council.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Continued regional collaboration with the Toi Whenua group 
including the Matariki Festival based on recommendations 
from the Matariki Economic Development and Business Plan.

The economic development business plan was completed 
for Matariki and submitted to the Ministry of Economic 
Development. The Matariki Festival was successfully held 
in 2007, 2008 and 2009. Taonga Toi, an arts research 
project on key resources required for cultural arts practice, 
was completed and provided to key council departments 
including Parks to inform ecological enhancement and care 
programmes. Two arts practitioners hui were completed 
regionally to increase support for Maori artists across the 
region.

Development of Network Plans for Community Facilities. An Asset Management Plan for Community Facilities was 
completed in 2008/09. This is the first time that community 
facilities have had a dedicated asset management plan.

Civil Defence and Emergency Management (CDEM) 
information and communications review.

Collaboration with Auckland Civil Defence and Emergency 
Management Group (CDEMG) continues.

Trials of possible new Information Management software for 
Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) provoked by pandemic 
crisis of H1N1 influenza (WebEOC).

New hand held VHF and UHF radio equipment purchased.

Civil Defence and Emergency Management training  
standards review.

Adoption of NZQA standards ongoing with Te Poutini 
Polytechnic, EMANZ (Emergency Management Academy of 
NZ) and MCDEM (Ministry of Civil Defence and Emergency 
Management).

Civil Defence and Emergency Management warning systems 
improvements review.

The tsunami siren survey was completed for beaches and 
capital was incorporated into the City Plan 2009-2024.

Tsunami signage for beaches was purchased ready for 
installation.

Collaboration with MCDEM and Auckland CDEMG on 
establishing a regional/national warning system. 

Civil Defence and Emergency Management operational 
capacity review.

A report on the state of local arrangements was completed as 
required by Auckland CDEMG.

Civil Defence and Emergency Management emergency 
operations centre facilities review.

Auckland CDEMG new EOC was built under regional CDEM 
arrangements and financed by member councils. 

Ki-o-rahi

A Rangitoto College player takes a 
tumble as his counterpart from Glenfield 
College hurdles over him as part of the 
traditional Maori Games day, Ki-o-rahi, 
to celebrate Matariki 2009. 
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Level of service provision

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Residents who have used community halls/centres 
over the year

Community halls and centres attract a small percentage of the community 
who use these facilities regularly. In general, community houses and centres 
report an average of 80 per cent occupancy with some community centres 
such as Devonport, Sunnynook and Meadowood reporting demand levels 
that exceed their ability to provide support.
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Grant recipients meet the council’s funding 
accountability agreement
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Residents are satisfied with community halls/centres

Work completed to update and improve the lowest rating facilities based on 
the previous years’ results. Ongoing work to improve facilities for users is 
being addressed via the Asset Management Planning process. 
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Number of personnel involved in Civil Defence 
Emergency Management training over the year
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The actual for 2007/08 has been corrected due to a change in  
financial reporting.

A number of community groups reached a stage in their facility projects 
where they were able to uplift their Community Facilities Fund grant from 
previous years’ allocation. Grants are held in a special fund until such time 
as groups are ready to uplift.

Net operating expenditure per rateable property
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Note 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income      

General rates and other revenue 9,903 10,354 10,912 

User charges 26 58 56 

Property income 16 32 13

Operating grants and subsidies 310 258 247

Capital grants and subsidies - - 18

10,255 10,702 11,246

Expenditure

Expenditure 8,066 8,552 8,618

Finance costs 1,400 1,411 1,683

Depreciation and amortisation 92 20 11

9,558 9,983 10,312

Operating surplus 697 719 934

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 9 - 224

1 9 - 224

Loans repaid 780 739 721

Total funding required 789 739 945

Funded by

Operating surplus 697 719 934

Funding from non-cash expenses 92 20 11

Total funding of capital 789 739 945

(1) For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 
Capital Projects. 

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence financial information
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Housing for Older People
Overview

The council continues to provide housing 
because of its historical involvement with central 
government social policy. The housing is provided 
for older people with limited financial means at 
minimal cost to the city’s ratepayers. In providing 
Housing for Older People, the council supports 
the values of a safe environment and access to 
housing that supports community well-being and 
the independence of older people. The council 
currently owns, maintains and manages 22 
complexes and 458 units. In addition, the council 
provides affordable own-your-own housing for a 
further 37 owner occupiers.

The council has chosen to provide this service 
through in-house planning, administration and 
operation.

Fire Service safety initiative

A new joint partnership between 
North Shore City Council and the 
New Zealand Fire Service supports 
safety in the home for the council’s 
Housing for Older People residents. 
The New Zealand Fire Service visits 
tenants to remind them about fire 
safety, check their smoke alarms 
and replace batteries.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Neutral Positive Neutral

Caters for growing  
elderly population

Provides low cost  
housing

Caters for whole  
community

Commitment to  
sustainable principles

Provides good quality  
low cost housing

Rentals not at  
market rate

No cultural bias  

Community Services
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements in 2009/09

Investigate programmes to support healthy and active 
lifestyles that encourage independence and well-being for 
our tenants.

This year, 54 residents with an average age of 75 
participated in the ‘Living Well’ programme which identifies 
falls risks within the Housing for Older People programme. 
The project works to mitigate these risks and also facilitates 
greater access to community-based activities, including for 
exercise and social interaction. The project’s findings are 
used to allocate part of the maintenance budget. 

A Fire Service Agreement was initiated to support greater fire 
risk identification and programmes to support tenants.

Tenant Information Clinics provided information and advice 
on a range of aspects from health and well-being to risks.

Provide conveniently located, secure and affordable housing 
for older people.

Housing complexes were assessed in 2008/09 using a 
Condition Assessment and Property Quality Standard (PQS) 
methodology. The PQS assessment identifies links to local 
facilities and services that add to safety and well-being for 
example, public transport and community services. It also 
considers Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) factors such as lighting, visibility and connectivity. 
The results were included in Asset Management Plans.

Maintain and refurbish the existing houses  
and units.

The renewals programme was delivered against targets both 
financially and at project level. Programme maintenance 
projects were completed to 100 per cent of projects 
identified in the 2008/09 schedule.

Investigate programmes to develop more ecologically friendly 
environments and waste management practices at the 22 
complexes.

Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority (EECA) 
funding was successfully achieved to continue with 
insulation projects. Condition and PQS assessment included 
assessment of evidence of dampness and the star rating of 
appliances provided by the council.

Discussions were initiated with the Corporate Sustainability 
team to look at other initiatives to implement in 2009/10.

Ensure that the complexes are provided in environments that 
are safe and secure.

Tenant Information Clinics included information on areas 
such as Fire Safety and Community Policing.

CPTED assessments now form part of condition survey work 
within the asset management planning framework.

Continue to investigate and implement initiatives  
to access other funding sources.

EECA subsidies provided for under floor insulation. 
Partnerships with North Shore Age Concern ensure referrals 
for support are available. Partnerships with community 
coordinators provide events and opportunities for tenants to 
recreate and be active locally at an affordable cost.

Review current ‘own-your-own’ stock. The review was completed. However, there will be no further 
progress as this area is impacted by the transition to the 
Auckland Council and needs to be assessed in a regional 
context.
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Torbay Flats

Liz Watkins, housing 
coordinator, with residents 
outside the Torbay Flats 
housing for older people 
accommodation.

Level of service provision

Tenants are satisfied with the property management 
and maintenance services
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Net operating expenditure per rateable property
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.

Waiting list for qualifying prospective tenants is 
maintained relative to the total number of units
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There has been an increasing demand from migrant communities.

129North Shore City Council



Housing for Older People financial information

 
 

Note 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 391 465 439 

Property income 1,749 1,700 1,659 

2,140 2,165 2,098 

Expenditure

Expenditure 1,992 2,007 1,944

Finance costs 6 7 6 

Depreciation of fixed assets 1,516 1,624 1,438 

3,514 3,638 3,388 

Operating deficit (1,374) (1,473) (1,290)

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

Renewal assets 139 148 145 

1 139 148 145

Loans repaid 3 3 3 

Operating deficit 1,374 1,473 1,290 

Total funding required 1,516 1,624 1,438 

Funded by

Funding from non-cash expenses 1,516 1,624 1,438 

Total funding of capital 1,516 1,624 1,438 

  
 (1)  For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements, 

Capital Projects.          
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Cemeteries
Overview

The Burial and Cremation Act requires the council 
to ensure that adequate burial and cremation 
facilities exist in the city. To fulfil this obligation 
the council owns and manages the North Shore 
Memorial Park Cemetery and Crematorium.

Located in Albany, this park is a tranquil retreat 
where present and future generations can pay 
their respects in quiet remembrance. It is the 
main burial, cremation and memorial location 
in the city and the site of one of the largest 
cemeteries in the Auckland region. The North 
Shore Memorial Park offers a high-standard burial 
and cremation service at minimal cost to the 
ratepayer. We hold over 65,000 computerised 
records of cremations and burials covering seven 
cemeteries on the North Shore dating back to 
1840. The cemetery and its witnessing room aim 
to provide for the changing and cultural needs of 
our increasingly diverse community.

The cemetery is located in Schnapper Rock Road 
in Albany and includes a crematorium, chapel, 
reception lounge and associated buildings and 
toilets. 

The council has chosen to provide this service 
through in-house planning, administration and 
operation.

North Shore Memorial Park

Craig Andrew, manager of the North 
Shore Memorial Park Cemetery 
and Crematorium which provides 
a tranquil retreat for people to pay 
their respects to their loved ones.

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Neutral Positive Neutral

Community health and  
well-being

Low cost to ratepayer Caters for the whole 
community and all races

Improved amenity values

Community remembrance Derives economic benefit 
through patronage across 
the Auckland region 

Preservation of history Use of open space

Community Services
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Provide a high standard of burial and cremation services at 
minimal cost to ratepayers.

The services provided are of high quality and this is reflected 
in customer and stakeholder feedback. Eighty-eight per cent 
of ratepayers who have used the cemetery services in the 
past 12 months are satisfied with the service they received. 
The pricing policy for the North Shore Memorial Park takes 
into consideration customer driven services, business targets 
and regional pricing structures. 

Upgrading works to meet future needs and demands. 
Planning for a new cremator to be installed in 2009.

The building component of the Cremator Project was 
completed on time and within budget. The Major cremator 
was commissioned and is due for installation in November 
2009. This will complete the project.

Central area development planning to meet burial needs 
including the development of ash gardens by 2008.

The central area development was completed with an 
expected 18 months to two years remaining use. The 
northern area development was initiated with development 
preceding projected use dates by approximately 18 months. 

Level of service provision

Customers are satisfied with the cemetery services 
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Funeral directors and Monumental Masons 
are satisfied with the cemetery services
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Total operational operating expenditure per rateable property
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No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Note 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue (238) (27) (555)

User charges 1,683 1,571 1,840 

Operating grants and subsidies 4 1 4 

1,449 1,545 1,289 

Expenditure

Expenditure 1,395 1,372 1,204 

Finance costs 32 56 10 

Depreciation of fixed assets 157 277 157 

1,584 1,705 1,371

Operating deficit (135) (160) (82)

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 703 1,488 182 

1 703 1,488 182 

Loans repaid 9 9 4 

Operating deficit 135 160 82 

Total funding required 847 1,657 268 

Funded by

Funding from non-cash expenses 157 277 157 

Loans raised 690 1,380 111 

Total funding of capital 847 1,657 268 

(1) For more detailed information about the capital projects completed during 2008/09, please refer to Part 3 – Financial Statements,  
Capital Projects. 

Cemeteries financial information

Cemetery view

Our online cemetery search 
allows people to search 
cemetery records and find 
information about their 
family and friends. It has 
over 65,000 records of 
cremations and burials in 
North Shore City dating back 
to 1840.
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Economic Development

The prosperity of North 
Shore City and its people is 
determined by its economic 
health. Levels of business 
activity and growth, a skilled 
workforce and tourism all 
contribute towards a healthy 
economy.

While not directly involved in economic 
development, there are many ways in which the 
council can plan and promote it. For many years 
the council has sought to become more self-
sufficient, encouraging economic development 
in the city to provide employment opportunities 
close to home. Higher levels of self-sufficiency 
not only improve people’s quality of life – they 
also help reduce traffic congestion. The council 
has also sought to attract science, education and 
technology industries to the city.

With increasing global competition, we need to 
have the right infrastructure and support systems 
in place to attract the industries we want for the 
city to succeed in a knowledge economy and 
attract tourism. We also need to make sure our 
residents and ratepayers have access to the right 
skills and knowledge to be able to get involved in 
the economy.

Economic Initiatives is the output area that covers 
the council’s economic development activity.

Community outcome
Output Area / Activity

Economic Initiatives

Parks and open spaces

Natural environment

Transport

Built environment

Housing

Personal safety and crime

Community services and facilities

Education and training

Physical activity, sport and personal health

Business and economy

City identity and branding

Employment

Arts and culture

Our people

Heritage

KEY:  Direct contribution  Indirect contribution

Grand Prix cycling event
The North Shore City Grand Prix 
cycle race is one of the many 
exciting events that the council 
proudly sponsors and promotes.

Visitor Information Centre 
Raewyn Bredesen, visitor information centres manager, helping a customer. The Visitor Information 
Centres provide a wealth of information about where to go and what to see in North Shore City.



Overview

The economic well-being of North Shore City is determined 
by the range and depth of its business activity. Business 
confidence and growth, underpinned by a skilled workforce 
and quality of place, contribute to a healthy economy. While 
not the only driver of business activity, the council and its 
partner Enterprise North Shore play key roles in planning 
and promoting economic development.

Historically the council has encouraged economic 
development so that job opportunities for the city’s residents 
are available closer to home. Greater employment self-
sufficiency improves peoples’ quality of life and relieves 
traffic congestion. More recently, in the face of increasing 
regional and global competition, the council has also 
sought to attract science, education and technology 
industries to the city. It recognises the importance of 
providing appropriate infrastructure (land, roads, water and 
telecommunications) and a business-friendly regulatory 
environment. It also acknowledges the need for residents 
and ratepayers to have access to the skills and attitudes 
that enable them to participate in the knowledge economy.

 

The downturn in the economy driven by the global recession 
has affected North Shore City and it is the council’s and 
Enterprise North Shore’s intention to work hard to minimise 
the impacts.

Tourism is identified in the North Shore City Economic 
Development Strategy as a lead sector with significant 
growth potential. North Shore City has much to offer as a 
tourist destination. Tourism creates jobs, generates income 
and can attract investment from external sources. Well-
managed tourism can also enhance the environment, enrich 
our communities and improve individual quality of life. The 
day visitor clearly forms an integral part of the city’s tourism 
system and for this reason is included in all discussions in 
North Shore City’s Tourism Management Plan.

Local Visitor Information Centres also play an important 
role in providing information, reservation services and 
marketing for the city’s attractions. Located at Takapuna 
and Devonport, they are open 364 days of the year.

The council has decided to provide this service through 
in-house planning and administration, with a mix of in-house 
and sponsored service delivery.

Economic Initiatives

Economic Development
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Creating jobs
Our Targeted Business 
Attraction Programme in 
partnership with  
Enterprise North Shore has 
been successful in creating 
new jobs in the city.



Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Neutral Positive Positive Neutral

Growth rate of new business 
is slowing

Employment growing 
strongly

Culturally diverse  
workforce

Increasing number of 
residents working locally

Unemployment rate 
consistently low

Hourly earning growing Economy able to sustain 
a wide range of cultural 
opportunities

Beginning to attract 
commuters from elsewhere 
in Auckland region

Strategic priorities for 2006/09 (as per City Plan) Actions / achievements

Business friendliness audits

A review of council policy, regulatory processes and services, 
particularly as they apply to small and medium enterprises 
(SMEs) that make up 93 per cent of North Shore business.

The council operates an ongoing and continuous review of 
the business friendliness of its regulation. It is intended that 
criteria in this area will be one of the directions of the District 
Plan review.

Protection of strategic opportunities

A review of current and future business land supply, 
particularly consideration of how to protect the integrity of 
business-zoned land.

Initial scoping work was carried out to identify vacant 
business land and business land suitable for redevelopment. 
Continuation of this work will be a significant part of the 
District Plan review.

Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Implement economic development initiatives arising 
from national, regional and local economic development 
strategies.

The council continues to work within the regional economic 
development framework and its own Economic Development 
Strategy. Working in partnership with Enterprise North Shore 
on the Targeted Business Attraction Programme has brought 
some successes in creating new jobs in the city.

Regulate current/future business land supply and protect 
business-zoned land.

Regulation and protection of business land is achieved 
through the District Plan. A focus on the needs of business 
will be an important part of the upcoming District Plan 
review.

Plan for land, infrastructure and amenity investment 
throughout the city and its town centres.

Planning for land, infrastructure and amenity investment is 
done through the council’s District Plan and City Plan.  
A focus on the needs of business will be an important part  
of the upcoming District Plan review.

Work with Enterprise North Shore to attract new businesses 
to the city from the targeted industry sectors identified in the 
Economic Development Strategy.

Working in partnership with Enterprise North Shore on 
the Targeted Business Attraction Programme has brought 
success in creating new jobs in the city. However, current 
economic conditions have made it difficult in the current year.

Plan to attract science, education and technology industries 
to the city.

This initiative is delivered in partnership with Enterprise  
North Shore and the Massey University eCentre at Albany. 
This year a significant focus was made on the bio-science 
sector.

Work with commercial partners to increase the supply of and 
access to fast broadband in the city.

The council’s digital strategy is under review to align it with 
changing government policy and investment.

The North Shore Education and Access Loop (NEAL)/urban 
fibre network was completed successfully and work is under 
way to drive uptake and extension of the initial network.
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Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements

Support our schools and tertiary institutes in their efforts to 
attract international students

Discussions were undertaken with the Jeollabuk-do province 
in Korea for North Shore City to become a preferred 
destination.

The council continued to work on inter-school coordination 
and the preparation and supply of marketing materials when 
appropriate.

Where practical and economically viable, aid our industries in 
their efforts to develop export markets.

In an effort to develop international stepping stones for 
North Shore City business, the council signed a sister city 
agreement with Qingdao in the Shandong Province of China, 
and is negotiating with Pohang-si in South Korea.

Promote key conferences and events. North Shore City hosted over 500 events in 2008/09. Of 
these, the council sponsored over 35 and actively worked 
with organisers to ensure maximum success both on the 
national stage and where possible, internationally.

Attract visitors to our city. Successful bids for the 2009 NZ Badminton Grand Prix, 
2009 FIBA U19 Basketball World Championships, 2009 
World Accordion Championships and the 2010 Splash 
Yachting World Championships. The combined estimated 
visitor numbers to North Shore City connected with these 
events is in excess of 10,000.

Implement priority projects set out in the Tourism 
Management Plan.

A new programme of tourism promotion initiatives was 
launched to achieve heightened visibility in a highly 
competitive market, including a new visitor guide, redesigned 
website, a new ‘What’s On’ guide, together with other fresh 
marketing and promotional publications.

Beach Series

Events such as the King of the Bays 
ocean swim from Milford to Takapuna 
attract professional swimmers, casual 
swimmers and spectators from far and 
wide. Photo courtesy of Ben Watson, 
North Shore Times.

Level of service provision

Residents and businesses are satisfied 
with the services of Enterprise North Shore 
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Residents and businesses are satisfied 
with the services of the visitor information centres
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

Targeted rates – mainstreet 930 931 481

General rates and other revenue 4,739 4,621 3,961

User charges 74 137 96

5,743 5,689 4,538 

Expenditure

Expenditure 5,738 5,685 4,533

Depreciation of fixed assets 5 4 5

5,743 5,689 4,538

Operating surplus - - - 

Economimc Initiatives financial information

Number of visitor guest nights spent on the North Shore
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Target 2008/09 = 4000,000

Note: 2008/09 figures are from June 2008 to May 2009

The downturn in the number of guest nights was due to a general slow 
down in the economy.

Number of registered job seekers less than target
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Target 2008/09 = 3,000

This measure is no longer available at a territorial authority level from 
Statistics New Zealand.

Number of additional jobs created in target sectors

Target 2008/09 = 3,500
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Total operational expenditure per rateable property
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The downturn in additional new jobs was due to a general slow down in the 
national economy.

The increase in expenditure is mainly from promotion of tourism and events; 
and the establishment of two new Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), 
Albany and Birkenhead, which are funded through a targeted rate that only 
applies to businesses in BIDs.

Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Governance and Leadership

Local government provides 
community leadership and 
represents it residents and 
ratepayers.

Councillors, the Mayor and community board 
members are elected to represent the view of 
North Shore City residents and ratepayers and 
to make decisions on their behalf, in the best 
interests of current and future generations. 

North Shore City Council genuinely encourages 
community input and involvement in its decision-
making processes. It actively seeks its residents 
and ratepayer’s views on the council’s plans, 
policies and projects and this input can and does 
make a difference. The council also works hard 
to represent North Shore City’s interests with 
local, regional and central government authorities, 
agencies and groups. This significant activity is 
fully covered by the Governance and Leadership 
output area which contributes to the council’s key 
outcomes in the following way:

Community outcome
Output area / activity

Governance and Leadership

Parks and open spaces

Natural environment

Transport

Built environment

Housing

Personal safety and crime

Community services and facilities

Education and training

Physical activity, sport and personal health

Business and economy

City identity and branding

Employment

Arts and culture

Our people

Heritage

Retiring Kaumatua
Retiring Kaumatua, Matua Arnold and wife, 
Whaea Rangitiinia Wilson, were honoured 
by North Shore City Councillors and Mayor 
Andrew Williams for their years of support 
and service.

Fire Service partnership
Partnerships between the council and organisations such as the New Zealand Fire Service 
and NZ Police contribute to North Shore City being recognised as one of the safest cities 
in the country with World Health Organisation (WHO) Safe Community accreditation.

KEY:  Direct contribution  Indirect contribution



Key projects (as per Annual Plan 2008/09) Actions / achievements in 2008/09

Implement the City Plan 2006-2016. Year three of the City Plan 2006-2016 was implemented via 
the Annual Plan 2008/09.

Participate in production of One Plan. Production of the regional One Plan was successfully 
completed with high quality North Shore input. This regionally 
agreed plan was the combined effort of all councils in the 
Auckland region and central government.

Participate in the Royal Commission of Inquiry into  
Auckland Governance.

The council has played a full part in the Royal Commission 
and subsequent government process involving the review 
of Auckland Governance arrangements. This involved 
submissions and representations by the council on behalf of 
the community.

Review City Plan 2006-2016. The City Plan 2006-2016 was successfully reviewed  
resulting in the adoption of the City Plan 2009-2024 with  
an unqualified audit opinion. 

Impact on community well-being

Social Economic Cultural Environmental

Positive Positive Positive Positive

Provides democratic voice Low cost for benefit gained Enables decision-making in 
the best interests of the city

Community ownership of 
environmental decision-
making

Opportunity for social 
cohesion

Local governance and 
leadership promotes North 
Shore City

Open to the whole 
community

Governance and Leadership

Governance and Leadership

Overview

To fulfil its obligations under the Local 
Government Act 2002, the council develops 
policy and long-term direction for the city and 
uses committees to lead debate on policy issues. 
It makes decisions on competing priorities in the 
best interests of the community.

Six community boards provide a direct link 
between the community and the council. 
They monitor works and services in their local 
communities. There are increased expectations 
from community groups for the council to 
respond to their needs and involve them in 
decisions that affect them. The council actively 
seeks community participation in its decision-
making. All council, standing committee and 
community board monthly meetings are open to 
the public.

The council also uses public submissions and 
consultation processes, surveys, newsletters 
and brochures and regular communications with 
the media to communicate with its communities. 
New technologies provide opportunities to 
increase resident and ratepayer access to 
information, deliver services more efficiently and 
develop more innovative ways to involve the 
community in city life. 

The council is actively working with other local 
authorities on solutions to the region’s growth, 
transport and environmental issues, and 
advocates North Shore City’s interests.
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New Kaumatua
New Kaumatua, 
Matua Morgan was 
welcomed by the 
council.



Level of service provision

Percentage of meetings held in public
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Number of new citizens receiving their citizenship 
 certificate from North Shore City Council
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Numbers of new citizens are down due to the current hiatus taking effect 
as a result of legislation introduced to increase time required in New Zealand 
for eligibility for citizenship from three years to five years.

Number of submissions received to the City Plan or Annual Plan
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Note: Peaks are City Plan years, troughs are Annual Plan years.

 
 

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement   

Income

General rates and other revenue 5,986 5,818 6,267

User charges 73 91 277 

6,059 5,909 6,544

Expenditure

Expenditure 6,058 5,907 6,543 

Depreciation of fixed assets 1 2 1 

6,059 5,909 6,544 

Operating surplus - - - 

Governance and Leadership financial information

Total operational expenditure per rateable property
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For information, topics receiving the most submissions in 
the last three years have been: (as a percentage of total 
submissions received)

 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09

Transport 53% 33% 24%

Parks and Reserves 33% 32% 11%

Rates 25% 27% 29%

Albany Recreation Facility 3% 3% 1%

Long Bay 3% 5% 0%

Economic Initiatives 8% 2%

No significant variances in levels of service have been noted over the year.
Note: Refer to Part 4 – Appendices for detailed survey methodology.
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Bringing communities 
together with fun, family 
activities and events. 



PART 3 Financial Statements

We have continued to carefully 
manage the city’s finances and 
assets. Our auditors gave us a 
clean audit opinion which was 
signed off on 26 August 2009. 
The council’s financial position 
is sound with total assets 
valued at $4.4 billion and total 
liabilities of $0.4 billion. We 
continue to deliver high quality 
service and this is reflected in 
maintained satisfaction levels 
across all our activities.

Highlights

· $159m invested in capital infrastructure.

· Invested $80m on wastewater ($59m on 
Rosedale Wastewater Tunnel and Outfall), 
$38m on transport and $16m on parks.

· Total debt at year end was $327m, which  
was $36m lower than projected.

· Council’s income was $264m of which 75 per 
cent was from property and water rates. 

·  Details of capital projects completed during  
the year are provided.

This section 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Income

Rates revenue 2  197,150  196,930  185,784  197,032  185,723 

Other revenue 3  80,170  106,380  127,665  86,248  133,247 

Other (losses)/gains 4 (13,698) 788 (1,359)  (16,198) 1,641 

Total income  263,622  304,098  312,090  267,082  320,611 

Expenditure

Personnel costs 5  61,696  62,800  59,392  63,853  61,573 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 16,17  51,639  50,620  45,905  53,963  48,254 

Other expenses 6  127,356  118,421  121,295  128,785  122,950 

Finance costs 7  18,394  21,239  14,708  18,516  14,830 

Development contributions refunds 8  18,141  -  -  18,141  - 

Total operating expenditure  277,226  253,080  241,300 283,258  247,607 

Operating (deficit/)surplus before tax  (13,604)  51,018  70,790  (16,176)  73,004 

Income tax expense 9  -  -  -  227  306 

(Deficit)/surplus after tax  (13,604)  51,018  70,790  (16,403)  72,698 

Other comprehensive income

(Losses)/gains on property, plant and equipment  (71,212)  141,655  166,580  (71,212)  166,580 

Financial assets at fair value through equity  21,294  -  (1,147)  21,294  (1,147)

Total other comprehensive income for the year  (49,918)  141,655  165,433  (49,918)  165,433 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (63,522)  192,673  236,223  (66,321)  238,131 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10 73 - 1,244  5,651 9,345 

Trade and other receivables 11 43,177  48,516 44,974  45,098 46,558 

Inventories 12 1,117  179 533  1,117 533 

Biological assets 39  64 29  39  29 

Other financial assets 13  -  -  1,437  3,025  1,692 

Non-current assets held for sale 15 5,700  70 5,700  5,700  5,700 

Total current assets 50,106  48,829  53,917  60,630  63,857 

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 11 3  -  3  203  203 

Property, plant and equipment 16 4,127,685  4,410,790  4,090,177  4,190,435  4,153,946 

Intangible assets 17 1,721  476 1,979  1,730  1,994 

Investment property 18 10,125  11,447  10,533  20,625  23,533 

Other financial assets 13  168,742  148,596 147,448  168,642 147,348 

Derivative financial instruments 14  -  4,080  1,487  -  1,487 

Total non-current assets 4,308,276 4,575,389 4,251,627 4,381,635 4,328,511 

Total assets 4,358,382 4,624,218 4,305,544 4,442,265 4,392,368 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 61,211  95,262  63,418  63,463  65,657 

Provisions 20 36,441  6,540  13,233  36,441  13,233 

Employee benefit liabilities 21 7,396  5,378  6,667  7,547  6,791 

Borrowings 22 40,000  9,920  9,350  40,073  9,439 

Other liabilities 23  -  -  -  85  117 

Total current liabilities  145,048  117,100  92,668  147,609  95,237 

Non-current liabilities

Employee benefit liabilities 21 1,221  1,226  1,245  1,221  1,245 

Borrowings 22 286,800  353,286  233,728  288,251  235,198 

Other liabilities 23  -  -  -  733  859 

Derivative financial instruments 14  10,932  -  -  10,932  - 

Deferred tax liability 9  -  -  -  117  106 

Total non-current liabilities 298,953  354,512  234,973  301,254  237,408 

Total liabilities 444,001 471,612 327,641 448,863 332,645 

Equity

Retained earnings 24 3,282,413  3,356,694  3,296,721  3,361,434  3,378,541 

Other reserves 24 631,968  795,912  681,182  631,968  681,182 

Total equity 3,914,381  4,152,606  3,977,903  3,993,402  4,059,723 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Opening balances

Accumulated funds and retained earnings 3,296,721 3,302,840 3,229,829 3,378,541 3,309,741 

Special funds 26,464 25,275 22,913 26,464 22,913 

Asset revaluation reserve 594,154 570,107 427,227 594,154 427,227 

Fair value through equity reserve 60,564 61,711 61,711 60,564 61,711 

Opening balance  3,977,903  3,959,933  3,741,680  4,059,723  3,821,592 

Changes in equity

Accumulated funds and retained earnings

Net (loss)/surplus for the year  (13,604) 51,018 70,790  (16,403) 72,698 

Transfer (to)/from special funds  (571) 2,836 (3,551)  (571) (3,551) 

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve  (133)  - (347)  (133) (347) 

Special funds

Transfer to/(from) retained earnings 571 (2,836) 3,551 571 3,551 

Asset revaluation reserve

Share of other comprehensive income  (71,212) 141,655 166,580  (71,212) 166,580 

Transfer to retained earnings  133  - 347  133 347 

Fair value through equity reserve

Share of other comprehensive income  21,294  - (1,147)  21,294 (1,147) 

Total comprehensive income (63,522)  192,673 236,223  (66,321)  238,131 

Closing balances

Accumulated funds and retained earnings 3,282,413 3,356,694 3,296,721 3,361,434 3,378,541 

Special funds 27,035 22,439 26,464 27,035 26,464 

Asset revaluation reserve 523,075 711,762 594,154 523,075 594,154 

Fair value through equity reserve 81,858 61,711 60,564 81,858 60,564 

Closing balance 3,914,381  4,152,606 3,977,903  3,993,402  4,059,723 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash provided from:

Rates revenue  195,130  196,930  184,251  195,012  184,122 

Income from significant activities  33,326  36,867  42,357  34,132  43,138 

Interest received  80  108  40  702  681 

Dividends received  330  250  568  33  31 

Operating grants and subsidies  11,234  10,781  8,596  10,649  8,011 

Income for capital projects  29,146  44,034  65,437  29,146  65,437 

Receipts from other revenue  2,264  -  -  7,712  5,319 

Goods and services tax (net)  2,602  -  -  2,612  - 

Total cash provided  274,112  288,970  301,249  279,998  306,739 

Cash applied to:

Payments to suppliers, employees 
 and elected members  178,631  174,756  170,454  182,228  174,479 

Interest paid  18,754  21,239  14,126  19,258  14,248 

Levies  5,304  5,303  5,275  5,304  5,275 

Income tax paid  -  -  -  202  119 

Goods and services tax (net)  -  -  319  -  374 

Bonds and deposits  1,251  -  3,465  1,251  3,465 

Total cash applied  203,940  201,298  193,639  208,243  197,960 

Net cash from operating activities 25  70,172  87,672  107,610  71,755  108,779 

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash provided from:

Sinking funds realised  1,437  1,547  1,022  1,437  1,022 

Sale of property, plant and equipment  239  70  1,102  239  1,102 

Decrease in advances  1  -  3  1  3 

Total cash provided  1,677  1,617  2,127  1,677  2,127 

Cash applied to:

Contributions to sinking funds  -  -  59  -  59 

Increase in investments  -  -  - 442  -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  156,492  197,632  171,904  157,792  172,308 

Purchase of intangibles  250  107  -  253  - 

Total cash applied  156,742  197,739  171,963  158,487  172,367 

Net cash from investing activities  (155,065)  (196,122)  (169,836)  (156,810)  (170,240)

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2009 (continued)

 
 
 

Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash provided from:

Proceeds from borrowings  93,675  117,732  70,855  93,675  72,125 

Total cash provided  93,675  117,732  70,855  93,675  72,125 

Cash applied to:

Repayment of borrowings  9,885  9,282  6,461  9,899  6,474 

Repayment of finance leases  68  -  160  76  167 

Total cash applied  9,953  9,282  6,621  9,975  6,641 

Net cash from financing activities  83,722  108,450  64,234  83,700  65,484 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,171)  -  2,008  (1,355)  4,023 

Opening cash balance at 1 July  1,244  -  (764)  6,952  5,255 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 10  73  -  1,244  5,597  9,278 

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue Department. The 
GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial 
statement purposes. 

During the year ending 30 June 2009, the group acquired no property, plant and equipment by means of finance leases (2008 - nil). 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements. 
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Summary of Capital Expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

New capital expenditure

Infrastructure  95,938  126,215 

Environmental Management  1,659  1,700 

Community Services  18,276  31,431 

Council Services  584  1,443 

Total new capital expenditure  116,457  160,789 

Renewal capital expenditure

Wastewater  11,530  12,022 

Stormwater  2,078  1,757 

Transportation  16,260  17,164 

Water Supply  2,767  2,756 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  4,239  4,251 

Leisure  580  - 

Housing for Older People  139  148 

Property Management  482  752 

Total renewal capital expenditure  38,075  38,850 

Total new and renewal capital expenditure  154,532  199,639 

Vested assets

Wastewater  756  1,658 

Stormwater  809  2,210 

Transportation  2,481  8,842 

Water Supply  232  1,077 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  -  553 

Vested assets from development contributions policy  35  - 

Total vested assets  4,313  14,340 

Total capital expenditure  158,845  213,979 

Funding

NZ Transport Agency subsidies - new works  7,796  16,119 

NZ Transport Agency subsidies - renewal works  5,651  6,869 

Northern Busway subsidies  269  - 

Other grants and subsidies  1,073  1,008 

Special funds  -  5,000 

Loans  93,670  117,732 

Development levies and contributions  10,119  18,241 

Sale of assets  123  70 

General rates and other revenue  20,984  20,921 

Sewerage revenue  10,297  8,815 

Water revenue  4,190  4,504 

Capital funding account  360  360 

Vested assets from development contributions policy  35  - 

Vested assets - other  4,278  14,340 

Total funding  158,845  213,979 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Summary of Capital Expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2009 (continued)

 
 
 

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Activity

Infrastructure

Wastewater  79,516  85,337 

Stormwater  8,086  7,956 

Transportation  36,005  61,187 

Water Supply  4,966  5,434 

128,573 159,914 

Environmental Management

Environmental Protection  1,659  1,700 

 1,659  1,700 

Community Services

Libraries  5,376  7,919 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  15,966  25,366 

Leisure Services  1,041  909 

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence  9  - 

Housing for Older People  139  148 

Cemeteries  703  1,488 

23,234 35,830 

Council Services

Property Management  482  791 

Corporate Support  584  1,404 

1,066 2,195 

Total new and renewal capital expenditure  154,532  199,639 

The statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, 
these financial statements.
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Statement of Accounting Policies for the year ended 30 June 2009

Reporting entity

North Shore City Council is a territorial local authority 
governed by the Local Government Act 2002. 

The group consists of North Shore City Council, its council 
controlled trading organisations NSC Holdings Limited 
(100% owned), Enterprise North Shore Trust, North Shore 
City Performing Arts Centre Management Board Trust and 
its subsidiary North Shore Promotions NZ Limited, North 
Shore Events Centre Trust Board, North Shore Domain 
and North Harbour Stadium Trust Board and North Shore 
Heritage Trust.

The primary objective of the council is to provide goods 
or services for the community or social benefit rather 
than making financial return. Accordingly, the council has 
designated itself and the group as public benefit entities for 
the purposes of New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).

The financial statements of the council are for the year 
ended 30 June 2009. The financial statements were 
authorised for issue by the council on 26 August 2009.

Basis of preparation 

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the council and group have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 2002: Part 6, Section 98 and Part 3 of 
Schedule 10, which includes the requirement to comply with 
New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ 
GAAP). 

These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with NZ GAAP. They comply with NZ IFRS, 
and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as 
appropriate for public benefit entities. 

The Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) 
Act 2009 that was enacted 23 May 2009 provides for the 
dissolution of the North Shore City Council and other local 
authorities in the Auckland Region on 31 October 2010, 
refer to note 32 for further details. As a consequence of the 
dissolution of the council, the group structure in its current 
form will also cease to exist. Accordingly, the financial 
statements have been prepared on a dissolution basis.

The council expects the services it currently delivers to 
continue to be delivered by the organisational structure 
put in place under the new Act. Consequently all assets 
and liabilities of the council and group will be relevant to 
that new structure, therefore no adjustments have been 
made to the financial statements for the dissolution basis 
of preparation.

Measurement base

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis, modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, 
certain infrastructural assets, investment property, biological 
assets and financial instruments (including derivative 
instruments). 

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000). The functional currency of the council is New 
Zealand dollars. 

Standards and interpretation issued and not yet adopted

NZ IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) and the 
amended NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements are effective for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2009 and must be applied prospectively from 
that date. The main changes the revised NZ IFRS 3 and 
amended NZ IAS 27 will make to existing requirements or 
practice are:

·   Partial acquisitions – Non-controlling interests are 
measured either as their proportionate interest in the 
net identifiable assets (which is the original NZ IFRS 3 
requirement) or at fair value.

·   Step acquisitions – The requirement to measure at 
fair value every asset and liability at each step for 
the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill has 
been removed. Instead, goodwill is measured as the 
difference at acquisition date between the fair value of any 
investment in the business held before the acquisition, the 
consideration transferred and the net assets acquired.

·   Acquisition-related costs – Acquisition-related costs are 
generally recognised as expenses (rather than included in 
the cost of acquisition).

·  Contingent consideration – Contingent consideration 
must be recognised and measured at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognised in accordance with other NZ IFRSs, usually 
in profit or loss (rather than by adjusting the cost of 
acquisition).

The council will adopt the revised NZ IFRS 3 and amended 
NZ IAS 27 for the year ended 30 June 2010, which will 
impact on business combinations that occur on or after 
1 July 2009.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The purchase method is used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements, which involves adding together like 
items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses 
on a line-by-line basis. All significant intragoup balances, 
transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on 
consolidation.
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Subsidiaries

The council consolidates as subsidiaries in the group 
financial statements all entities where the council has the 
capacity to control their financing and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from the activities of the entity. This 
power exists where the council controls the majority voting 
power on the governing board or where such policies have 
been irreversibly predetermined by the council or where the 
determination of such policies is unable to materially impact 
the level of potential ownership benefits that arise from the 
activities of the subsidiary.

The council measures the cost of a business combination 
as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, 
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, in exchange 
for control of the subsidiary plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination.

Any excess of the cost of the business combination over 
the council’s interest is the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised 
as goodwill. If the council‘s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
recognised exceeds the cost of the business combination, 
the difference will be recognised immediately in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Investment in its subsidiaries are carried at cost in the 
council’s own “parent entity” financial statements. 

Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received.

Rates revenue

Rates are set annually by a resolution from council and 
relate to a financial year. All ratepayers are invoiced within 
the financial year to which the rates have been set. Rates 
revenue is recognised when levied.

Other revenue

Water billing revenue is recognised on an accrual basis. 
Unbilled usage, as a result of unread meters at year end, is 
accrued on an average usage basis.

Traffic and parking infringements are recognised when 
issued.

Revenue derived from licences and permits is recognised on 
application.

The council receives grants from Land Transport New 
Zealand, which subsidises part of the council’s costs in 
maintaining the local roading infrastructure. The subsidies 
are recognised as revenue upon entitlement as conditions 
pertaining to eligible expenditure have been fulfilled. 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at 
balance date, based on the actual service provided as a 
percentage of the total services to be provided.

Sales of goods are recognised when a product is sold to the 
customer. Sales are usually in cash or by credit card. The 
recorded revenue is the gross amount of the sale, including 
credit card fees payable for the transaction. Such fees are 
included in other expenses.

Rental revenue is recognised in the period that it relates.

Where a physical asset is acquired for nil or nominal 
consideration the fair value of the asset received is 
recognised as revenue. Assets vested in the council 
are recognised as revenue when control over the asset 
is obtained.

Where revenue is derived by acting as an agent for another 
party, the revenue that is recognised is the commission or 
fee on the transaction.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment 
has been established.

Development contributions

The council’s development contributions policy provides 
the council with a method to obtain contributions to fund 
infrastructure and reserves required as a result of growth, 
as provided for in section 106 of the Local Government Act 
2002.

Development contribution income is generally recognised 
when invoiced and due for payment. Development 
contributions that impose an obligation on the council 
to complete specific and narrowly defined works are 
recognised as liabilities and released to revenue as the 
works are progressed.

Development contributions are classified as part of 
“Other revenue”. 

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
to which they are incurred. 

The actual external interest cost relating to total council 
borrowings is charged to each activity on the basis of 
the actual borrowings generated in relation to each area. 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities in line with 
the debt repayment requirements of the council’s Treasury 
Management Policy.

Grant expenditure

Non-discretionary grants are those grants that are awarded 
if the grant application meets the specified criteria and are 
recognised as expenditure when an application that meets 
the specified criteria for the grant has been received.

Discretionary grants are those grants where the council has 
no obligation to award on receipt of the grant application 
and are recognised as expenditure when a successful 
applicant has been notified of the council’s decision. 
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Income tax

Income tax expense comprises both current tax and 
deferred tax, and is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by balance date.

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on 
the taxable profit for the current year, plus any adjustments 
to income tax payable in respect of prior years. Current 
tax is calculated using rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by balance date.

Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or 
recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary 
differences and unused tax losses. Temporary differences 
are differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the entity expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences 
or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the 
initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination, and at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable 
profit.

Deferred tax is recognised on taxable temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and 
interests in joint ventures, except where the company can 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Current tax and deferred tax is charged or credited to the 
statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates 
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case 
the tax is dealt with in equity. 

Leases

Finance leases

A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually 
transferred.

At the commencement of the lease term, the council 
recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased item or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.

The finance charge is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the lease period so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its 
useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether the council 
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset 
is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its 
useful life. 

Operating leases 

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset. Lease payments under an operating 
lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, 
and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially measured at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for 
impairment.

Loans, including loans to community organisations made 
by the council at nil, or below-market interest rates are 
initially recognised at the present value of their expected 
future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar asset/investment. They are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. The difference between the face value and present 
value of expected future cash flows of the loan is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income as a grant.

A provision for impairment of receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the council will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the effective interest method.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on 
the basis of weighted average costs.

The write down from cost to net realisable value is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Financial assets

The council classifies its financial assets into the following 
four categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and 
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receivables and financial assets at fair value through equity. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair 
value through profit or loss in which case the transaction 
costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised 
on trade-date, the date on which the council commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the council has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance 
sheet date. The quoted market price used is the current bid 
price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in 
an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 
The council uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt 
instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for 
the remaining financial instruments.

The four categories of financial assets are:

(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held 
for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit 
or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the short term or if so designated by management. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are 
classified as current assets if they are either held for trading 
or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date.

After initial recognition they are measured at their fair values. 
Gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(2) Loans and receivables

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.

After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when 
the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Loans and receivables 
are classified as “trade and other receivables” in the 
statement of financial position.

(3) Held to maturity

Held to maturity investments are assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the council 
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when 
the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

(4) Financial assets at fair value through equity

Financial assets at fair value through equity are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in 
non-current assets unless management intends to dispose 
of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date.

After initial recognition they are measured at their fair values. 

Gains and losses are recognised directly in equity except for 
impairment losses, which are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income. In the event of impairment, any 
cumulative losses previously recognised in equity will be 
removed from equity and recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income even though the asset has not been 
derecognised.

On derecognition the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets 

At each balance sheet date the council assesses whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The council uses derivative financial instruments to reduce 
its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing 
activities. In accordance with its Treasury Management 
Policy, the council does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value at each balance date. 
Changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The council has not adopted ‘hedge accounting’ in respect 
of any derivative financial instruments.
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Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for 
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction, not through continuing use. 
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Any impairment losses for write-downs of non-current 
assets held for sale are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Any increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised 
up to the level of any impairment losses that have been 
previously recognised.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a 
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they 
are classified as held for sale. 

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of 
a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be 
recognised. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of:

Operational assets - These include land, buildings, heritage 
assets, library books, plant and equipment, and motor 
vehicles.

Restricted assets - Restricted assets are parks and 
reserves owned by the council which provide a benefit 
or service to the community and cannot be disposed of 
because of legal or other restrictions. Roading land is 
classified in this category in recognition of the legal and 
other restrictions on disposal of these assets. 

Infrastructure assets - Infrastructure assets are the fixed 
utility systems owned by the council. Each asset class 
includes all items that are required for the network to 
function, for example, sewer reticulation includes reticulation 
piping and sewer pump stations.

Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to the council and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no 
cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at 
the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in 
asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are 
transferred to retained earnings.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are 
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item 
will flow to the council and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant and equipment other than land, at rates 
that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their 
estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of 
operational assets have been estimated as follows:

Asset classes Expected useful life (years)

Buildings

Fit out 9 - 45

Services 10 - 25

Structures 17 - 93

Other site improvements 8 - 50

Vehicles and plant 5 - 15

Equipment and tools 3 - 10

Furniture and office   
 equipment 

 
3 -10

Computer hardware 3 - 5

Library books 10
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The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major 
classes of infrastructural and restricted assets have been 
estimated as follows:

Asset classes Expected useful life (years)

Wastewater

Pipes and tunnel assets 50 - 120

Manholes 90

Pump stations 10 - 80

Public laterals 120

Wastewater treatment 
plant

Dams with rock core 100

Civil 33 - 80

Mechanical 8 - 50

Electrical 5 -15

Water supply

Piping 50 - 120

Hydrants 50

Meters 10 - 25

Service connections 100

Pump stations 10 - 80

Reservoirs 100

Stormwater

Piping 50 - 120

Manholes 100

Inlets and outlets 60

Catchpits 60

Channels 100

Channels unlined 50

Detention ponds/
structures

30 - 100

Transportation

Road pavement 20 - 100

Road surface 6 - 20

Bridges 75 - 100

Bus shelters 60

Traffic signs 8 - 10

Street lights 15 - 60

Traffic signals 5 - 20

Surface water channels 6 - 60

Other assets 25 - 100

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, 
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Revaluation

Those asset classes that are revalued are valued on a regular 
basis, as described below. All other asset classes are carried 
at depreciated historical cost. The carrying values of revalued 
items are reviewed at each balance date to ensure that those 
values are not materially different to fair value. 

Operational land and buildings:

Revalued at least five-yearly, at fair value as determined by 
three approaches that can be employed to provide value 
parameters, namely the Direct Sales Comparison approach, 
Income Approach or in the situation where the asset is 
specialised and no market evidence exists, the Optimised 
Depreciated Replacement approach. The most recent 
valuation was performed by Darroch Valuations Limited, 
and the valuation is effective as at 30 June 2009. Darrroch 
Valuations Limited is an experienced and independent 
valuer with extensive market knowledge.

Restricted assets:

Revalued at least three-yearly, at fair value as determined 
by three approaches that can be employed to provide value 
parameters, namely the Direct Sales Comparison approach, 
Income Approach or in the situation where the asset is 
specialised and no market evidence exists, the Optimised 
Depreciated Replacement approach. The most recent 
valuation for restricted assets land was performed Darrroch 
Valuations Limited, and the valuation is effective as at 30 
June 2009.

The most recent valuation for other restricted assets 
was undertaken in-house and followed the New Zealand 
Infrastructural asset valuation and depreciation guidelines 
issued by the National Asset Managers Steering Group 
(NAMS), and is effective 30 June 2009. An independent 
peer review of this valuation method was carried out by 
ANA Group Limited.

Land under roads

Land under roads, was valued based on the average land 
value rate per square metre applied to reserve land in North 
Shore City, effective 30 June 2002. Land under roads is no 
longer revalued.

Infrastructural asset classes: roads, water reticulation, 
sewerage reticulation and stormwater systems:

Revalued at least five-yearly, at fair value determined on a 
depreciated replacement cost basis. At balance date the 
council assesses the carrying values of its infrastructural 
assets to ensure that they do not differ materially from the 
assets’ fair values. If there is a material difference, then 
the off-cycle asset classes are revalued. The most recent 
valuation was performed in-house and followed the New 
Zealand Infrastructural Asset Valuation and Depreciation 
Guidelines issued by the National Asset Managers Steering 
Group (NAMS), and the valuation is effective as at 30 June 
2009.
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An independent peer review of the valuation methodology 
was carried out by ANA Group Limited. All infrastructural 
asset classes carried at valuation were valued.

Accounting for revaluations:

The council accounts for revaluations of property, plant and 
equipment on a class of asset basis.

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to an asset 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where this results 
in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this 
balance is expensed in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that 
off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income will be recognised 
first in the statement of comprehensive income up to the 
amount previously expensed, and then credited to the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset.

Biological assets

Livestock

Livestock are measured at their fair value less estimated 
point-of-sale costs. The fair value of livestock is determined 
on the basis of weighted average costs.

Gains or losses arising on initial recognition of biological 
assets as fair value less estimated point of sale costs and 
from a change in fair value less estimated point of sale costs 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The costs to maintain the biological assets are included in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs that are 
directly associated with the development of software for 
use by the council, are recognised as an intangible asset. 
Direct costs include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 
Software with a cost of less that $50,000 is expensed to 
the statement of comprehensive income.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life 
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and 
ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. 
The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major 
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:

Asset classes Expected useful life (years)

Computer software 3 - 8

Investment property

Properties leased to third parties under operating leases 
are classified as investment property unless the property is 
held to meet service delivery objectives, rather than to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including 
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, the council measures all investment 
property at fair value as determined annually by an 
independent valuer.

Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of 
investment property are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that have a finite useful life are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset 
where the future economic benefits or service potential of 
the asset are not primarily dependent on the assets ability 
to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if 
deprived of the asset, replace it’s remaining future economic 
benefits or service potential.

The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present 
value of expected future cash flows.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount the asset is impaired and the carrying amount 
is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued 
assets the impairment loss is recognised against the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results 
in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.
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The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset 
is credited to the revaluation reserve. However, to the 
extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was 
previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount (other than 
goodwill) the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

Employee entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that the council expects to be settled 
within 12 months of balance date are measured at nominal 
values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance 
date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at balance 
date, retirement gratuities and long service leave entitlements 
expected to be settled within 12 months, and sick leave.

The council recognises a liability for sick leave to the 
extent that absences in the coming year are expected to 
be greater than the sick leave entitlements earned in the 
coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused 
sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward at balance 
date, to the extent that the council anticipates it will be used 
by staff to cover those future absences.

The council recognises a liability and an expense for 
bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a 
past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Long-term employee entitlements

Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as 
long service leave and gratuities, have been calculated on 
an actuarial basis. The calculations are based on:

·   likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years 
of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will 
reach the point of entitlement and contractual entitlements 
information; and 

·   the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation schemes are recognised as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Defined benefit schemes

The council belongs to the Defined Benefit Plan 
Contributors Scheme (the scheme), which is managed by 
the Board of Trustees of the National Provident Fund. The 
scheme is a multi-employer defined benefit scheme.

Insufficient information is available to use defined benefit 
accounting, as it is not possible to determine from the 
terms of the scheme, the extent to which the surplus/deficit 
will affect future contributions by individual employers, as 
there is no prescribed basis for allocation. The scheme is 
therefore accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 

Provisions

The council recognises a provision for future expenditure 
of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present 
obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that expenditures will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognised 
for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

ACC Partnership Programme

The council belongs to the ACC Partnership Programme 
whereby the council accepts the management and financial 
responsibility of work related illnesses and accidents 
of employees. Under the ACC Partnership Programme 
the council is effectively providing accident insurance 
to employees and this is accounted for as an insurance 
contract. The value of this liability represents the expected 
future payments in relation to accidents and illnesses 
occurring up to the balance sheet date for which the 
council has responsibility under the terms of the Partnership 
Programme.

The liability for claims reported prior to balance date has 
been determined by assuming that the future experience 
for each current claim is consistent with historical claim 
information since the commencement of the programme. 
The liability for injuries or illnesses that have occurred up to 
balance date, but not yet reported or not enough reported, 
has been determined by reference to historical information 
of the time it takes to report injury or illness.

The value of the liability is measured at the present 
value of the future payments for which the council has 
responsibility using a risk free discount rate. The value of the 
liability includes a risk margin that represents the inherent 
uncertainty of the present value of the expected future 
payments.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the 
council to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when due.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at 
fair value. If a financial guarantee contract was issued in 
a stand-alone arm’s length transaction to an unrelated 
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party, its fair value at inception is equal to the consideration 
received. When no consideration is received a provision 
is recognised based on the probability the council will 
be required to reimburse a holder for a loss incurred, 
discounted to present value. The portion of the guarantee 
that remains unrecognised, prior to discounting to fair value, 
is disclosed as a contingent liability.

Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the 
initial recognition amount less any amortisation, however if 
the council assesses that it is probable that expenditure will 
be required to settle a guarantee, then the provision for the 
guarantee is measured at the present value of the future 
expenditure.

Deposits and bonds

All bonds that have been held by the council for more than 
six years will be researched and where applicable refunded 
to the original payee. 

Where the payee cannot be located the monies will be 
transferred to consent revenue. If in future an applicant does 
request a refund for these monies then the refund will be 
paid from the revenue account.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value. After 
initial recognition, all borrowings are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

Equity

Equity is the community’s interest in the council and is 
measured as the difference between total assets and total 
liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into a 
number of reserves.

The components of equity are:

·   Retained earnings 

·   Restricted reserves

·   Asset revaluation reserves. 

Restricted and council created reserves

Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally 
representing a particular use to which various parts of equity 
have been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or 
created by the council.

Restricted reserves are those subject to specific conditions 
accepted as binding by the council and which may not be 
revised by the council without reference to the Courts or 
a third party. Transfers from these reserves may be made 
only for certain specified purposes or when certain specified 
conditions are met.

Also included in restricted reserves are reserves restricted 
by council decision. The council may alter them without 
references to any third party or the courts. Transfers to and 
from these reserves are at the discretion of the council.

The council’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing capital are described in note 35.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of 
GST, except for receivables and payables, which are stated 
on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as 
input tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset 
or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the 
GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified 
as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive 
of GST.

Plan figures

The plan figures, or budget figures, are those approved by 
the council at the beginning of the year in the Long Term 
Council Community Plan or Annual Plan. The plan figures 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using 
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted 
by the council for the preparation of the financial statements.

Cost allocation

The council has derived the cost of service for each activity 
of the council using the cost allocation system outlined 
below.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to an 
activity. Indirect costs are those costs, which cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible manner, with a specific 
significant activity.

Direct costs are charged directly to activities. Indirect costs 
are charged to activities using appropriate cost drivers such 
as actual usage, staff numbers and floor area.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements the council has 
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. 
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations or future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed on the next page:
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Infrastructural assets

There are a number of assumptions and estimates used 
when performing depreciated replacement cost valuations 
over infrastructural assets. These include:

·   the physical deterioration and condition of an asset, for 
example the council could be carrying an asset at an 
amount that does not reflect its actual condition. This is 
particularly so for those assets, which are not visible, for 
example stormwater, wastewater and water supply pipes 
that are underground. This risk is minimised by council 
performing a combination of physical inspections and 
condition modelling assessments of underground assets; 

·   estimating any obsolescence or surplus capacity of an 
asset; and 

·   estimates are made when determining the remaining 
useful lives over which the asset will be depreciated. 
These estimates can be impacted by the local conditions, 
for example weather patterns and traffic growth. If useful 
lives do not reflect the actual consumption of the benefits 
of the asset, then the council could be over or under 
estimating the annual deprecation charge recognised as 
an expense in the statement of comprehensive income. To 
minimise this risk the council’s infrastructural asset useful 
lives have been determined with reference to the NZ 
Infrastructural Asset Valuation and Depreciation Guidelines 
published by the National Asset Management Steering 
Group, and have been adjusted for local conditions based 
on past experience. Asset inspections, deterioration and 
condition modelling are also carried out regularly as part 
of the council’s asset management planning activities, 
which gives the council further assurance over its useful 
life estimates. An independent peer review of the valuation 
methodology is carried out by GHD Limited.

Changes to accounting policies

The council has adopted NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (revised 2007) which replaces NZ IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 2004). The 
statement of financial performance has now been updated 
by a single statement of comprehensive income.

There have been no other changes in accounting policies.
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

1 Summary cost of services

Income

Infrastructure

Wastewater  1,156  1,179  1,076  1,156  1,076 

Stormwater  254  318  275  254  275 

Transportation  14,060  14,141  12,068  14,060  12,068 

Water Supply  20,740  21,537  21,326  20,622  21,265 

Environmental Management

Environmental Protection  1,894  1,753  1,834  1,894  1,834 

Waste Minimisation  4,794  4,695  4,255  4,794  4,255 

Environmental Policy and Planning  204  337  247  204  247 

Environmental Consents and Compliance  11,841  12,475  13,792  11,841  13,792 

Community Services

Libraries  584  635  623  584  623 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  639  492  445  639  445 

Leisure Services  4,468  5,023  4,677  4,468  4,677 

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence  352  348  316  352  316 

Housing for Older People  1,749  1,700  1,659  1,749  1,659 

Cemeteries  1,687  1,572  1,844  1,687  1,844 

Economic Development

Economic Initiatives  74  137  96  74  96 

Governance and Leadership

Governance and Leadership  73  91  277  73  277 

Council Services

Commercial Property  879  872  870  879  870 

Property Management  2,314  1,475  1,474  2,314  1,474 

Corporate Support  474  215  53  474  53 

Divisional Administration  15  -  10  15  10 

Total activity income  68,251  68,995  67,217  68,133  67,156 

Rates revenue (excluding water rates)  176,623  175,583  164,464  176,623  164,464 

Interest received  80  108  225  706  869 

Dividends received  330  250  568  33  31 

Sundry income  2,286  -  -  3,462  - 

Income of consolidated entities  -  -  -  5,749  5,475 

Income for capital projects  25,437  44,034  64,692  25,792  64,692 

Vested assets from development contributions policy  35  -  5,624  35  5,624 

Vested assets - other  4,278  14,340  10,659  4,278  10,659 

Other (losses)/gains  (13,698)  788  (1,359)  (16,198)  1,641 

Total income  263,622  304,098  312,090  268,613  320,611 
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

1 Summary cost of services (continued)

Expenditure

Infrastructure

Wastewater  37,268  37,931  32,434  37,268  32,434 

Stormwater  13,851  14,295  12,892  13,851  12,892 

Transportation  55,714  55,602  49,307  55,714  49,307 

Water Supply  20,965  21,488  19,242  20,919  19,186 

Environmental Management

Environmental Protection  5,290  4,982  5,210  5,290  5,210 

Waste Minimisation  7,452  8,096  7,362  7,452  7,362 

Environmental Policy and Planning  8,212  7,930  7,624  8,162  7,574 

Environmental Consents and Compliance  30,407  22,521  31,074  30,407  31,074 

Community Services

Libraries  12,818  12,990  11,758  12,818  11,758 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  24,758  24,935  23,260  23,957  22,451 

Leisure Services  10,301  9,855  9,506  10,297  9,506 

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence  9,558  9,983  10,312  8,461  9,302 

Housing for Older People  3,514  3,638  3,388  3,514  3,388 

Cemeteries  1,584  1,705  1,371  1,584  1,371 

Economic Development

Economic Initiatives  5,743  5,689  4,538  4,547  3,727 

Governance and Leadership

Governance and Leadership  6,059  5,909  6,544  6,040  6,524 

Council Services

Commercial Property  287  228  204  287  204 

Total activity expenditure  253,781  247,777  236,026  250,568  233,270 

Subsidiary expenditure  -  -  -  9,245  9,063 

Development contributions refunds  18,141  -  -  18,141  - 

Auckland War Memorial Museum levy  3,842  3,842  3,938  3,842  3,938 

Museum of Transport and Technology levy  1,462  1,461  1,336  1,462  1,336 

Total operating expenditure  277,226  253,080  241,300  283,258  247,607 

Annual Report 2008/09164

3 Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

 
 
 

Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

2 Rates revenue

General rates  131,950  131,212  122,583  131,950  122,583 

Targeted rates attributable to activities

Sewerage rates  36,215  35,957  33,932  36,215  33,932 

Water supply rates  20,527  21,347  21,320  20,409  21,259 

Waste management rates  2,062  2,037  2,031  2,062  2,031 

Mainstreet rates  930  931  481  930  481 

Pool safety rates  147  143  137  147  137 

Auckland War Memorial Museum rates  3,853  3,842  3,954  3,853  3,954 

Museum of Transport and Technology rates  1,466  1,461  1,346  1,466  1,346 

 197,150  196,930  185,784  197,032  185,723 

Rates revenue is shown net of rates remissions and non-rateable land. The council has established a rate remissions policy 
under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002. This policy provides for rates to be remitted for community and sporting 
groups, school sewerage charges and other purposes. For the year ended 30 June 2009 the council provided rates 
remissions totalling $1.8m (2008 - $1.7m). 

In accordance with the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 certain properties cannot be rated for general rates. 
This includes schools, places of religious worship, public gardens and reserves. These non-rateable properties, where 
applicable, may be subject to targeted rates in respect of sewerage, water, refuse and sanitation. Non-rateable land does 
not constitute a remission under the council’s remission policy.

3 Other revenue

User charges  28,533  29,559  29,295  31,899  33,182 

Rental income from investment properties  879  872  870  1,622  1,646 

Other rental income  4,807  3,824  3,702  4,863  3,702 

Infringements and fines  3,366  2,612  2,571  3,366  2,571 

Interest income for financial assets  
 not at fair value through profit and loss  80  108  225  706  869 

Dividend income  330  250  568  33  31 

Operating grants and subsidies 3.1  10,139  10,781  9,459  10,192  9,584 

Income for capital projects 3.2  25,437  44,034  64,692  25,792  64,692 

Vested assets from development 
 contributions policy  35  -  5,624  35  5,624 

Vested assets – other  4,278  14,340  10,659  4,278  10,659 

Other  2,286  -  -  3,462  687 

 80,170  106,380  127,665  86,248  133,247 
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Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

3.1 Operating grants and subsidies

NZ Transport Agency subsidies  7,789  8,337  7,003  7,789  7,003 

Petrol tax  1,509  1,539  1,563  1,509  1,563 

Other grants and subsidies  841  905  893  894  1,018 

 10,139  10,781  9,459  10,192  9,584 

3.2 Income for capital projects

NZ Transport Agency subsidies  13,447  22,988  15,273  13,447  15,273 

Other grants and subsidies  1,342  1,008  33,203  1,697  33,203 

Development contributions  10,119  18,241  14,918  10,119  14,918 

Water connection fees  278  797  534  278  534 

Contributions received for special funds  251  1,000  764  251  764 

 25,437  44,034  64,692  25,792  64,692 

4 Other (losses)/gains

(Loss)/gain on changes in fair value of investment  
 property 18 (408)

 
788

 
593 (2,908)

 
3,593

Loss on changes in fair value of derivatives 14  (12,419)  -  (2,593)  (12,419)  (2,593)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property,  
 plant and equipment

 
(227)

 
- 

 
708 

 
(227)

 
708 

Loss on demolition of property, plant  
 and equipment

 
(644)

 
- 

 
(67)

 
(644)

 
(67)

 (13,698)  788  (1,359)  (16,198)  1,641 
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

5 Personnel costs

Salaries and wages  60,690  57,383  62,901  59,577 

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans  301  292  306  292 

Increase in employee benefit liabilities  705  1,717  646  1,704 

Total employee benefit expenses  61,696  59,392  63,853  61,573 

6 Other expenses

Fees to principal auditor:

Audit fees for financial statement audit 194  188  224  220 

Audit fees for Long Term Council Community Plan audit 144  16  144  16 

Audit fees for NZ IFRS transition -  -  -  5 

Audit related fees for assurance and related services 25  40  25  40 

Fees paid to other auditors -  -  34  28 

Impairment of receivables (1,688)  112  (1,688)  112 

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 4,344  3,975  4,344  3,975 

Insurance premiums 2,758  1,305  2,762  1,399 

Subscriptions and levies 463  528  471  539 

Entertainment expenditure -  -  -  15 

Public ceremonies 197  155  197  155 

Direct expenses from investment property generating income 195  193  195  193 

Direct expenses from investment property not generating income 1  1  1  1 

Directors' fees - subsidiary -  -  13  19 

Auckland War Memorial Museum levy 3,842  3,938  3,842  3,938 

Museum of Transport and Technology levy 1,462  1,336  1,462  1,336 

Other operating expenses 115,419  109,508  116,759  110,959 

Total other expenses  127,356  121,295  128,785  122,950 

Audit related fees for assurance services were for the council’s selection for the site for the Northern Aquatic Centre, and a 
review of the preferred supplier for managed services for business application.

7 Finance costs

Interest expense

Interest on secured loans  18,393  14,699  18,515  14,821 

Interest on lease liabilities  1  9  1  9 

Total finance costs  18,394  14,708  18,516  14,830 
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual  

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

8 Development contributions refunds

The development contributions policy approved in the council’s City Plan 2004-2014 was the subject of a judicial review in the 
High Court. The outcome of the case was received in March 2007 where the judge ruled that there were some errors in the policy 
that council must correct in consultation with the group of six developers that brought the case before the courts. The council has 
reviewed matters relating to the 2004 policy with the above mentioned developers and amended its respective 2004 and 2006 
development contributions policies following specialist advice as part of a revised policy that was formally consulted on as part of 
the City Plan 2009-2024 preparation process. The amended policy was approved by the council on the 30 June 2009. 

The council is now required to refund any over-charges to those who have paid development contributions under the old 
policy. A provision for development contribution refunds has been made at 30 June 2009 of $18.1m. Included in this amount 
is an estimated $4m of interest costs.

9 Taxation

Components of tax expense

Current tax expense  -  -  216  200 

Deferred tax expense  -  -  11  106 

Income tax expense  -  -  227  306 

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

Surplus before tax  (13,604)  70,790  (16,176)  73,004 

Tax at 30 per cent (2008 – 33 per cent)  (4,081)  23,361  (4,853)  24,091 

Non-taxable income  4,081  (23,361)  4,272  (22,988)

Permanent differences  -  -  808  (797)

Income tax expense  -  -  227  306 

Deferred tax liabilities for investment property

Opening balance  -  -  106  - 

Charged to profit and loss  -  -  11  106 

Closing balance  -  -  117  106 

10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand  73  1,244  604  2,078 

Term deposits with maturities less than three months  -  -  5,047  7,267 

Total cash and cash equivalents  73  1,244  5,651  9,345 

The carrying value of cash at bank and term deposits with maturities less than three months approximate their fair value.

Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement:

Cash at bank and on hand  73  1,244  604  2,078 

Term deposits with maturities less than three months  -  -  5,047  7,267 

Overdrawn bank balances  -  -  (54)  (67)

 73  1,244  5,597  9,278 

Interest on the bank overdraft is charged at a rate of 8.75 per cent (2008 - 10.5 per cent). 
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

11 Trade and other receivables

Rates receivables  4,610  2,999 4,610 2,999 

Water user charges receivables  12,604  11,948 12,604 11,948 

Community loans  8  8 8 8 

Sundry debtors  15,329  17,357 17,417 19,123 

Goods and services tax  8,099  8,901 8,111 8,902 

Accrued revenue  2,986  5,693 2,986 5,694 

Prepayments  887  1,310 908 1,326 

 44,523  48,216  46,644  50,000 

Less provision for impairment of receivables  (1,343)  (3,239) (1,343)  (3,239)

Total trade and other receivables 43,180 44,977 45,301 46,761

Less non-current portion:

Community loans 3 3 3 3

Prepayments  -  - 200  200 

Total non-current portion  3  3 203 203

Current portion 43,177 44,974 45,098 46,558

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables outside the group, as the group has a large number 
of customers.

The council does not provide for any impairment on rates receivable as it has various powers under the Local 
Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover any outstanding debts.

These powers allow the council to commence legal proceedings to recover any rates that remain unpaid four months 
after the due date for payment. If payment has not been made within three months of the court’s judgement, then the 
council can apply to the Registrar of the High Court to have the judgement enforced by sale or lease of the rating unit. 
Because of the powers available under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 such action is rarely necessary.

The carrying amount of receivables that would otherwise be past due or impaired, whose terms have been renegotiated 
is $1,002,915 (2008 - $1,590,807).
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Council 
Gross 
$000

Council 
Impaired 

$000

Council 
Net 

$000

Group 
Gross 
$000

Group 
Impaired 

$000

Group 
Net 

$000

11 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The status of receivables as at 30 June 2009 and 2008 are detailed below.

2009

Not past due 34,574 - 34,574 35,395  - 35,395

Past due 1-60 days 2,956 (8) 2,948 3,927  (8) 3,919

Past due 61-90 days 485 (4) 481 536  (4) 532

Past due > 90 days 6,505 (1,331) 5,174 6,583  (1,331) 5,252

 44,520  (1,343)  43,177  46,441  (1,343)  45,098 

2008

Not past due 36,081 - 36,081 37,243  - 37,243

Past due 1-60 days 2,480 (10) 2,470 2,614  (10) 2,604

Past due 61-90 days 1,049 (3) 1,046 1,184  (3) 1,181

Past due > 90 days 8,603 (3,226) 5,377 8,756  (3,226) 5,530

 48,213 (3,239) 44,974 49,797  (3,239) 46,558

The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for the group's pool of debtors. Expected 
losses have been determined based on an analysis of the group’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific 
debtors as detailed below.

 
 

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Individual impairment  483  2,349  483  2,349 

Collective impairment 860 890 860  890 

Total provision for impairment 1,343 3,239 1,343  3,239 

Individually impaired receivables have been determined to be impaired because of the significant financial difficulties being 
experienced by the debtor. An analysis of these individually impaired debtors are as follows:

Past due > 90 days 483 2,349 483  2,349 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

At 1 July 3,239 3,113 3,239  3,113 

Additional provisions made during the year 368 774 368  774 

Provisions reversed during the year  (744) (566) (744) (566)

Receivables written off during period (1,520) (82) (1,520) (82)

At 30 June 1,343 3,239 1,343  3,239 

The reduction in provision for impairment of receivables is mainly due to an amount of $1.3m relating to Chequers 
Packaging Limited which has now been expensed as a bad debt.
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12 Inventories

Chemicals at weighted average cost 36 26 36  26 

Housing at cost 929 307 929  307 

Other inventories at cost 152 200 152  200 

Total inventories 1,117 533 1,117  533 

13 Other financial assets

Current portion

Loans and receivables

Short-term deposits with maturities 4-12 months - - 3,025 255

Fair value through equity

Sinking fund investments - 1,437 - 1,437

Total current portion - 1,437 3,025 1,692

Non-current

Fair value through equity

Unlisted shares - NZ Local Govt. Insurance Corp. Limited 704 702 704 702

Unlisted shares - Watercare Services Limited 167,938 146,646 167,938 146,646

Investments carried at cost

Shares in subsidiary 100 100 - -

Total non-current portion 168,742 147,448 168,642 147,348

There were no impairment provisions for other financial assets.

The fair value of sinking funds was determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

Sinking fund investments were restricted in use to the repayment of associated borrowings and were administered by the 
sinking fund Commissioners. On 16 June 2009 the council resolved to disestablish the North Shore City Council Sinking 
Fund Commissioners.

Unlisted shares - valuation
The fair value of unlisted shares in NZ Local Government Insurance Corp. Limited has been calculated as the net asset 
backing of the shares. At 31 December 2008 the net asset backing of the 234,061 shares in NZ Local Government 
Insurance Corp. Limited was $3.01 per share (2007 - $3.00).

The fair value of unlisted shares in Watercare Services Limited has been calculated as the net asset backing of the 
shares. At 30 June 2009 the net asset backing of the 29,988,909 shares in Watercare Services Limited was $5.60 per 
share (2008 - $4.89). The net asset backing approach is considered appropriate because Watercare Services Limited is 
a public benefit entity and the majority of its assets are carried at fair value, and those not at fair value are not materially 
different to fair value.

Share in subsidiary
The council holds 100 per cent of NSC Holdings Limited. The net asset backing as at 30 June 2009 of the 100,000 
(2008 - 100,000) shares in NSC Holdings Limited was $135.27 per share (2008 - $158.03). 
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14 Derivative financial instruments

Non-current asset portion

Fair value through profit or loss

Interest rate swaps - 1,487 - 1,487

Total non-current portion - 1,487 - 1,487

Non-current liability portion

Fair value through profit or loss

Interest rate swaps 10,932 - 10,932 -

Total non-current portion 10,932 - 10,932 -

The notional principal amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 30 June 2009 was $275m (2008 - $165m).

At 30 June 2009, the fixed interest rates of interest rate swaps varied from 4.02 per cent to 8.83 per cent (2008 - from 
5.06 per cent to 8.83 per cent).

15 Non-current assets held for sale

The council owned property on the corner of Huron/Auburn/Northcroft Streets in Takapuna (commonly known as the 
gasometer site) has been presented as a held for sale asset following approval by the council in 2004 to sell the premises. 
The completion date of the sale is expected to be by March 2010.
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2009

Cost/ 
revaluation 
1 Jul 2008 

$000

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment 

charges 
1 Jul 2008 

$000

Carrying 
amount 

1 Jul 2008 
$000

Cost/ 
revaluation 

30 Jun 2009 
$000

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment 

charges 
30 Jun 2009 

$000

Carrying 
amount 

30 Jun 2009 
$000

16  Property, plant and equipment 

Council operational assets

Land 195,007 - 195,007  178,975 - 178,975

Buildings 130,849 (3,338) 127,511 134,296 (3,662) 130,634

Plant 5,047 (3,451) 1,596 5,681 (3,714) 1,967

Vehicles 2,565 (1,382) 1,183  2,599 (1,433) 1,166

Computers owned 624 (565) 59  959 (604) 355

Computers leased 1,218 (1,160) 58  - - -

Furniture and fittings 5,999 (4,687) 1,312  6,063 (4,902) 1,161

Office equipment 1,435 (1,319) 116  1,432  (1,315)  117 

Tools and equipment 445 (355) 90  442 (382) 60

Library books 12,362 (5,832) 6,530  13,983 (7,014) 6,969

Heritage assets 340 - 340  340 - 340

355,891 (22,089) 333,802  344,770 (23,026) 321,744

Council infrastructural assets

Sewerage system 671,122 - 671,122  676,631 - 676,631

Treatment plant 133,561 - 133,561  194,935 - 194,935

Roads and bridges 673,152 - 673,152  716,708 - 716,708

Stormwater system 553,774 - 553,774  557,214 - 557,214

Water system 228,032 - 228,032  238,086 - 238,086

2,259,641 - 2,259,641  2,383,574 - 2,383,574

Council restricted assets

Land 929,350 - 929,350  837,996 - 837,996

Improvements 145,862 - 145,862  160,117 - 160,117

Roading land 421,522 - 421,522  424,254 - 424,254

1,496,734 - 1,496,734  1,422,367 - 1,422,367

Total council 4,112,266 (22,089) 4,090,177  4,150,711 (23,026)  4,127,685 

Group property, plant and equipment

Buildings 66,885 (6,136) 60,749  67,694 (7,830) 59,864

Vehicles 23 (9) 14  23 (14) 9

Computers owned 180 (151) 29  178 (149) 29

Furniture and fittings 5,706 (4,050) 1,656  6,033 (4,395) 1,638

Office equipment 1,079 (776) 303  1,131 (873) 258

Tools and equipment 1,860  (842)  1,018  1,887  (935)  952 

75,733 (11,964) 63,769  76,946 (14,196) 62,750

Total group 4,187,999 (34,053) 4,153,946  4,227,657 (37,222) 4,190,435
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16  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Council operational assets

Land 195,007  1,251 (35)  - - (17,248) 178,975

Buildings 127,511  7,228 (643)  - (4,094) 632 130,634

Plant 1,596  727 (11)  - (345) - 1,967

Vehicles 1,183  367 (46)  - (338) - 1,166

Computers owned 59 335 -  - (39) 355

Computers leased  58  -  -  -  (58)  -  - 

Furniture and fittings  1,312  166  -  -  (317)  -  1,161 

Office equipment  116  29  -  -  (28)  -  117 

Tools and equipment  90  16  (19)  -  (27)  -  60 

Library books  6,530  1,621  -  -  (1,182)  -  6,969 

Heritage assets  340  -  -  -  -  -  340 

 333,802  11,740  (754)  -  (6,428)  (16,616)  321,744 

Council infrastructural assets

Sewerage system  671,122  18,855  -  -  (9,632)  (3,714)  676,631 

Treatment plant  133,561  61,214  -  -  (3,498)  3,658  194,935 

Roads and bridges  673,152  36,530  -  -  (16,132)  23,158  716,708 

Stormwater system  553,774  8,916  -  -  (5,813)  337  557,214 

Water system  228,032  5,108  -  -  (4,212)  9,158  238,086 

 2,259,641  130,623  -  -  (39,287)  32,597  2,383,574 

Council restricted assets

Land  929,350  617  -  -  -  (91,971)  837,996 

Improvements  145,862  14,681  -  -  (5,204)  4,778  160,117 

Roading land  421,522  2,732  -  -  -  -  424,254 

 1,496,734  18,030  -  -  (5,204)  (87,193)  1,422,367 

Total council  4,090,177  160,393  (754)  -  (50,919)  (71,212)  4,127,685 

Group property, plant and equipment

Buildings  60,749  905  (95)  -  (1,695)  -  59,864 

Vehicles  14  -  -  -  (5)  -  9 

Computers owned  29  23  (3)  -  (20)  -  29 

Furniture and fittings  1,656  386  -  (404)  -  1,638 

Office equipment  303  52  - - (97) - 258

Tools and equipment  1,018  27  - - (93) - 952

 63,769  1,393  (98) - (2,314) - 62,750

Total group  4,153,946  161,786  (852) - (53,233) (71,212) 4,190,435
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2008

Cost/ 
revaluation 
1 Jul 2007 

$000

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment 

charges 
1 Jul 2007 

$000

Carrying 
amount 

1 Jul 2007 
$000

Cost/ 
revaluation 

30 Jun 2008 
$000

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment 

charges 
30 Jun 2008 

$000

Carrying 
amount 

30 Jun 2008 
$000

16  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Council operational assets

Land  157,906  -  157,906  195,007  -  195,007 

Buildings  118,203  (2,886)  115,317  130,849  (3,338)  127,511 

Plant  5,080  (3,137)  1,943  5,047  (3,451)  1,596 

Vehicles  2,583  (1,437)  1,146  2,565  (1,382)  1,183 

Computers owned  1,155  (1,082)  73  624  (565)  59 

Computers leased  1,218  (1,018)  200  1,218  (1,160)  58 

Furniture and fittings  6,330  (4,744)  1,586  5,999  (4,687)  1,312 

Office equipment  1,363  (1,314)  49  1,435  (1,319)  116 

Tools and equipment  441  (330)  111  445  (355)  90 

Library books  13,961  (7,623)  6,338  12,362  (5,832)  6,530 

Heritage assets  340  -  340  340  -  340 

 308,580  (23,571)  285,009  355,891  (22,089)  333,802 

Council infrastructural assets

Sewerage system  622,119  -  622,119  671,122  -  671,122 

Treatment plant  101,443  -  101,443  133,561  -  133,561 

Roads and bridges  641,518  -  641,518  673,152  -  673,152 

Stormwater system  523,411  -  523,411  553,774  -  553,774 

Water system  220,336  -  220,336  228,032  -  228,032 

 2,108,827  -  2,108,827  2,259,641  -  2,259,641 

Council restricted assets

Land  839,047  -  839,047  929,350  -  929,350 

Improvements  138,397  -  138,397  145,862  -  145,862 

Roading land  414,771  -  414,771  421,522  -  421,522 

 1,392,215  -  1,392,215  1,496,734  -  1,496,734 

Total council  3,809,622  (23,571)  3,786,051  4,112,266  (22,089)  4,090,177 

Group property, plant and equipment

Buildings  66,714  (4,420)  62,294  66,885  (6,136)  60,749 

Vehicles  24  (5)  19  23  (9)  14 

Computers owned  191  (156)  35  180  (151)  29 

Furniture and fittings  5,839  (3,877)  1,962  5,706  (4,050)  1,656 

Office equipment  1,025  (663)  362  1,079  (776)  303 

Tools and equipment  1,657  (574)  1,083  1,860  (842)  1,018 

 75,450  (9,695)  65,755  75,733  (11,964)  63,769 

Total group  3,885,072  (33,266)  3,851,806  4,187,999  (34,053)  4,153,946 
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2008   

Carrying 
amount 

1 Jul 2007 
$000

Current 
year 
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$000

Current 
year 
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$000

Current 
year 

impairment 
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$000

Current year 
depreciation 

$000

Revaluation 
surplus/ 

(loss) 
$000

Carrying 
amount 

30 Jun 2008 
$000

16  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Council operational assets

Land  157,906  18,947  (3,053)  -  -  21,207  195,007 

Buildings  115,317  8,114  (67)  -  (3,808)  7,955  127,511 

Plant  1,943  -  (6)  -  (341)  -  1,596 

Vehicles  1,146  452  (61)  -  (354)  -  1,183 

Computers owned  73  -  (11)  -  (3)  -  59 

Computers leased  200  -  -  -  (142)  -  58 

Furniture and fittings  1,586  177  (4)  -  (447)  -  1,312 

Office equipment  49  91  -  -  (24)  -  116 

Tools and equipment  111  5  (1)  -  (25)  -  90 

Library books  6,338  1,305  -  -  (1,113)  -  6,530 

Heritage assets  340  -  -  -  -  -  340 

 285,009  29,091  (3,203)  -  (6,257)  29,162  333,802 

Council infrastructural assets

Sewerage system  622,119  20,713  -  -  (8,444)  36,734  671,122 

Treatment plant  101,443  32,388  -  -  (3,069)  2,799  133,561 

Roads and bridges  641,518  39,355  -  -  (14,553)  6,832  673,152 

Stormwater system  523,411  11,188  -  -  (5,060)  24,235  553,774 

Water system  220,336  6,318  -  -  (3,543)  4,921  228,032 

 2,108,827  109,962  -  -  (34,669)  75,521  2,259,641 

Council restricted assets

Land  839,047  30,109  -  -  -  60,194  929,350 

Improvements  138,397  10,542  -  -  (4,780)  1,703  145,862 

Roading land  414,771  6,751  -  -  -  -  421,522 

 1,392,215  47,402  -  -  (4,780)  61,897  1,496,734 

Total council  3,786,051  186,455  (3,203)  -  (45,706)  166,580  4,090,177 

Group property, plant and equipment

Buildings  62,294  194  (23)  -  (1,716)  -  60,749 

Vehicles  19  -  -  -  (5)  -  14 

Computers owned  35  11  (1)  -  (16)  -  29 

Furniture and fittings  1,962  73  -  -  (379)  -  1,656 

Office equipment  362  55  -  -  (114)  -  303 

Tools and equipment  1,083  38  (4)  -  (99)  -  1,018 

 65,755  371  (28)  -  (2,329)  -  63,769 

Total group  3,851,806  186,826  (3,231)  -  (48,035)  166,580  4,153,946 
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16  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included above as at 30 June 2009.

Sewerage system  27,310 

Treatment plant  92,210 

Roads and bridges  26,236 

Stormwater system  7,395 

Water system  4,367 

 157,518 

The following amounts of works under construction valued at cost are included above as at 30 June 2008.

Sewerage system  30,830 

Treatment plant  33,216 

Roads and bridges  52,330 

Stormwater system  13,192 

Water system  8,159 

 137,727 
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Council 
Actual 
$000

Group 
Actual 
$000

17 Intangible assets

2009

Balance at 1 July 2008

Cost  2,529  2,586 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (550)  (592)

Opening carrying amount  1,979  1,994 

Year ended 30 June 2009

Additions  462  466 

Amortisation charge  (720)  (730)

Closing carrying amount  1,721  1,730 

Balance at 30 June 2009

Cost  2,991  3,052 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (1,270)  (1,322)

Closing carrying amount  1,721  1,730 

2008

Balance at 1 July 2007

Cost  895  945 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (351)  (373)

Opening carrying amount  544  572 

Year ended 30 June 2008

Additions  1,634  1,641 

Amortisation charge  (199)  (219)

Closing carrying amount  1,979  1,994 

Balance at 30 June 2008

Cost  2,529  2,586 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (550)  (592)

Closing carrying amount  1,979  1,994 

Intangible assets for the group consist of computer software. There are no restrictions over the title of the council's intangible 
assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

18 Investment property

Balance at 1 July  10,533  9,940  23,533  19,940 

Fair value (loss)/gain on valuation 4  (408)  593  (2,908)  3,593 

Balance at 30 June  10,125  10,533  20,625  23,533 

The council's investment properties are valued annually at fair value effective 30 June. All investment properties were valued 
based on open market evidence. The June 2009 valuation for the council was performed by Darroch Valuations Limited, 
registered valuers (2008 - Quotable Value Limited), in accordance with the New Zealand Institute of Valuers' standards.

NSC Holdings Limited's investment property is valued annually at fair value effective 30 June. The value was based on open 
market evidence. The valuation was performed by Darroch Valuations Limited, registered valuers, in accordance with the New 
Zealand Institute of Valuers' standards.

The fair value of the investment property is based on valuations by an experienced and independent valuer who holds a 
recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience in the location and category of the investment 
property valued. 

There are no contractual obligations in relation to the investment properties at balance date which have not been recognised 
in the financial statements.

19 Trade and other payables

Trade payables  23,797 19,958 24,746 20,889 

Deposits and bonds  8,399 9,651 8,399 9,653 

Accrued expenses  19,339  22,282 19,395 22,345 

Councillors' fees payable  7  17  7 17 

Retentions on contracts  5,706  7,889 5,706 7,889 

Rates and other receipts in advance  3,963  3,621 5,210 4,864 

 61,211  63,418  63,463  65,657 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 20-day terms, therefore the carrying value of 
trade and other payables approximates their fair value.

As at 30 June 2009 the group accounts include a tax liability of $81,000 (2008: $67,000).

Deposits and bonds

Contractors' deposits and other monies are held by the council as security for damage contingencies. Developers' 
performance bonds are held pending satisfactory completion or performance of approved works. Customers' deposits in 
respect of inspections, buildings and resource consents are classified as deposits and recognised as revenue on completion 
of work.
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Group 
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20 Provisions

Current provisions are represented by:

Weathertightness provision  18,275  13,208  18,275  13,208 

ACC Partnership Programme  25  25  25  25 

Provision for development contributions refunds  18,141  -  18,141  - 

Total current provisions  36,441  13,233  36,441  13,233 

Weathertightness provision

Opening balance  13,208  6,515  13,208  6,515 

Additional provisions made during the year  6,442  7,269  6,442  7,269 

Amounts used during the year  (1,375)  (576)  (1,375)  (576)

Closing balance  18,275  13,208  18,275  13,208 

The council is potentially subject to future claims in respect of weathertightness building defects over the next 10 years. The 
extent and validity of these potential claims are not known and therefore no liability can be recognised. The weathertightness 
provision is net of any third party contributions including the council's indemnifier. Also refer to note 27.

ACC Partnership Programme

Opening balance  25  25  25  25 

Closing balance  25  25  25  25 

Provision for development contributions refunds

Additional provisions made during the year  18,141  -  18,141  - 

Closing balance  18,141  -  18,141  - 

The council has provided for development contributions refunds as at 30 June 2009, refer to note 8 for further details.

21 Employee benefit liabilities

Accrued pay  400  273  456  320 

Annual leave  4,207  3,848  4,302  3,925 

Long service leave  2,289  2,046  2,289  2,046 

Sick leave  500  500  500  500 

Retirement gratuities  1,221  1,245  1,221  1,245 

Total employee benefit liabilities  8,617  7,912  8,768  8,036 

Made up of:

Current  7,396  6,667  7,547  6,791 

Non-current  1,221  1,245  1,221  1,245 

Total employee benefit liabilities  8,617  7,912  8,768  8,036 
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22 Borrowings

Current

Bank overdraft  -  - 54  67 

Secured loans  40,000  9,282 40,015  9,296 

Lease liabilities  -  68 4  76 

Total current borrowings  40,000  9,350  40,073  9,439 

Non-current

Secured loans  286,800  233,728 288,251  235,194 

Lease liabilities  -  - -  4 

Total non-current borrowings  286,800  233,728  288,251  235,198 

Weighted average cost of funds on total secured loans 5.93% 7.49% 5.94% 7.49%

The council manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, which includes a Treasury 
Management Policy. These policies have been adopted as part of the council's Long Term Council Community Plan. There 
were no significant changes to the Treasury Management Policy during the year. The council was fully compliant with its 
Treasury Management Policy at year end. The council is not subject to any bank covenant requirements.

Fixed rate debt
On 16 June 2009 the council resolved to disestablish the North Shore City Sinking Fund Commissioners. As at 30 June 
2008 the council had established sinking funds in respect of loans, with a carrying amount of $1.437m. The sinking fund 
investments, together with accumulated interest, was sufficient to repay the principal of the associated loans during the year 
ending 30 June 2009. The amount held in the sinking funds at 30 June 2008 is shown in note 12.

Security
The council has a total secured bank overdraft facility of $1.5m (2008 - $1.5m). The council's loans are secured by a 
debenture charge over rates revenue by way of a Debenture Trust Deed.

Fair values of borrowings
The fair value of secured loans is $327.8m (2008 - $242.9m). The fair value is based on cash flows discounted using a rate 
based on the borrowing rate of 5.93 per cent (2008 - 7.49 per cent). The carrying amount of borrowings repayable within one 
year approximates their fair value.

Analysis of finance lease liabilities

Total minimum lease payments are payable:

Not later than one year  -  70  4  79 

Later than one year and not later than five years  -  -  -  4 

Total minimum lease payments  -  70  4  83 

Future finance charges  -  (2)  -  (3)

Present value of minimum lease payments  -  68  4  80 

Present value of minimum lease payments are payable:

Not later than one year  -  68  4  76 

Later than one year and not later than five years  -  -  -  4 

Total  -  68  4  80 

Description of material leasing arrangements

The council had entered into finance leases for various items of equipment. The net carrying amount of the leased items at 30 
June 2009 was nil (2008 - $0.1m). The finance leases could be renewed at the council's option, with rents set by reference to 
current market rates for items of equivalent age and condition. The council had the option of purchasing the asset at the end 
of the lease term. There were no restrictions placed on the council by any of the finance leasing arrangements.
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23 Other liabilities

Other liabilities relating to the group  -  -  818  976 

Made up of:

Current  -  -  85  117 

Non-current  -  -  733  859 

Total other liabilities  -  -  818  976 

Other liabilities for the group include an amount of $0.666m (2008 - $0.775m), which is a liability for services relating to the 
North Harbour Domain and North Harbour Stadium Trust Board (the "Trust"), of which $0.0581m (2008 - $0.658m) is non-
current and $0.085m (2008 - $0.117m) is current. Other non-current liabilities for the year ending 30 June 2009 also include 
an amount of $0.152m for memberships received by the Trust in advance.

24 Equity

Retained earnings

As at 1 July  3,296,721  3,229,829  3,378,541  3,309,741 

Transfers from assets revaluation reserve on disposal of 
 property, plant and equipment

 
(133)

 
(347)

 
(133)

 
(347)

Transfers (to)/from special funds:

Interest earned on special funds  (1,214)  (1,958)  (1,214)  (1,958)

Income received for special funds  (251)  (2,213)  (251)  (2,213)

Operating expenditure funded from special funds  1,583  745  1,583  745 

Transfers  (689)  (125)  (689)  (125)

Surplus/(loss) for the year  (13,604)  70,790  (16,403)  72,698 

 As at 30 June  3,282,413  3,296,721  3,361,434  3,378,541 

Special funds

As at 1 July  26,464  22,913  26,464  22,913 

Transfers to/(from) special funds:

Interest  1,214  1,958  1,214  1,958 

Contributions to subdivisional reserves  208  853  208  853 

Contributions to other special funds  43  1,360  43  1,360 

Operating expenditure  (1,583)  (745)  (1,583)  (745)

Transfers  689  125  689  125 

 As at 30 June  27,035  26,464  27,035  26,464 

Special funds reserves consist of:

Emergency capital replacement  4,157  5,396  4,157  5,396 

Subdivisional reserve  13,708  12,861  13,708  12,861 

Off-street parking  4,914  4,729  4,914  4,729 

Narrow Neck endowment fund  97  92  97  92 

Arts and culture  1,802  1,760  1,802  1,760 

Community board discretionary funds  1,310  1,270  1,310  1,270 

Miscellaneous  1,047  356  1,047  356 

 27,035  26,464  27,035  26,464 
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24 Equity (continued)

Asset revaluation reserve

As at 1 July  594,154  427,227  594,154  427,227 

Valuation (losses)/gains taken to equity  (71,212)  166,580  (71,212)  166,580 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of property,  
 plant and equipment

 
133 

 
347 

 
133 

 
347 

 As at 30 June  523,075  594,154  523,075  594,154 

Asset revaluation reserve consists of:

Operational assets  56,541  73,024  56,541  73,024 

Infrastructural assets  288,787  256,190  288,787  256,190 

Restricted assets  177,747  264,940  177,747  264,940 

 523,075  594,154  523,075  594,154 

Fair value through equity reserve

As at 1 July  60,564  61,711  60,564  61,711 

Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity  21,294  (1,147)  21,294  (1,147)

 As at 30 June  81,858  60,564  81,858  60,564 

 Total other reserves  631,968  681,182  631,968  681,182 

25 Reconciliation of surplus after tax to net cash flow from operating activities

Surplus after taxation  (13,604)  70,790  (16,403)  72,698 

Add/(less) non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation  51,639  45,905  53,967  48,254 

Vested assets  (4,313)  (16,283)  (4,313)  (16,283)

Loss/(gains) in fair value of investment property  408  (593)  2,908  (3,593)

Loss in fair value of derivatives  12,419  2,594  12,419  2,594 

Add/(less) movements in balance sheet items:

Accounts receivable  (1,019)  4,197  (1,283)  4,547 

Interest receivable  -  (185)  (8)  (188)

Inventories  (584)  (289)  (584)  (289)

Biological assets  (10)  33  (10)  33 

Accounts payable  812  (6,910)  687  (7,332)

Interest payable  (360)  582  (360)  582 

Provisions  23,208  6,693  23,208  6,693 

Income tax payable  -  -  25  - 

Employee benefits  705  1,717  631  1,704 

Add/(less) items classified as investing activities:

Loss/(gains) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  227  (708)  227  (708)

Loss on demolition of property, plant and equipment  644  67  644  67 

Net cash from operating activities  70,172  107,610  71,755  108,779 
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26 Capital commitments and operating leases

Capital commitments approved and contracted

Wastewater  34,430  85,592  34,430  85,592 

Stormwater  3,226  5,972  3,226  5,972 

Transportation  22,303  11,360  22,303  11,360 

Water Supply  4,475  5,547  4,475  5,547 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  756  2,917  756  2,917 

Libraries  5,151  -  5,151  - 

Cemeteries  118  -  118  - 

Property Management  -  45  -  45 

Total capital commitments approved and contracted  70,459  111,433  70,459  111,433 

Capital commitments authorised but not contracted 

In addition to the above commitments, council has authorised the following projects:

Wastewater  1,543  38  1,543  38 

Transportation  17,828  3,534  17,828  3,534 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields  3,042  4,725  3,042  4,725 

Libraries  -  469  -  469 

Leisure Services  -  750  -  750 

Property Management  185  -  185  - 

Corporate Support  820  -  820  - 

Total capital commitments authorised but not contracted  23,418  9,516  23,418  9,516 

There are no capital commitments for intangibles
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26 Capital commitments and operating leases

Non-lease operating commitments

The council has entered into a five year managed service contract with Revera Limited for the supply and operation of all 
computer equipment. The future aggregate minimum payments to be collected under the service contract are as follows:

Not later than one year  4,971  4,326  4,971  4,326 

Later than one year and not later than five years  8,699  12,978  8,699  12,978 

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments  13,670  17,304  13,670  17,304 

Operating leases as lessee

The group leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business. The minimum lease rental commitments 
as at 30 June for all non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year  4,721  3,574  4,747  3,600 

Later than one year and not later than five years  16,689  4,063  16,692  4,082 

Later than five years  32,516  24  32,516  24 

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments  53,926  7,661  53,955  7,706 

The total minimum future sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at balance date is nil 
(2008 - nil). 

Leases can be renewed at the group’s option, with rents set by reference to current market rates for items of equivalent age 
and condition. The group does have the option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term.

There are no restrictions placed on the council by any of the leasing agreements.

Operating leases as lessor
The council leases its investment property under operating leases. The majority of these leases have a non-cancellable 
perpetually renewable term of 21 years, with the exception of Norman King Square leases which have non-cancellable terms 
between 2 to 10 years.

The council has other property under operating leases, which all have non-cancellable terms of less than 36 months.

The majority of NSC Holdings Limited’s investment property is held under operating leases, with the exception of one monthly 
tenancy. These leases have a non-cancellable term of 36 months.

27 Contingencies

Contingent liabilities

Community loan guarantees

The council is currently guarantor in respect of bank loans advanced to a number of community organisations and sports 
clubs. The council's potential liabilities under guarantee are as follows:

Number of guarantees provided  8  10  8  10 

Value of guarantees  455  650  455  650 
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27 Contingencies (continued)

Weathertightness
The council is subject to claims in respect of weathertightness building defects that were advised to it by the Weathertight 
Homes Resolution Service (WHRS). The council has also received claims directly. The total of claims against all parties is 
$59.7m (2008 - $55.9m).

In addition to the above, claims have been lodged with WHRS for buildings located within North Shore City but not yet 
notified to the council. The council has provided for the likely costs it will incur as a result of these claims, based on an 
actuarial valuation as at 30 June 2009. The total provision for the claims notified to the council and the claims lodged with  
the WHRS is $18.3m (2008 - $13.2m), refer to note 20 for further information relating to the provisions for weathertightness.

The council also acknowledges that it may be liable for claims in future years relating to weathertightness building defects not yet 
identified. An actuarial assessment of council’s exposure from claims that are yet to be made amounts to $20.9m. Information 
surrounding these potential claims is subject to extreme uncertainty and therefore no provision has been made for them.

Transit lane infringement fees

The council has received two claims for refunds of infringement fees, fines and costs in relation to bus and transit lane 
offences that occurred prior to 28 June 2006. There is a possibility that the council could receive further claims, with a total 
potential liability of approximately $1.2m (2008 - $1.2m).

Performance bond

The council has a performance bond of $0.8m in relation to a Water Services. project (2008 - $0.8m).

Litigation

The council has received a claim in relation to the Northern Busway and the associated changes to the roading network. 
The council is working to resolve this claim with its solicitors. Part of this claim has been settled, no further liability has been 
recognised in relation to this claim as any further amount is uncertain.

The council has also received three claims in relation to Environmental Service's consent processes. The council is working to 
resolve these claims. No provision has been made for these claims as there is a high degree of uncertainty as to any possible 
liability of the council.

Watercare guarantee

As at 24 July 2008 the council joined the five other shareholding councils of Watercare Services Limited (Watercare) to provide 
the creditors of Watercare and its subsidiaries with a guarantee of Watercare's debt. Auckland City Council firstly provided a 
guarantee for the debt with back to back indemnities by the other shareholding councils in proportion to their shareholding. 
North Shore City Council's percentage of any liability called under this guarantee is therefore 11.5 per cent. If any council other 
than Auckland City (who own 41.6 per cent) is unable to pay their share, all the other councils are required to make up the 
defaulting amount based upon the shareholding formula. 

This arrangement was put in place by the shareholding council's in order to minimise long-term price increases for bulk water 
and wastewater services purchased from Watercare.

The council's share of the indemnity would be called upon if Watercare defaulted on its debt. North Shore City Council's financial 
exposure or the year ended 30 June 2009 is $67m.

Personal grievance from ex-employee

An ex-employee has filed an application with the Employment Relations Authority for a personal grievance. No liability for this 
claim has been recognised as yet as there is uncertainty as to what the amount will be if any. There are no other contingent 
liabilities for the group.

Contingent assets

There are no contingent assets as at 30 June 2009 (2008 - nil).
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28 Related party transactions

The council is the ultimate parent of the group. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

NSC Holdings Limited - Council Controlled Trading Organisation 

Sale of goods and services to NSC Holdings Limited  66  68 

Dividend payments from NSC Holdings Limited  297  537 

Enterprise North Shore Trust - Council Controlled Organisation

Grants by the council to Enterprise North Shore Trust 585 585

Project-specific funding by the council to Enterprise North Shore Trust 327 77

North Shore City Performing Arts Centre Management Board Trust - Council Organisation

Grants by the council to North Shore Performing Arts Centre Management Board Trust 390 380

Sale of goods and services to North Shore Performing Arts Centre Management 
 Board Trust

 
6 5

Purchase of services from North Shore Performing Arts Centre Management Board Trust 65 70

North Shore Domain and North Harbour Stadium Trust Board - Council Controlled Organisation

Grants by the council to the North Shore Domain and North Harbour Stadium Trust Board 1,052 809

Contribution towards projects by the council 260 111

Services provided by the council 46 56

North Shore Heritage Trust - Council Organisation

Grants by the council to the North Shore Heritage Trust 50 50

North Shore Events Centre Trust Board - Council Organisation

Grants by the council to North Shore Events Centre Trust Board 436 560

North Shore Promotions New Zealand Limited - Council Organisation

No related party transactions were entered into during the year

There are no outstanding balances with related parties at 30 June 2009 (2008 - nil).

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables for any loans or other receivables 
to related parties (2008 - nil).

Key management personnel - council

Key management personnel includes the Mayor, councillors, community board members, the chief executive and other senior 
management personnel. 

During the year key management personnel, as part of a normal customer relationship, were involved in minor transactions 
with the council (such as payment of rates, purchase of rubbish bags etc). Key management personnel were not involved in 
any other related party transactions. 

The council does not provide any post-employment benefits to key management personnel.

Compensation of key management personnel was as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  3,286,903  3,186,899 

Post employee benefits  -  - 

Other long-term benefits  -  - 

Termination benefits  -  - 
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29 Remuneration

Elected representatives

Total remuneration paid by North Shore City Council to elected representatives was as follows:

Mayor:

Andrew Williams  145,704  100,640 

George Wood (until 19 October 2007)  -  42,757 

Deputy Mayor:

Dianne Hale (until 19 October 2007, thereafter councillor)  -  24,932 

Julia Parfitt (councillor until 19 October 2007, thereafter Deputy Mayor)  78,890  55,872 

Councillors:

Tony Barker (until 19 October 2007)  -  21,122 

Callum Blair  75,430  71,671 

Joy Brett  61,756  43,569 

Heather Brown  61,837  61,335 

Chris Darby  61,625  60,635 

Ivan Dunn (until 19 October 2007)  -  20,661 

Andrew Eaglen (until 19 October 2007)  -  23,217 

Grant Gillon  71,946  49,861 

Dianne Hale  62,003  45,857 

Ann Hartley  59,495  41,719 

Tony Holman  71,964  67,153 

Gary Holmes (until 19 October 2007)  -  21,779 

Vivienne Keohane  62,845  45,094 

Kenneth McKay  74,352  50,412 

Margaret Miles  61,590  63,982 

Robert Mitchell (until 19 October 2007)  -  17,628 

Jan O'Connor  64,720  45,053 

Julia Parfitt (until 19 October 2007, thereafter Deputy Mayor)  -  19,285 

Kevin Schwass  61,615  62,071 

Mike Tafua (until 31 July 2007)  -  4,778 

Peter White (until 19 October 2007)  -  17,076 

Lisa Whyte  61,910  43,769 

Total councillors' remuneration  913,088  897,727 

Total remuneration of Mayor and councillors  1,137,682  1,121,928 

Community boards' remuneration  429,378  433,368 

Total remuneration of Mayor, councillors and community board  1,567,060  1,555,296 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009
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30 Severance payments

For the year ended 30 June 2009 the council made three (2008 - five) severance payments to employees totalling $58,200 
(2008 - $55,236).

The value of each of the severance payments was $5,700, $15,500 and $37,000 (2008 - $4,000, $4,100, $8,958, $10,178 
and $28,000).

31 Events subsequent to balance date

There were no events occurring subsequent to balance date that had a material effect on the financial statements.

Actual 
2008/09 

$

Actual 
2007/08 

$

29 Remuneration (continued)

Chief executive

The chief executive of the North Shore City Council, appointed under section 42 of the Local Government Act 2002, received 
a salary package of $381,327 (2008 - $372,800).

The following section shows the number of council employees whose salary packages were $100,000 and above.

Employee remuneration range

2008/09 2007/08

$100,000 - $110,000  19  20 

$110,001 - $120,000  16  14 

$120,001 - $130,000  12  8 

$130,001 - $140,000  8  7 

$140,001 - $150,000  3  5 

$150,001 - $160,000  8  3 

$180,001 - $190,000  -  2 

$190,001 - $200,000  2  2 

$200,001 - $210,000  2  - 

$220,001 - $230,000  -  1 

$250,001 - $260,000  1  - 

$260,001 - $270,000  -  1 

$270,001 - $280,000  1  - 

$370,001 - $380,000  -  1 

$380,001 - $390,000  1  - 

Number of employees
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32 Auckland Governance changes

The Local Government (Tamaki Makaurau Reorganisation) Act 2009 was enacted in May 2009 and provides for the 
dissolution of the North Shore City Council and other local authorities in the Auckland Region on 31 October 2010. As a 
consequence of the dissolution of the council, the structure in its current form will cease to exist. The functions, duties, and 
powers of the council will become the functions, duties and powers of the single unitary authority (the Auckland Council) that 
will be responsible for governing the entire Auckland region from 1 November 2010.

All property belonging to the council will be vested in the Auckland Council.

All money payable to or by the council will become payable to or by the Auckland Council.

All rights, liabilities, contracts, entitlements, and engagements of the council will become the rights, liabilities, contracts, 
entitlements, and engagements of the Auckland Council.

There is a Transition Agency that will develop an organisational structure for the Auckland Council so that it can operate 
efficiently and effectively on and from 1 November 2010 and it will develop a change management plan that includes 
protocols and processes for managing the transition of:

(i) assets from existing local government organisations to the new council structure; 
(ii)  staff from existing local government organisations to the new council structure having regard to the existing employment  

agreements applying to the staff.

Decisions are yet to be made on the Auckland Council’s structure and operations including how the systems, plans, policies, 
assets and liabilities of the council, including its subsidiaries will be vested and integrated. Nevertheless, the council expects 
the services it currently delivers to continue to be delivered by the organisational structure put in place by the Auckland 
Council, and therefore the assets and liabilities of the council will be relevant to the Auckland Council. For that reason, no 
adjustments have been made to the financial statements because of the dissolution basis of preparation.
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33 Financial instrument categories

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial assets

Fair value through profit and loss 

Interest rate swaps  -  1,487  -  1,487 

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents  73  1,244  5,651  9,345 

Trade and other receivables  43,180  44,977  45,301  46,761 

Total loans and receivables  43,253  46,221  50,952  56,106 

Fair value through equity

Unlisted shares  168,642  147,348  168,642  147,348 

Total financial assets at fair value through equity  168,642  147,348  168,642  147,348 

Financial liabilities

Fair value through profit and loss 

Interest rate swaps  10,932  -  10,932  - 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs

Trade and other payables  61,211  63,418  63,463  65,657 

Bank overdraft  -  -  54  67 

Borrowings - secured loans  326,800  243,010  328,266  244,490 

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  388,011  306,428  391,783  310,214 
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34 Financial instrument risks

The council's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
council has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from 
financial instruments. The council has established a Treasury Management Policy specifying what transactions can be entered 
into. The policy does not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into.

Market risk
Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. The council 
is exposed to equity securities price risk on its investments, which are classified as financial assets held at fair value through 
equity. This price risk arises due to market movements in listed securities. This price risk is managed by diversification of the 
council's investment portfolio in accordance with the limits set out in the council's Treasury Management Policy.

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The council has no exposure to currency risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the council to fair value interest rate risk. The council's Treasury Management 
Policy outlines the level of borrowings that are to be secured using fixed rate instruments.

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued at variable interest rates expose the council to cash flow interest 
rate risk.

Generally, the council raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates using interest rate swaps in 
order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk. Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings at 
floating rates into fixed rates that are generally lower than those available if the council borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the 
interest rate swaps, the council agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed rate 
contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the council, causing the council to incur a loss. The 
council's Treasury Management Policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution or organisation. 
The council only invests funds with entities that have a Standard and Poor's credit rating of 'A' and above. The council has 
no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk. The council has no significant 
concentrations of credit risk and only invests funds with New Zealand registered banks and in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Policy. The council’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is as follows:

Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

Cash at bank  73  1,244  5,651  9,345 

Trade and other receivables  43,180  44,977  45,301  46,761 

Derivative financial instrument assets  2,160  1,487  2,160  1,487 

Total credit risk  45,413  47,708  53,112  57,593 
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Council 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Council 
Plan 

2007/08 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2008/09 
$000

Group 
Actual 

2007/08 
$000

34 Financial instrument risks (continued) 

Counterparties with credit ratings

Cash at bank and term deposits:

AA  73  1,244  5,651  9,345 

Total cash at bank and term deposits  73  1,244  5,651  9,345 

Derivative financial instrument assets:

AA  2,160  1,487  2,160  1,487 

Total derivative financial instrument assets  2,160  1,487  2,160  1,487 

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the council's statutory functions, therefore there are no procedures in place 
to monitor or report the credit quality of trade and other receivables with reference to internal or external credit ratings. The 
council has no significant concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade and other receivables, as it has a large number of 
credit customers, mainly ratepayers, and the council has powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover 
outstanding debts from ratepayers.

Liquidity risk
Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the council will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liability risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The council aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available.

The council manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, which includes a Treasury 
Management policy. These policies have been adopted as part of the council's Long Term Council Community Plan. 

The council has a maximum amount that can be drawn against its overdraft facility of $1.5m (2008 - $1.5m). There are 
no restrictions on the use of this facility.
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34 Financial instrument risks (continued)

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the council’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt is based on the floating 
rate on the instrument at the balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

 
 

Carrying
amount

$000

Contractual
cash flows

$000

Less than
1 year
$000

2-5 years
 

$000

More than
5 years

$000

Council 2009

Trade and other payables  61,211  61,211  61,211  -  - 

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  -  - 

Secured loans  326,800  349,197  199,059  72,759  77,379 

Finance leases  -  68  68  -  - 

 388,011  410,476  260,338  72,759  77,379 

Group 2009

Trade and other payables  63,463  63,463  63,463  -  - 

Bank overdraft  54  54  54  -  - 

Secured loans  328,266  352,837  199,189  73,279  80,369 

Finance leases  4  4  4  -  - 

 391,787  416,358  262,710  73,279  80,369 

Council 2008

Trade and other payables  63,418  63,418  63,418  -  - 

Bank overdraft  -  -  -  -  - 

Secured loans  243,010  308,546  88,791  129,387  90,368 

Finance leases  68  68  68  -  - 

 306,496  372,032  152,277  129,387  90,368 

Group 2008

Trade and other payables  65,657  65,657  65,657  -  - 

Bank overdraft  67  67  67  -  - 

Secured loans  244,490  312,316  88,921  129,907  93,488 

Finance leases  80  80  76  4  - 

 310,294  378,120  154,721  129,911  93,488 
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34 Financial instrument risks (continued)

Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets
The table below analyses the council's financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
balance date to the contractual maturity date.

Carrying 
amount 

$000

Contractual 
cash flows 

$000

Less than 
1 year 
$000

2-5 years 

$000

More than 
5 years 

$000

Council 2009

Cash and cash equivalents  73  73  73  -  - 

Trade and other receivables  43,180  43,180  43,180  -  - 

 43,253  43,253  43,253  -  - 

Group 2009

Cash and cash equivalents  5,651  5,651  5,651  -  - 

Trade and other receivables  45,301  45,301  45,301  -  - 

 50,952  50,952  50,952  -  - 

Council 2008

Cash and cash equivalents  1,244  1,244  1,244  -  - 

Trade and other receivables  44,977  44,977  44,977  -  - 

 46,221  46,221  46,221  -  - 

Group 2008

Cash and cash equivalents  9,345  9,345  9,345  -  - 

Trade and other receivables  46,761  46,761  46,761  -  - 

 56,106  56,106  56,106  -  - 
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34 Financial instrument risks (continued)

Sensitivity analysis 
The tables below illustrate the potential profit and loss and equity (excluding retained earnings) impact for reasonably possible 
market movements in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, based on the council's financial instrument 
exposures at balance date.

-100bps 
Profit 
$000

-100bps 
Other 
equity 
$000

+100bps 
Profit 
$000

+100bps 
Other 
equity 
$000

Council 2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  (4)  -  4  - 

Interest rate swaps  (11,281)  -  10,467  - 

Financial liabilities

Secured loans  3,942  -  (2,152)  - 

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk  (7,343)  -  8,319  - 

Council 2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  (32)  -  32  - 

Interest rate swaps  (5,190)  -  4,852  - 

Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft  -  -  - 

Secured loans  1,897  -  (2,496)  - 

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk  (3,325)  -  2,388  - 

Group 2009

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  (60)  -  60  - 

Interest rate swaps  (11,281)  -  10,467  - 

Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft  1  -  (1)  - 

Secured loans  3,957  -  (2,167)  - 

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk  (7,383)  -  8,359  - 

Group 2008

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  (113)  -  113  - 

Interest rate swaps  (5,190)  -  4,852  - 

Financial liabilities

Bank overdraft  1  -  (1)  - 

Secured loans  1,912  -  (2,511)  - 

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk  (3,390)  -  2,453  - 
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35 Capital management

The council's capital is its equity (or ratepayer's funds), which comprise retained earnings and reserves. Equity is represented 
by net assets.

The Local Government Act 2002 (the Act) requires the council to manage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the current and future interests of the 
community. Ratepayer's funds are largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings.

The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle promoted in the Act and 
applied by the council. Intergenerational equity requires today's ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising the councils assets 
and not expecting them to meet the full cost of long-term assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations. Additionally, 
the council has in place asset management plans for major classes of assets detailing renewal and maintenance programmes, 
to ensure ratepayers in future generations are not required to meet the costs of deferred renewals and maintenance.

The Act requires the council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long Term Council Community Plan (LTCCP) and 
in its annual plan (where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs identified in those plans, and the Act sets out the factors 
that the council is required to consider when determining the most appropriate sources of funding for each of its activities. The 
sources and levels of funding are set out in the funding and financial policies in the council's LTCCP.

The council has the following council created reserves:

·  reserves and special funds for different areas of benefit;

·  The self-insurance reserves; and

·  trust and bequest reserves and special funds.

Reserves and special funds for different areas of benefit are used where there is a discrete set of rate or levy payers as distinct 
from the general rate. Any surplus or deficit relating to these separate areas of benefit is applied to the specific reserves or 
special funds.

Self-insurance reserves are built up annually from general rates and are made available for specific unforeseen events. The 
release of these funds generally can only be approved by the council.

Trust and bequest reserves and special funds are set up where the council has been donated funds that are restricted to 
particular purposes. Interest is added to trust and bequest reserves and special funds where applicable and deductions are 
made where funds have been used for the purpose they were donated.
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

 
Variance 

$000

36 Major budget variances

Explanations for major variations from the council's 2008/09 Annual Plan are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive income

Income  263,622  304,098  (40,476)

Expenditure  277,226  253,080  24,146 

Deficit/(surplus)  (13,604)  51,018  (64,622)

Income

Rates revenue  197,150  196,930  220 

Higher levels of rates penalties than anticipated.

User charges  28,533  29,559  (1,026)

Reduced revenue for Environmental Consents, Leisure and Transportation.

NZ Transport agency subsidies for capital projects  13,447  22,988  (9,541)

Transport capital projects were delayed resulting in reduced 
subsidy income.

Infringements and fines  3,366  2,612  754 

Increased income from infringements and fines for Transportation activity area. 

Development contributions 10,119 18,241  (8,122)

Reduced development contributions due to economic recession and 
a consequential decrease in development activity.

Vested assets 4,313  14,340  (10,027)

Reduced vested assets due to decrease in development activity.

Other (losses)/gains  (13,698) 788  (14,486)

Change in fair value of derivatives of $12.4m and decrease in investment property 
values.

Other 2,286  -  2,286 

Additional income received from the Auckland Regional Roading Designation Fund.

Expenditure

Wastewater 37,268 37,931  (663)

Lower costs for Wastewater activity mainly due to reduced interest costs incurred.

Stormwater 13,851 14,295  (444)

Lower costs for Stormwater activity mainly due to reduced interest costs incurred.
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

 
Variance 

$000

36 Major budget variances (continued)

Water Supply 20,965 21,488  (523)

Lower costs for Water Supply activity mainly due to savings 
in maintenance costs.

Waste Minimisation 7,452 8,096  (644)

Savings achieved in recycling and refuse collections costs.

Environmental Consents and Compliance 30,407 22,521  7,886 

Increased weathertightness claims provision and costs incurred for 
claims settled together with increased consent processing costs.

Leisure 10,301 9,855  446 

Increased staffing and operational costs.

Development contributions refunds 18,141  -  18,141 

The council is required to pay refunds for a portion of the 
development contributions that were charged under an old policy. 
For further information please refer to note 8.

Statement of changes in equity

Ratepayers’ equity 3,914,381 4,152,606 (238,225)

Retained earnings is $74m lower than projected mainly due to the 
unfavourable variances mentioned earlier in this note. The reserves 
values are $164m lower than projected in the plan as the revaluation 
of asset processes have not generated the increases that were 
previously anticipated at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009.

Statement of financial position

Trade and other receivables 43,180 48,516 (5,336)

Lower development activity and consenting processes have impacted 
on receivables.

Trade and other payables 61,211 95,262 34,051

Last financial year balances were particularly high due to the timing 
of capital expenditure.

Property, plant and equipment 4,127,685 4,410,790 (283,105)

Delayed capital expenditure and decreases in asset revaluations have caused 
this variance.

New capital expenditure 116,457 160,789 (44,332)

Mainly due to Transport, Parks and Library capital works carried forward.

Borrowings (including current portion) 326,800 363,206 36,406

Debt was lower than plan mainly due to lower capital expenditure.
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Wastewater

New capital expenditure

Extension requirements

System requirements 384  726 

Subdivisional contributions 1,170  1,499 

1,554  2,225 

Service level improvements

Wet-weather overflow improvements 5,886  9,969 

Reliability and efficiency improvements 680  717 

6,566 10,686

Wastewater treatment plant

Extension requirements 744  792 

Tunnel and outfall 59,119  59,612 

59,863 60,404

Office equipment 3  - 

Total new capital expenditure 67,986  73,315 

Renewal capital expenditure

Reactive renewals - operations 941  837 

Planned renewals - wet-weather overflows 6,219  6,906 

Planned renewals - other 3,018  2,887 

Wastewater treatment plant 1,352  1,392 

Total renewal capital expenditure 11,530  12,022 

Vested assets 756  1,658 

Total capital expenditure 80,272  86,995 

Stormwater

New capital expenditure

Extension requirements

Extension improvements 340  411 

Subdivisional contributions 105  112 

445  523 

Service level improvements

Infrastructure improvements 5,314  5,453 

Community Board discretionary projects 30  - 

Minor capital works 219  223 

5,563  5,676 

Total new capital expenditure 6,008  6,199 

Renewal capital expenditure

Stormwater system - planned renewal 1,280  1,311 

Stormwater system - reactive renewal 798  446 

Total renewal capital expenditure 2,078  1,757 

Vested assets 809  2,210 

Total capital expenditure 8,895  10,166 

Capital Projects 2008/09
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Transportation

New capital expenditure

Corridor upgrading

Akoranga Drive 97  454 

Anzac Street 423  974 

Lake Road 1,899  1,590 

Esmonde Road 146  86 

East Coast Road 389  2,552 

Glenfield Road 3,242  4,060 

Taharato Road / Wairau Road / Shakespeare Road 974  2,103 

Albany Highway 1,120  2,127 

Onewa Road 113  2,977 

Wairau Corridor -  47 

8,403  16,970 

New roads

Gills Road to Oteha Valley Road 27  210 

Long Bay infrastructure 79  519 

Massey Link Road 18  103 

Glendhu Road 13  - 

137 832 

Cycleways 221 766

Pedestrians

New footpaths - citywide 139  111 

New footpaths - Albany 127  84 

266  195 

Reconstruction/upgrading

East Coast Road / Glenvar Road / Lonely Track Road 28  244 

Glenvar Road  48  562 

Greenhithe Streets upgrading 501  509 

Improvements complementing development 369  691 

Lonely Track Road / Fairview Road 17  219 

Tristram Avenue motorway approaches 32  86 

Fairview Avenue  -  275 

Kyle Road reconstruction  1  54 

State Highway 17 / The Avenue 12  80 

Greville Road 72  335 

Elmore Road 532  500 

Hillside Road  -  277 

Sunset Road / Ramp Road 19  220 

McClymonts Road  40  100 

East Coast Road / Aberdeen Road 3  1,025 
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Transportation (continued)

Reconstruction/upgrading (continued)

Okura River Road / Vaughans Road  12  64 

Bracken / Burns / Auburn / Killarney  -  100 

Chivalry Road / Dianna Drive / Chartwell Avenue  64  86 

Target Road 31  - 

King Edward Parade 17  - 

1,798  5,427 

Isolated intersections

Other intersection upgrades  291  430 

291  430 

Traffic safety

Pedestrian crossing upgrades  223  150 

TravelWise to school 906  836 

Other projects 67  806 

Minor traffic safety improvements 391  223 

1,587  2,015 

Street light upgrading 324 391

Local area traffic management 404  242 

Traffic management 218  503 

Public transport

Bus priority measures 1,397  2,769 

Bus shelter programme 158  722 

Northern Busway 1,065  1,816 

Suburban stations 2,368  4,680 

Ferry wharf complementary works 69  997 

Albany Park and Ride 3  - 

5,060  10,984 

Community Board discretionary projects  -  602

Land acquisition 382  776 

Commercial area development

Minor capital works 172  55 

Town centre plan implementation 292  1,927 

464 1,982 

Parking

Area development parking 83  1,800 

Minor parking projects 107  108 

190  1,908 

Total new capital 19,745  44,023 

Annual Report 2008/09202

3 Financial Statements



Capital Projects 2008/09

Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Transportation (continued)

Renewal capital expenditure

Footpaths and street furniture 3,446  2,915 

Rehabilitation 3,876  4,981 

Resealing 6,701  6,300 

Structural upgrades 1,158  829 

Carparks 170  139 

Traffic services and lighting 683  1,038 

Corridor upgrading 176  803 

Reconstruction / upgrading 50  159 

Total renewal capital 16,260  17,164 

Vested assets 2,481  8,842 

Total capital expenditure 38,486  70,029 

Water Supply

New capital expenditure

Extension requirements

New water meter connections 243  725 

System extensions 41  56 

Subdivisional contributions 39  390 

323  1,171 

Statutory requirements

Infrastructure improvements 1,876  1,507 

1,876  1,507 

Total new capital expenditure 2,199  2,678 

Renewal capital expenditure

Water mains - planned renewals 2,056  1,959 

Water mains - reactive renewals 250  379 

Water meter replacement 461  418 

Total renewal capital expenditure 2,767  2,756 

Vested assets 232  1,077 

Total capital expenditure 5,198  6,511 

Environmental Protection

Animal shelter 1,645  1,700 

Minor office equipment 14  - 

Total capital expenditure 1,659  1,700 
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Libraries

New library books 1,621  1,587 

Birkenhead Library rebuild 3,180  5,969 

Devonport library 128  215 

New software 48  107 

Equipment 399  41 

Total capital expenditure 5,376  7,919 

Parks, Beaches and Sportsfields

New capital expenditure

Reserve acquisition citywide 2,949  9,816 

Foundation infrastructure 4,460  4,202 

Community recreation reserves  -  84 

Civic parks 1,839  1,835 

Walkways 789  2,254 

Public conveniences 77  608 

Carparks 50  652 

Cycling 246  802 

Playgrounds  316  112 

Coastal access - pedestrian  8  204 

Natural outdoor sports surface  77  52 

Community board discretionary projects  823  487 

Youth facilities  -  7 

Response projects  93  - 

Total new capital expenditure 11,727  21,115 

Renewal capital expenditure

Carparks 748  139 

Public conveniences 127  223 

Playgrounds 249  100 

Cycleways 5  121 

Coastal access - non-pedestrian 243  1,672 

Coastal access - pedestrian 335  243 

Natural outdoor sports surface 1,436  1,343 

Walkways 661  410 

Safety 435  - 

Total renewal capital expenditure 4,239  4,251 

Vested assets from development contributions policy 35  - 

Vested assets - other -  553 

Total capital expenditure 16,001  25,919 
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Leisure Services

New capital expenditure

Upgrade of facilities - 45

Leisure centres equipment 175  394 

General capital expenditure 50  270 

Northern recreational facility 236  200 

Total new capital expenditure 461  909 

Renewal capital expenditure

Glenfield hydroslide 544  - 

North Shore Leisure signage 36  - 

Total renewal capital expenditure 580  - 

Total capital expenditure 1,041  909 

Community Liaison, Grants, Arts and Civil Defence

General equipment 6  - 

Tsunami Early Warning System 3  - 

Total capital expenditure 9  - 

Housing for Older People

Refurbishment programme 139  148 

Total capital expenditure 139  148 

Cemeteries

Improvements and modifications 13  108 

Cremator 690  1,380 

Total capital expenditure 703  1,488 

Property Management

New capital expenditure

Disabled access  -  39 

Total new capital expenditure -  39 

Renewal capital expenditure

Renewal capital 482  752 

Total renewal capital expenditure 482  752 

Total capital expenditure 482  791 

Corporate Support

Vehicles  367  363 

Minor capital and office equipment  15  541 

Head Office fitout  202  500 

Total capital expenditure 584  1,404 

Total capital expenditure

New capital expenditure 116,457  160,789 

Renewal capital expenditure 38,075  38,850 

Vested assets 4,313  14,340 

158,845  213,979 
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Protecting the city’s 
natural environment and 
keeping our beaches 
clean.



PART 4 Appendices

Providing the best possible 
service to our residents and 
ratepayers is essential. We 
are continually looking at 
ways to work more efficiently 
and improve our service 
to customers. Conducting 
surveys to measure resident’s 
satisfaction levels provides 
useful feedback on our service 
performance. Specific data 
can be found in the Activity 
Statements section.

Highlights

·  93 per cent of residents and businesses 
are satisfied with wastewater services and 
stormwater services.

· 81 per cent of residents have a sense of pride 
in the look and feel of the city.

· 82 per cent of residents and businesses are 
satisfied with the natural environment.

· 100 per cent customer satisfaction with 
subdivision consent services.

· 99 per cent customer satisfaction with food 
and liquor licensing services.

· 99 per cent of residents and businesses are 
satisfied with visitor information centre services.

This section 

Use of Surveys in Reporting  
 Service Performance 208
Council Services 211
Council Organisations and 
 Council Controlled Organisations 214
Global Reporting Initiative Index 218
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External surveys

Residents and Businesses Annual  
Satisfaction Survey

Nexus Planning and Research was 
commissioned in 2009 to undertake North 
Shore City Council’s annual survey of residents 
and businesses. The survey primarily measures 
respondents’ use of, and satisfaction with, 
a range of council services. The survey was 
conducted using computer-assisted telephone 
interviewing (CATI), and was consistent with 
previous years.

A total of 800 North Shore City residents and 
500 businesses were interviewed. The number 
of residents surveyed was slightly lower than in 
previous years. However, the reduction in size of 
the residents sample has had minimal impact on 
the margin of error.

The reduced residents sample size was 
selected to provide a cost effective but reliable 
measurement of levels of satisfaction with the 
council services included in the survey. This 
includes services such as community centres, 
where satisfaction is measured among users of 
the service rather than all residents. 

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Satisfied 
2. Satisfied 
3. Neutral 
4. Not Satisfied 
5. Not at all Satisfied

A positive rating is either Very Satisfied (1)  
or Satisfied (2).

Infrastructure Services 

TNS Conversa was commissioned to undertake 
a telephone survey programme of its customers 
and the residents of North Shore City. These 
telephone surveys are in relation to their 
Stormwater, Water Supply and Wastewater 
activities.

An overall experience survey is carried out on a 
continuous basis.

A total of 583 North Shore City residents aged 18 
and over participated in the survey. The margin 
of error at a 95 per cent confidence level is ±4.1 
per cent.

A total of 500 businesses participated in the 
survey. The margin of error at 95 per cent 
confidence level is ±4.4 per cent.

A Service Request Survey is undertaken by TNS 
Conversa. This survey approaches customers 
through Actionline records within three months of 
their request for a Stormwater, Water Supply or 
Wastewater service. 

A total of 66 Stormwater customers participated 
in the survey. The margin of error at a 95 per cent 
confidence level is ±12.1 per cent.

A total of 285 Water Supply customers 
participated in the survey. The margin of error at a 
95 per cent confidence level is ±5.8 per cent.

Use of Surveys in Reporting 
Service Performance

The measurement of resident 
satisfaction levels of the services 
provided by the council is 
conducted using both external and 
internal surveys. 

2008 2009

Sample 
size

Margin 
of error

Sample 
size

Magin 
of error

Total 
sample 1,750 1,300

Residents 1,250 ±2.8% 800 ±3.5%

Businesses 500 ±4.4% 500 ±4.4%

Margin of error at 95% level of confidence
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A total of 87 Wastewater customers participated in the 
survey. The margin of error at a 95 per cent confidence level 
is ±10.5 per cent.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Poor 
2. Fair 
3. Good 
4. Very Good 
5. Excellent

A positive rating is Fair (2), Good (3), Very Good (4) or 
Excellent (5).

Internal surveys

In addition to external surveys the following output areas 
used internal surveys to measure user satisfaction levels.

Environmental Consents and Compliance

A mail out survey is sent to all applicants who have 
had consents granted. The survey primarily measures 
respondent satisfaction with processing of building, land use 
and subdivision consent applications and advisory services.

A total of 142 building consent applicants participated in the 
internal survey.

A total of 9 land use consent applicants participated in the 
internal survey.

A total of 3 subdivision consent applicants participated in 
the internal survey.

A total of 56 advisory customers participated in the internal 
survey.

A phone survey is conducted by Actionline of customers 
who have booked a building inspection. The survey primarily 
measures respondent satisfaction with the booking and 
inspection process.

A total of 221 inspection customers participated in the 
internal survey.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Good 
2. Good 
3. Acceptable 
4. Not so Good 
5. Poor

A positive rating is either Very Good (1), Good (2) or 
Acceptable (3).

Environmental Protection (Food and Liquor Licensing)

A phone survey is conducted by Actionline of customers 
who have applied for either a Food Premises Licence or 
Liquor Licence. The survey primarily measures respondent 
satisfaction with the Food Premises and Liquor Licences 
application process.

A total of 72 food premises customers participated in the 
internal survey.

A total of 167 liquor license customers participated in the 
internal survey.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Good 
2. Good 
3. Acceptable 
4. Not so Good 
5. Poor

A positive rating is either Very Good (1), Good (2) or 
Acceptable (3).
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Environmental Protection (Dog Control)

A mail survey was sent to 200 residents who lodged a 
complaint with our Dog Control Service. The survey primarily 
measures satisfaction with the service and processes 
provided by Animal Care and Control.

A total of 143 people participated in the survey and the 
survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Satisfied 
2. Satisfied 
3. Neutral 
4. Not Satisfied 
5. Not at all Satisfied

A positive rating is either Very Satisfied (1) or Satisfied (2).

Housing for Older People

A mail out survey was sent to 458 households who reside 
in the council’s housing for older people units. The survey 
primarily measures the tenant’s satisfaction with a variety of 
aspects of the service provided.

A total of 227 households participated in the internal survey.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Satisfied 
2. Satisfied 
3. Neutral 
4. Not Satisfied 
5. Not at all Satisfied

A positive rating is either Very Satisfied (1) or Satisfied (2).

Visitor Information Centres

An in-house questionnaire was completed at the visitor 
information sites during the months of April 2009 and May 
2009. The survey primarily measures visitors or users of 
the visitor information centres satisfaction with a variety of 
aspects of the service provided.

A total of 246 visitors to the Takapuna and 250 visitors to 
the Devonport visitor information sites participated in the 
internal survey.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Satisfied 
2. Satisfied 
3. Neither Satisfied or Dissatisfied 
4. Dissatisfied 
5. Very Dissatisfied

A positive rating is either Very Satisfied (1) or Satisfied (2).

North Shore Memorial Park and Crematorium

An electronic survey request was sent to all funeral directors 
and monumental masons who have used the North Shore 
Memorial Park and Crematorium. The survey primarily 
measures customer satisfaction with the service at the 
North Shore Memorial Park and Crematorium.

A total of five funeral directors and four monumental masons 
participated in the internal survey.

The survey scales used were as follows:

1. Very Satisfied 
2. Satisfied 
3. Neutral 
4. Not Satisfied 
5. Not at all Satisfied

A positive rating is either Very Satisfied (1) or Satisfied (2).
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Property Management

The council owns and leases a number of 
properties to help it deliver services to the 
community. These assets may be operated by 
the council for the provision of services such as 
libraries, administration, recreation and leisure 
facilities, community facilities and the civil defence 
headquarters. Over 500 leases, comprising 
land or land and facilities, are administered for 
community purposes including sports clubs, 
scout and girl guide activities, arts and cultural 
activities and community houses.

The council needs to ensure all its property 
assets are properly maintained and operate 
efficiently. It is also important that long-term 
maintenance plans recognise changing 
community needs. These changes can stretch 
the facilities, or they can become inappropriate 
for a new use. It is also important that the 
council leads by example and promotes energy 
conservation and other initiatives. Through the 
development of its own property assets, the 
council can influence and enhance the character 
of the city’s natural built environment.

Corporate Support

The council provides a number of support 
activities to help deliver services. It is important 
that these activities operate effectively and 
efficiently and are responsive to community 
needs.

The council seeks to provide the highest levels 
of customer service to the community. To do this 
we need to have the right infrastructure in place 
for administration, operating our area offices, 
providing information and communicating with 
the city’s people. We also need sound financial 
management, supported by annual and long-
term financial planning.

New technologies provide opportunities for the 
council to provide better and more responsive 
services to the community and to operate more 
efficiently. The council is working continually with 
other councils in the Auckland region on ways to 
deliver its services in the best way.

Corporate Support includes the office of the 
chief executive, financial management, revenue 
collection, information management, area offices, 
communications, corporate sustainability and 
human resources.

Council Services

Overview

The council is required to manage 
its affairs in a prudent manner 
for the benefit of residents and 
ratepayers. Council Services 
includes a number of support 
activities to help with the delivery 
of core services. These internally 
provided services are included 
as Property Management and 
Corporate Support. 
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement

Income

General rates and other revenue 482 791 783 

User charges 5 - 6 

Property income 2,309 1,475 1,468 

2,796 2,266 2,257 

Expenditure

Expenditure 9,625 9,778 7,797 

Finance costs 13 16 15 

Depreciation of fixed assets 2,678 2,694 2,544 

Internal recoveries (10,768) (10,768) (8,892)

Transferred to Corporate Support (1,548) (1,720) (1,464)

- - - 

Operating surplus 2,796 2,266 2,257 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets - 39 89 

Renewal assets 482 752 694 

482 791 783 

Loans repaid 8 8 8 

Transfers to general reserves 2,306 1,467 1,466 

Total funding required 2,796 2,266 2,257 

Funded by

Operating surplus 2,796 2,266 2,257 

2,796 2,266 2,257 

Property Management financial information
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Actual 
2008/09 

$000

Plan 
2008/09 

$000

Actual 
2007/08 

$000

Operating Statement

Income

General rates and other revenue 461 834 893 

User charges 474 215 53 

Sale of assets 123 70 123 

1,058 1,119 1,069 

Expenditure

Expenditure 16,212 14,301 12,911 

Transferred from Property Management 1,548 1,720 1,464 

Allocated to output areas (17,760) (16,021) (14,374)

- - - 

Operating surplus 1,058 1,119 1,069 

Capital and Reserves Funding Statement

Capital and reserves funding requirements:

Capital expenditure

New assets 584 1,404 1,016 

584 1,404 1,016 

Transfers to general reserves 474 215 53 

Total funding required 1,058 1,619 1,069 

Funded by

Operating surplus 1,058 1,119 1,069 

Loans raised - 500 - 

1,058 1,619 1,069 

Corporate Support financial information
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NSC Holdings Limited 

NSC Holdings Limited has one activity – property 
owning/management. The sole property is at Paul 
Matthews Road in Albany.

The following is a comparison between the 
actual performance for the financial year and 
the relevant statement of intent for NSC Holdings 
Limited for the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009:

(a)  To achieve market-related rentals on all 
investment properties owned by the company.

Achieved. The rentals that are currently being 
obtained on that part of the property at Paul 
Matthews Road, Albany which has been let are 
generally in accordance with the market rates 
independently recommended by Darroch Valuations 
at the commencement of the lease periods.

(b)  To manage properties in a socially and 
environmentally acceptable manner.

Achieved. There have been no additions or 
alterations to the company’s property without the 
necessary permits and consents from the North 
Shore City Council. The company has not received 
any requisitions or notifications concerning its social 
or environmental management of the property.

(c)  To achieve an overall return on any surplus funds 
invested with recognised trading banks at least 
equivalent to the official Reserve Bank cash rate 
as determined by the Reserve Bank from time 
to time.

Council Organisations 
and Council Controlled 
Organisations

Achieved. Surplus funds have been deposited 
with recognised New Zealand trading banks, at rates 
which were generally considered to be competitive 
with those offered by other trading banks.

(d)  To maximise the value of all properties owned or 
managed by the company.

Achieved. The value of the property at Paul 
Matthews Road, Albany has decreased by $2.5m 
during the year. In the opinion of the directors, 
supported by independent advice, the retention of 
the property as a multiple tenancy contractors’ yard 
continues to be justified. 

Enterprise North Shore Trust

Enterprise North Shore Trust’s purpose is to facilitate 
business investment, employment and economic 
development for the benefit of North Shore City.

Enterprise North Shore Trust (ENS) identifies five 
service delivery channels where it focuses its 
attention:

·  Business establishment and retention;

·  Education/employment connections;

·  Business development and acceleration; 

·  Economic information, promotion and excellence; 
and

·  Enabling activities.

The following is a comparison between the actual 
performance for the financial year and the relevant 
statement of intent for ENS for the period 1 July 2008 
to 30 June 2009.

(a)  Business establishment and retention – this 
involves a variety of programmes including the 
Targeted Business Attraction Programme (TBAP) 
which focuses on larger businesses in the areas 
of technology, health education and sport. Other 
programmes under this theme include providing 
the ‘Starting Off Right’ programme, and new 
venture creation and innovation.

Activity and output 
areas Actual performance

Starting Off Right 
Programme

Exceeded

New venture creation 
and innovation

Exceeded

Targeted Business 
Attraction Programme 

Exceeded

Independent 
intermediary role

Met

Aftercare 

- Businesses attracted

- FTEs created

- Value added

Exceeded

Not Met

Exceeded

Annual Report 2008/09214

4 Appendices
 



(b)  Education and employment connections - the main 
thrust of this theme is the North Shore Skills and 
Employment Programme, it also includes the Youth 
Enterprise Scheme.

Activity and output 
areas Actual performance

North Shore Skills 
and Employment 
Programme

Exceeded

Young Enterprise 
Scheme 

Exceeded

Global Challenge Exceeded

North Shore FEED 
Network

Exceeded

Excellerator Seminars 
and Workshops

Met

(c)  Business development and acceleration – this theme 
involves activities around the business mentoring 
service, the North Shore Business Investment Network 
and involvement with Business Improvement Districts.

Activity and output 
areas Actual performance

Excellerator 
Diagnostic and 
Performance 
Enhancement 
programme

Exceeded

Mentor Services Exceeded

North Shore Business 
Investment Network

Exceeded

Research and 
development and 
innovation support

Exceeded

Cluster Facilitation Exceeded

Business 
Improvement District 
Facilitation (BIDs)

Exceeded

Enterprise support, 
advice, referral service 
and assistance

Exceeded

(d)  Business information, promotion and excellence – 
research and economic impact information, running the 
North Shore Business Excellence Awards and network 
and city/sector/event promotion.

Activity and output 
areas Actual performance

Research/economic 
impact information

Exceeded

City/Sector/Event 
Promotion

Exceeded

North Shore Business 
Excellence Network

Exceeded

North Shore Business 
Hall of Fame

Met

North Shore Business 
Excellence Network

Exceeded

(e)  Enabling activities – website, sponsorship, research, 
client relationships system and valued added 
communication.

Activity and output 
areas Actual performance

High Performance 
Website

Exceeded

Sponsorship Met

Research Exceeded

Client Relationship 
Management System 
(CRM)

Met

Recurrent valued 
added communication

Exceeded

North Shore Domain and North Harbour Stadium Trust 
Board (the “Trust”) 

The North Shore Domain and North Harbour Stadium  
Trust Board’s (the “Trust”) purpose is to establish and 
maintain a sporting facility of international standard for the 
public and in the interests of social and community welfare 
and recreation.

The following is a comparison between the actual 
performance for the financial year and the relevant 
statement of intent for the period 1 March 2008 to 
29 February 2009.

(a)  Strengthen the balance sheet. To generate operating 
surpluses annually that cover long-term maintenance 
requirements and allow for a minimum of $0.1m in capital 
expenditure per annum exclusive of grant funding.

Achieved. $0.4m surplus before depreciation, capital 
expenditure and asset grant funding.

(b)  Contribute to the council’s Albany Master Plan. 
Complete the council’s Northern Aquatic Recreation 
Centre (NARC) location tender process successfully 
and have council confirm North Harbour as the site  
for development.
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Achieved. Successfully completed analysis, submission 
and presentation to the council. NSCC resolved North 
Harbour Stadium as the preferred location for the NARC 
development in December 2008.

(c)  Be a first class operator. To obtain positive feedback 
from customers and media. Expand the event calendar 
and function centre business. The function centre’s net 
revenue to have annual growth of at least five per cent.

    Event calendar to include over the next 
three years: 
· two rugby tests 
· two Warriors matches 
· NRL home game 
· league test 
·  four outdoor concerts.

Partially achieved. At financial year end February 2009 
North Harbour Stadium hosted two Super 14 Blues games 
and two pre-season Blues games v Highlanders and 
Hurricanes, a Warriors game, five North Harbour Air NZ Cup 
matches, the FIFA U-17 Women’s Football World Cup 2008, 
rock band The Who and also many free entry community 
events for example Rollercoaster, volunteer emergency 
services open day, Youthtown Streetball Tour and Auckland 
All Ford Day charity fundraiser. 

Positive feedback at post event debriefs with customers 
such as North Harbour Rugby Union, Andrew McManus 
(The Who), and FIFA suggests that the stadium continues 
to provide an excellent service delivery model to the event 
industry.

In the 2008/09 year the function centre had a two per cent 
increase in net revenue, after a 22 per cent increase in the 
previous year. 

(d)  Develop high-performance culture in governance and 
management. Develop a Governance Performance 
Manual. Review and document Human Resource 
Management Systems. Complete and implement a 
Governance Performance Manual by 28 February 2007. 
Complete for adoption by the Trust a Human Resources 
Policy by 28 February 2007. Prepare an annual report on 
Governance Performance manual and Human Resource 
Policy’s effectiveness once implemented. 

Partially achieved. New planning and goal-setting 
processes were introduced at management level in late 
2007 and a new standard employment contract to reflect 
current employment legislation along with various other 
operational processes have been improved or formalised. 
The Governance sub-committee met three times. A new 
Governance Policy is expected to be finalised in August 
2009 and submitted to the board for approval in the first 
week of September.

North Shore City Performing Arts Centre  
Management Trust 

North Shore City Performing Arts Centre 
Management Board Trust (the trust) was 
established as a charitable trust in terms of the Charitable 
Trust Act 1957. The trust’s purpose is to manage the North 
Shore City Performing Arts Centre, the Bruce Mason Centre 
in Takapuna, on behalf of the council. As the trust is a coun-
cil organisation they are exempt from preparing a statement 
of intent and subsequently reporting against it.

North Shore Events Centre Trust Board

The North Shore Events Centre Trust Board 
(the board) was established as a charitable 
trust in terms of the Charitable Trust Act 1957. The board’s 
purpose is to manage the North Shore Events Centre on 
behalf of the council. As the board is a council organisation 
they are exempt from preparing a statement of intent 
and subsequently reporting against it.

North Shore Heritage Trust

The North Shore Heritage Trust (NSHT) was launched in 
2002 as a charitable trust in terms of the Charitable Trust 
Act 1957. NSHT’s purpose is to raise public awareness 
about and encourage the retention of the city’s heritage. 
Along with providing advice and encouragement to owners 
of heritage properties in the city, NSHT administers a fund 
that is used to provide grants of up to $5,000 towards the 
restoration and repair of heritage buildings. As NSHT is 
a council organisation they are exempt from preparing a 
statement of intent and subsequently reporting against it.
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NZ Local Govt. Insurance Corp. Limited (Civic 
Assurance)

Civic Assurance provides tailored insurance policies for local 
government organisations. It is the council’s primary insurer 
for the majority of its insurance policies.

Territorial local authorities collectively appoint 100 per cent 
of the board members of Civic Assurance. The council 
owns 3.7 per cent, a historic shareholding which is unable 
to be sold.

Watercare Services Limited

Watercare Services Limited (Watercare) is the Auckland 
region’s bulk water and wastewater company. The 
council owns 11.5 per cent of the shares in Watercare. 
Responsibility for governing Watercare is vested in the 
Shareholders Representative Group (SRG). The SRG 
comprises representatives from each of the councils that 
collectively own the company and it holds the Watercare 
board accountable. 

The SRG monitors the performance of Watercare, reviews 
the company’s statement of corporate intent and gives input 
to the strategic direction. It also reviews the company’s 
asset management and funding plans, to ensure its 
capital programme and pricing structures are in line with 
shareholder expectations. 

The SRG has a process for appointing the directors, which 
begins after each annual review. 

Museums

The two museums, the Auckland War Memorial Museum 
(AWMM) and the Museum of Transport and Technology 
(MOTAT) offer valuable historical, cultural and educational 
opportunities. Each museum has their own Act which 
creates a statutory obligation on councils to contribute to 
their operations.

The AWMM 2008/09 Annual Plan identifies the following 
priorities:

·  Increase the value and appeal of the Museum of all, while 
recognising the special place of Maori

·  To be New Zealand’s leading object-based learning and 
research centre

·  To be the world’s pre-eminent Pacific focused museum

·  To be the pre-eminent place where people come to 
honour our war dead, and understand and reflect on our 
role in times of conflict

·  To have a leading team and be the museum where the 
best people want to work. 

MOTAT’s core strategies for 2008/09 are:

·  Museum operations to provide a unique customer 
experience, increase the awareness of MOTAT within the 
Territorial Local Authority (TLA) communities and have 
greater financial self sufficiency.

·  Care of the collection including management and 
preservation of artefacts, to establish MOTAT as being 
the pre-eminent source of historical information relating to 
transport and technology.

·  Grow a story-telling and learning environment, grow 
diversity and delivery of innovative programmes that 
enhance MOTAT as a learning environment. 

·  Care of the people; provide an environment that actively 
encourages and supports professional development, 
to strengthen the museum by further developing the 
volunteer base, museum wide commitment to health and 
safety. 

The AWMM and MOTAT are governed by independent 
boards that review the museums’ annual operational 
budgets before sending them to the TLA Electoral College 
for approval. The TLA’s have the opportunity to submit on 
the proposed levies before the levies are approved by the 
Electoral College.

 The Electoral College comprises representatives from each 
of the councils that contribute to the museum’s levies under 
the Auckland War Memorial Museum Act 1996 and the 
Museum of Transport and Technology Act 2000. 

In 2008/09, the council’s share of the regional levy was:

·  $3.8m to the Auckland War Memorial Museum

·  $1.5m to MOTAT.
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Global Reporting Initiative Index
Key Status: 

Fully reported North Shore City Council has provided a table of sustainability reporting indicators, in 
accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The table below provides comment on 
each indicator or a section reference to additional information located in this Annual Report.

The status icon next to the indicator reference describes whether the council has fully, partially, 
or not reported against that indicator. As this is only our second year using the GRI reporting 
framework, some of the systems needed to capture materially relevant data are not yet in 
place. 

Partially reported

Not reported

Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Economic Performance

EC1 (CORE) Direct economic value generated and 
distributed, including revenues, operating 
costs, employee compensation, donations 
and other community investments, 
retained earnings, and payments to capital 
providers and governments.

See part 3 - Financial Statements.

EC2 (CORE) Financial implications and other risks 
and opportunities for the organisation’s 
activities due to climate change.

North Shore City’s infrastructure assets are insured 
and risk assessments have raised the potential for 
extreme weather-related events, such as flooding, 
from a 1-in-20 chance to a 1-in-10 chance of 
occurring.

EC3 (CORE) Coverage of the organisation’s defined 
benefit plan obligations.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

EC4 (CORE) Significant financial assistance received 
from government.

See part 3 - Financial Statements, note three.

Market Presence

EC5 Range of ratios of standard entry level 
wage compared to local minimum wage at 
significant locations of operation.

Data not available for this report.

EC6 (CORE) Policy, practices and proportion of 
spending on locally-based suppliers at 
significant locations of operation.

Specific data is not available for this report. However 
North Shore City Council’s procurement manual does 
require consideration of sustainability criteria and 
locally-based suppliers.

EC7 (CORE) Procedures for local hiring and proportion 
of senior management hired from the 
local community at locations of significant 
operation.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Indirect Economic Impact

EC8 (CORE) Development and impact of infrastructure 
investments and services provided 
primarily for public benefit through 
commercial, in-kind, or pro bono 
engagement.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

EC9 Understanding and describing significant 
indirect economic impacts, including the 
extent of impacts.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Economic Indicators for Public Agencies (supplement)

PA8 (NEW) Gross expenditures broken down by type 
of payment. 

See part 3 - Financial Statements, statement of 
comprehensive income.

PA9 (NEW) Gross expenditure broken down by 
financial classification. 

See part 3 - Financial Statements, statement of 
comprehensive income.

PA10 (NEW) Capital expenditures by financial 
classification. 

See Part 3 - Financial Statements, summary of capital 
expenditure.

PA11 (NEW) Describe procurement policy of the 
public agency as it relates to sustainable 
development.

North Shore City Council has sustainability criteria 
incorporated into its Procurement Policy, including 
whole-of-life cost considerations, supporting local 
purchases and prioritising suppliers based on their 
sustainability attributes.

PA12 (NEW) Describe economic, environmental and 
social criteria that apply to expenditures 
and financial commitments. 

North Shore City Council adheres to Local 
Government Act 2002 section 3 paragraph d, 
which requires the consideration of social, cultural, 
economic and environmental impacts of expenditures 
and financial commitments. 

PA13 (NEW) Describe linkages between the public 
agency’s procurement practices and its 
public policy priorities.

The closest fundamental link here is our requirement 
to support local suppliers wherever possible and 
practical.

PA14 (NEW) Percentage of the total value of goods 
purchased that were registered with 
voluntary environmental or social labels 
and/or certification programmes, broken 
down by type.

Data not available for this report.

Materials

EN1 (CORE) Materials used by weight or volume. Specific data is not available for this report due 
to the difficulty required to capture it, and it is not 
considered materially relevant to North Shore City 
Council operations.

EN2 (CORE) Percentage of materials used that are 
recycled input materials.

Wherever possible, through our tendering process, 
North Shore City Council specifies the use of recycled 
materials. 

Specific data is not available for this report due 
to the difficulty required to capture it, and it is not 
considered materially relevant to North Shore City 
Council operations.

Energy

EN3 (CORE) Direct energy consumption by primary 
energy source.

Electricity: 26,321,798 kWh (4.6 per cent less than 
2007/08). 
Gas: 5,114,279 kWh (11.1 per cent less than 
2007/08). 
Petrol: 156,298 litres (3.4 per cent less than 
2007/08).

The 2007/08 petrol figures were incorrectly reported. 
The correct figure for 2007/08 was 161,860 litres.

EN4 (CORE) Indirect energy consumption by primary 
source.

Electricity: 26,321,798 kWh.
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and 
efficiency improvements.

Electricity: 6,498,878 kWh (19.8 per cent less than 
2007/08). 

EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient 
or renewable energy based products 
and services, and reductions in energy 
requirements as a result of these 
initiatives.

See Corporate Sustainability Report.

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy 
consumption and reductions achieved.

See Corporate Sustainability Report.

Water

EN8 (CORE) Total water withdrawal by source. 20,761,651 litres purchased from Watercare.

EN9 Water sources significantly affected by 
withdrawal of water.

North Shore City Council does not operate any water 
sources and there are no open water sources in the 
North Shore City area. There may be some private 
bores in the city that can be regarded as groundwater 
sources (administered by ARC resource consents), 
however we do not have information about these. 
The amount of water taken from North Shore City’s 
groundwater sources is negligible.

EN10 Percentage and total volume of water 
recycled and reused.

There are no water reuse or recycling procedures in 
place at present.

Biodiversity

EN11 
(CORE)

Location and size of land owned, leased, 
managed in, or adjacent to, protected 
areas and areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas.

An update of new Sites of Ecological Significance 
is currently being undertaken and for this reason 
specific data will not be available until this exercise 
has been completed.

EN12 
(CORE)

Description of significant impacts of 
activities, products and services on 
biodiversity in protected areas and 
areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas.

Some minor disturbance and loss of habitat has been 
noted during subdivision activities, however this has 
been mitigated by restoration plantings and legal 
protection of private bush areas.

EN13 Habitats protected or restored. North Shore City Council has adopted the New 
Zealand Biodiversity Strategy (2000) and has a 
statutory responsibility to protect and restore natural 
habitats as per the Resource Management Act 1991.  
Stream catchments on both council and private land 
are continually restored by community planting and 
weed control programmes. Legal protection by way 
of covenanting and esplanade reserves has occurred 
during subdivision. 

EN14 Strategies, current actions and future 
plans for managing impacts on 
biodiversity.

The North Shore City Council District Plan, section 8, 
provides some protection with regards to managing 
impacts on significant biodiversity. Long-term 
biodiversity monitoring sites are currently being 
identified to measure trends and change. 
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

EN15 Number of IUCN Red List species and 
national conservation list species with 
habitats in areas affected by operations, 
by level of extinction risk.

North Shore City Council is not aware of any of its 
operations having any significant impacts on IUCN 
Red List species or those covered under the NZ 
Threats Classification System Lists (2005). 

Emissions, Effluents and Waste

EN16 
(CORE)

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions by weight.

Direct:1,518MT CO2e  
Indirect: 5,582MT CO2e

EN17 
(CORE)

Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions by weight.

Data not available for this report.

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and reductions achieved.

See Corporate Sustainability Report. 

EN19 
(CORE)

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances 
by weight.

Data not available for this report.

EN20 NOx, SOx and other significant air 
emissions by type and weight.

Data not available for this report.

EN21 
(CORE)

Total water discharge by quality and 
destination.

18,450,586 m3  
Refer to table EN23.

EN22 
(CORE)

Total weight of waste by type and disposal 
method.

Data not available for this report.

EN23 
(CORE)

Total number and volume of significant 
spills.

The Rosedale Wastewater Treatment Plant had no 
breaches of this standard as determined by maximum 
exceedence standards displayed in the table below. 

Parameter Unit Required Discharge 
Concentration

Maximum number of allowable  
exceedences with Compliance 
Period (based on Technical Report 33)

  True Effluent 
Median

True 
Effluent 95 
percentile

 

Total BOD gO/m3 20 - Over 1 year, no more than 16 
exceedences above 20

Non-filtrable residue 
(NFR)

g/m3 35 75 For any 3 month period, no more 
than 23 exceedences above 35 and 
no more than 4 exceedences above 
75

Ammoniacal 
Nitrogen

gN/m3 10 - Over 1 year, no more than 8 
exceedences above 10

Total nitrogen gN/m3 30 - Over 1 year, no more than 8 
exceedences above 30

Dissolved reactive 
phosphorus

gP/m3 10 - Over 1 year, no more than 8 
exceedences above 10

Faecak coliform 
bacteria

cfu per 
100ml

1,000 10,000 For any 3 month period, no more 
than 23 exceedences above 1,000 
and no more than 4 exceedences 
above 10,000

Enterococci bacteria cfu per 
100ml

100 1,000 For any 3 month period, no more 
than 23 exceedences above 100 
and no more than 4 exceedences 
above 1,000
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Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

EN24 Weight of transported, imported, 
exported, or treated waste deemed 
hazardous under the terms of the Basel 
Convention Annex I, II, III, and VIII, and 
percentage of transported waste shipped 
internationally.

North Shore City Council participates in the 
HazMobile programme run by the Auckland Regional 
Council. The volume of packed waste collected by 
HazMobile in North Shore City was 34.26 tonnes. 
This figure represents the total hazardous waste 
collected from the entire community, requiring export 
for disposal. 

The 2007/08 figures were incorrectly reported. 
The actual figure for 2007/08 was 82.71 tonnes of 
hazardous waste collected by HazMobile in North 
Shore City (four collections).

This year, there has been a significant reduction in 
the volume of hazardous materials collected which is 
mainly due to the withdrawal of the collection of paint. 
Paint is now excluded from the HazMobile service 
as some paint suppliers are now part of a product 
stewardship scheme where retailers accept unused 
paint at their outlets.

EN25 Identity, size, protected status and 
biodiversity value of water bodies and 
related habitats significantly affected by 
the reporting organisation’s discharges of 
water and runoff.

Data not available for this report.

Products and Services

EN26 
(CORE)

Initiatives to mitigate environmental 
impacts of products and services, and 
extent of impact mitigation.

District Plan 
Tree Policy 
Stormwater Plan 
Urban Design Strategy 
Bylaws 
Wai Care programme 
Environmental programmes (Sustainable Environment 
team) 
TravelWise 
Walking school buses

EN27 
(CORE)

Percentage of products sold and their 
packaging materials that are reclaimed by 
category.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Compliance

EN28 Monetary value of significant fines and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations.

No significant fines for 2008/09.

Transport

EN29 Significant environmental impacts of 
transporting products and other goods 
and materials used for the organisation’s 
operations, and transporting members of 
the workforce.

Data not captured for this report.

Overall
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

EN30 Total environmental protection 
expenditures and investments by type.

Data not captured for this report.

Employment

LA1 (CORE) Total workforce by employment type, 
employment contract and region.

759 permanent full-time staff 
240 permanent part-time staff 
290 temporary and casual staff

LA2 (CORE) Total number and rate of employee 
turnover by age group, gender and region.

Specific data not available for this report. 

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees 
that are not provided to temporary or part-
time employees, by major operations.

North Shore City Council does not offer part-time 
employees a guaranteed 10 days of sick leave per 
annum. It is prorated as per their contracted hours.

Labour Management/Relations

LA4 (CORE) Percentage of employees covered by 
collective bargaining agreements.

15 per cent of employees have union coverage 
(193 union members out of 1,289 North Shore City 
Council employees).

LA5 (CORE) Minimum notice period(s) regarding 
operational changes, including whether it 
is specified in collective agreements.

North Shore City Council does not have a notice 
period, but unions are liaised and consulted with 
throughout any change process potentially affecting 
members.

Occupational Health and Safety

LA6 Percentage of total workforce represented 
in formal joint management-worker health 
and safety committees that help monitor 
and advise on occupational health and 
safety programmes.

North Shore City Council has a consultative 
occupational health and safety committee made up 
of health and safety representatives from all areas and 
management levels of the council. The committee 
has an average of 78 members at any given time, 
representing 11 per cent of the council’s full-time 
equivalent employees. 

LA7 (CORE) Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost 
days, and absenteeism and number of 
work-related fatalities by region.

Based on all reported accidents and injuries and an 
average of 1,289 employees from 1 July 2008 until 30 
June 2009.

Rate of injury: 5.83 per 1,000 employees 
Rate of occupational disease: 0 
Rate of lost days: 0.04 per 1,000 employees 
Rate of absenteeism: 39 per 1,000 employees (3.9 
per cent) 
Work-related fatalities: 0

LA8 (CORE) Education, training, counselling, 
prevention and risk-control programmes in 
place to assist workforce members, their 
families, or community members regarding 
serious diseases.

Any North Shore City Council employee or volunteer 
working in an area or site where they may be at risk of 
communicable disease (e.g. environmental protection, 
Rosedale Wastewater Treatment Plant, cemetery and 
crematorium) undergo blood screening tests and then 
the necessary immunisation programme. 
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

LA8 (CORE) 
(continued)

All North Shore City Council employees have the 
opportunity to receive an influenza inoculation paid for 
by the council. Any employee who may have either 
contracted or been exposed to a serious disease is 
entitled to counselling with a doctor or specialist to 
discuss and/or treat any problems. 

The North Shore City Council 2009 Wellness 
Programme delivers education, information, fitness 
initiatives, health checks, weight loss and quit 
smoking programmes.

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal 
agreements with trade unions.

North Shore City Council includes health and safety 
provisions in all formal agreements with trade unions, 
as per the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 
and amendments, and in some cases exceeds the 
requirements of the act. Topics covered include:  
workload management, personal protective 
equipment, workplace safety, accident/injury reporting 
and investigation, first aid training and first aid kits, 
biological hazards, management responsibilities, 
complaints process, harassment process and 
employee rights.

North Shore City Council is at the tertiary level of the 
Workplace Safety Management Programme.

Training and Education

LA10 
(CORE)

Average hours of training per year per 
employee by employee category.

Manager: 55 hours a year  
Professional/specialist staff: 40 hours a year  
Technical staff: 27 hours a year  
Administrative staff: 16 hours a year

LA11 Programmes for skills management 
and lifelong learning that support the 
continued employability of employees and 
assist them in managing career endings.

Whenever possible, North Shore City Council uses 
training providers who are either accredited to deliver 
NZQA qualifications and unit standards or nationally 
recognised tertiary institutes or universities. Among 
preferred suppliers are the University of Auckland, 
Massey University, the Auckland University of 
Technology and the Open Polytechnic of NZ. The 
following are some of the programmes that support 
lifelong learning undertaken by council staff and 
supported by North Shore City Council:

· The National Certificate in Business (First Line  
   Management - Level 4) 
· Catapult transformational leadership development  
   programme 
· Diploma in Building Surveying Level 6 
· Diploma in Business 
· Certified Practising Accountants programme 
· Diploma in Business Administration
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Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

LA11 
(continued)

· Diploma of Managerial Excellence (Engineering 
   and Construction) 
· Bachelor of Accountancy 
· Master of Strategic Studies 
· MCAS Microsoft Applications 
· 10,000 Steps get fit programme 
· Women’s and Men’s Health seminars 
· Wellness seminars 
· Bachelor of Applied Science (Psychology Major) 
· Challenge Me fitness programme 
· English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL)  
   programmes, including English language courses,  
   English language one-on-one coaching in oral  
   and written English skills, presentation skills for  
   ESOL 
· Graduate Diploma in Business Studies 
· Master in Transportation Engineering 
· International Computer Driving Licence (ICDL) 
· Local Government Rates Manager Diploma 
· Management and Leadership Coaching 
· National Certificate in Compliance and Regulatory  
   Control (Parking Enforcement - Level 3) 
· Postgraduate Diploma in Business and  
   Administration (Finance) 
· Toastmasters 
· Change management 
· Resilience 
· Certificate in Investigative Skills in Statutory  
   Compliance 
· JOLT - nine week self intelligence journey that  
   promotes positive change 
· WorkSmart - programme to increase employees’  
   efficiency, effectiveness and energy.

LA12 Percentage of employees receiving regular 
performance and career development 
reviews.

100 per cent of North Shore City Council employees 
receive regular performance and career development 
reviews.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

LA13 Composition of governance bodies and 
breakdown of employees by category 
according to gender, age group, minority 
group membership and other indicators of 
diversity.

Data not available in time for this report
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Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Investment and Procurement Practice

HR1 (CORE) Percentage and total number of significant 
investment agreements that include 
human rights clauses or that have 
undergone human rights screening.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

HR2 (CORE) Percentage of significant suppliers 
and contractors that have undergone 
screening on human rights and actions 
taken.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

HR3 Total hours of employee training on 
policies and procedures concerning 
aspects of human rights that are relevant 
to operations, including the percentage of 
employees trained.

440 total employee hours spent on this training, 
equivalent to an average of 0.60 hours per employee 
per year.

Non-discrimination

HR4 (CORE) Total number of incidents of discrimination 
and actions taken.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

HR5 (CORE) Operations identified in which the right 
to exercise freedom of association and 
collective bargaining may be at significant 
risk, and actions taken to support these 
rights.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Child Labour

HR6 (CORE) Operations identified as having significant 
risk for incidents of child labour, and 
measures taken to contribute to the 
elimination of child labour.

North Shore City Council abides by the youth 
minimum rate as defined by the Employment 
Relations Act.

Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by 
employee category.

Average Male Salary: $63,404.71 This figure includes 
casual, part-time and contracted employees (FTE 
$68,041.29). 
Average Female Salary: $39,111.88 This figure 
includes casual, part-time and contracted employees 
(FTE $50,834.10). 
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Status Indicator 
Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Forced and Compulsory Labour

HR7 (CORE) Operations identified as having significant 
risk for incidents of forced or compulsory 
labour, and measures to contribute to the 
elimination of forced or compulsory labour.

North Shore City Council does not engage in forced 
or compulsory labour.

Security Practice

HR8 Percentage of security personnel trained 
in the organisation’s policies or procedures 
concerning aspects of human rights that 
are relevant to operations.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Indigenous Rights

HR9 Total number of incidents of violations 
involving rights of indigenous people and 
actions taken.

North Shore City Council had no incidents in 
2008/09.

Community

SO1 (CORE) Nature, scope and effectiveness of any 
programmes and practices that assess 
and manage the impacts of operations on 
communities, including entering, operating 
and exiting.

North Shore City Council surveys businesses and 
residents annually. See Part 2 – Activity Statements.

Social Indicators for Public Agencies (supplement)

PA15 (NEW) Describe the results of assessments 
of the efficiency and effectiveness of 
services provided by the public agency, 
including the actions taken to achieve 
improvements in service delivery. 

See Part 2 – Activity Statements.

Corruption

SO2 (CORE) Percentage and total number of business 
units analysed for risks related to 
corruption.

100 per cent of business units undergo risk 
assessment. See Part 2 - Activity Statements for 
more on risk management.

SO3 (CORE) Percentage of employees trained in 
organisation’s anti-corruption policies and 
procedures.

Fraud policy is made available to all staff, but no 
formal training is provided.

SO4 (CORE) Actions taken in response to incidents of 
corruption.

No incidents of corruption for 2008/09.

Public Policy

SO5 (CORE) Public policy positions and participation in 
public policy development and lobbying.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

SO6 Total value of financial and in-kind 
contributions to political parties, politicians 
and related institutions by country.

No contributions paid.

Anti-Competitive Behaviour

SO7 Total number of legal actions for anti-
competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and 
monopoly practices and their outcomes.

No legal actions for 2008/09.
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Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Compliance

SO8 (CORE) Monetary value of significant fines and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.

No significant fines for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations in 2008/09.

Customer Health and Safety

PR1 (CORE) Life cycle stages in which health and 
safety impacts of products and services 
are assessed for improvement, and 
percentage of significant products and 
services categories subject to such 
procedures.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

PR2 Total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and voluntary 
codes concerning health and safety 
impacts of products and services during 
their life cycle, by type of outcomes.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

Product and Service Labelling

PR3 (CORE) Type of product and service information 
required by procedures, and percentage 
of significant products and services 
subject to such information requirements.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

PR4 Total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and voluntary 
codes concerning product and service 
information and labelling, by type of 
outcomes.

Determined as not materially relevant to North Shore 
City Council operations.

PR5 Practices related to customer satisfaction, 
including results of surveys measuring 
customer satisfaction.

See Part 2 – Activity Statements.

Marketing Communications

PR6 (CORE) Programmes for adherence to laws, 
standards, and voluntary codes related 
to marketing communications, including 
advertising, promotion, and sponsorship.

The Auditor General’s Report on Good Practice 
for Managing Public Communications by Local 
Authorities (April 2004) provides guidelines for our 
activities.

PR7 Total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning marketing 
communications, including advertising, 
promotion and sponsorship by type of 
outcomes.

No incidents or advice of any non-compliance or 
breach of voluntary codes by communications staff. 
However, objective judgement can be difficult to 
discern from a politicised audience.

Customer Privacy

PR8 Total number of substantiated complaints 
regarding breaches of customer privacy 
and losses of customer data.

No substantiated complaints regarding breaches of 
customer privacy in 2008/09.
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Reference Indicator Requirement Comments 2008/2009

Compliance

PR9 (CORE) Monetary value of significant fines for 
non-compliance with laws and regulations 
concerning the provision and use of 
products and services.

No significant fines for 2008/09.

Public Policies and Implementation Measures (Public Agency Supplement)

PA2 (NEW) State the definition of sustainable 
development used by the public 
agency, and identify any statements or 
principles adopted to guide sustainable 
development practices.

North Shore City Council believes that we have a 
clear responsibility to act, operate and develop in the 
most sustainable way possible. It is our commitment 
to lead by example by recognising the critical 
importance of our impacts on social, economic, 
cultural and environmental concerns. It is our aim to 
continually strive to reduce the negative and maximise 
the positive impacts of our operations.

PA3 (NEW) Identify the aspects for which the 
organisation has established sustainable 
development policies. 

Corporate Sustainability programme design, 
development and implementation; WasteWise 
Workplace Programme; staff TravelWise Programme; 
energy management and efficiency; green building 
advice (council buildings); procurement (both 
standard transactions, efficiency, cost minimisation, 
sustainability assessments and strategic 
partnerships); fleet management; carbon accounting; 
sustainability reporting (annual report); workflow 
efficiency; materials minimisation; sustainability 
education and training; green materials selection; 
internal project support for sustainability (working 
with infrastructure groups to minimise the impact 
of large projects); changes to the District Plan to 
further control development to reflect sustainable 
urban management principles; strategic land use 
and transport integration studies and strategies for 
centres and corridors in the city to accommodate 
more intensive development. 

The City Blueprint 2001, North Shore City’s spatial 
development and growth strategy, has been reviewed 
and included as the ‘City Direction’ module of the 
City Plan 2009-2024. This module aligns with the 
Auckland Sustainability Framework and the recent 
review of the Regional Growth Strategy to identify 
the principles, spatial directions, locations and timing 
of development in the city of a 30 to 50 year period, 
reinforcing the compact city concept of sustainable 
urban development in place in the region.

PA4 (NEW) Identify the specific goals of the 
organisation for each of the aspects listed 
in PA3.

Data not available for this report.

PA5 (NEW) Describe the process by which the 
aspects and goals in both PA3 and PA4 
were set.

Corporate Sustainability has been a corporate 
objective set by the elected members since 2006. 
Each year the Contract Management Committee 
review the objective and set new goals for the 
organisation to achieve.
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PA6 (NEW) For each goal, provide the following 
information: 
- implementation measures; 
- results of relevant assessments; 
- targets and key indicators used to 
monitor progress; 
- description of progress with respect to 
goals and targets; 
- actions to ensure continuous 
improvement; and 
- post-implementation assessment and 
targets.

Data not available for this report.

PA7 (NEW) Describe the role of and engagement with 
stakeholders with respect to the items 
disclosed in PA6.

Data not available for this report.
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the use of CoC certifi ed paper sourced 
from a responsibly managed forest for 
all our printing. 

Find out more: 
visit www.northshorecity.govt.nz 
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